
AB
PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL

SUMMONS TO A MEETING

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Peterborough City Council, which will be held in the 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Peterborough on 

WEDNESDAY 13 JULY 2016 at 7.00 pm

AGENDA
Page No.

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

3. Minutes of the Meetings held on:

(a) 23 May 2016 - Annual Council Mayor Making 3 - 4

(b) 23 May 2016 - Annual Council 5 - 12

(c) 27 June 2016 - Extraordinary Meeting 13 - 18

COMMUNICATIONS

4. Mayor's Announcements 19 - 22

5. Leader's Announcements

6. Chief Executive's Announcements

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS

7. Questions from Members of the Public

8. Petitions

i) Presented by members of the public
ii) Presented by Members

9. Questions on Notice

i) To the Mayor
ii) To the Leader or member of the Cabinet
iii) To the Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee

Public Document Pack



Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for people with 
disabilities, please contact Gemma George in the City Council's Governance team on Peterborough (01733) 
452268 or by email at democratic.services@peterborough.gov.uk

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Gemma George on 01733 452268.

RECOMMENDATIONS AND REPORTS

10. Executive and Committee Recommendations to Council

(a) Future Delivery of Property Services - Constitution Amendment 23 - 30

11. Questions on the Executive Decisions made since the last meeting 31 - 40

COUNCIL BUSINESS

12. Motions on Notice 41 - 44

13. Reports to Council

(a) Report of the Committee Review Group 45 - 64

(b) Constitution - Member Code of Conduct 65 - 96

(c) Constitution - Major Policy Framework 97 - 104

(d) Annual Report of the Audit Committee 105 - 118

(e) Appointment of the Chairman to the Strong and Supportive 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

119 - 120

(f) Increase in the Invest to Save Budget 121 - 160

Chief Executive

5 July 2016
Town Hall
Bridge Street
Peterborough

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take 
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the 
public. A protocol on this facility is available at:
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%
20Recording.pdf

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
        MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL COUNCIL MAYOR MAKING MEETING 

          HELD WEDNESDAY 23 MAY 2016
COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH

Present:

Councillors Aitken, Allen, Ali, Ash, Ayres, Barkham, Bisby, Bond, Brown, Bull, Casey, 
Cereste, Clark, Coles, Davidson, Dowson, Ellis, Elsey, Ferris, Fitzgerald, Fower, JR Fox, 
JA Fox, Fuller, Goodwin, Harper, Hiller, Holdich, Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Azher Iqbal, 
Jamil, Johnson, Khan, King, Lamb, Lane, Lillis, Martin, Murphy, Nadeem, Okonkowski, 
Over, Peach, Rush, Saltmarsh, Sanders, Sandford, Seaton, Serluca, Shaheed, Sharp, 
Shearman, Sims, Smith, Stokes, Sylvester, Walsh and Whitby. 

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Nawaz.

2. Election for the Mayor for 2016 / 2017

The Retiring Mayor, Councillor John Peach, requested nominations for the election of 
Mayor for 2016 / 2017.

Councillor Sanders was nominated by Councillor Holdich, and this was seconded by 
Councillor Fitzgerald. 

There being no other nominations, Councillor Sanders was duly elected Mayor for the 
Municipal Year 2016 / 2017.

The Mayor made and signed his Declaration of Office and the retiring Mayor, Councillor 
Peach invested the Mayor with his Chain of Office.

3. Election for the Deputy Mayor for 2016 / 2017

The Mayor invited nominations for the election of Deputy Mayor for 2016 / 2017.

Councillor Sharp was nominated by Councillor Saltmarsh and this was seconded by 
Councillor Ash.

There being no other nominations, Councillor Sharp was duly elected Deputy Mayor for 
the Municipal Year 2016 / 2017.

The Deputy Mayor made and signed his Declaration of Office.  The Mayor invested the 
Deputy Mayor with his Chain of Office and the Mayor invested the Deputy Mayoress, 
Ms Christine Wilson, with her Chain of Office.

4. Investiture of Badges of Office and Vote of Thanks to the Retiring Mayor

Councillor Holdich proposed a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor, Councillor Peach and 
commended his dedication to the role and his engagement with the people of 
Peterborough throughout the year. Councillor Holdich paid further tribute to the retiring 

3



deputy Mayoress, Mrs Jackie Martin. This vote of thanks was seconded and endorsed 
by Councillor Fitzgerald. 

Group Leaders endorsed the vote of thanks, commenting on the fair way that Councillor 
Peach had chaired the Full Council meetings during the year. Following Group Leaders 
comments, all Members agreed to support the vote of thanks.

Councillor Peach responded to the vote of thanks stating that he had had a wonderful 
year and felt privileged to have held the office of Mayor. He thanked a number of 
individuals for their support throughout the year, along with the Charity Committee for 
which, at that point, between £32,000 and £35,000 had been raised. Councillor Peach 
stated that he had enjoyed attending the many functions and getting out and about to 
meet the people of Peterborough and taking part in local events. 

The Mayor invited Councillor Peach to receive his Past Mayors Badge in recognition of 
his service to the city during his term of office. Upon receiving his Past Mayors Badge, 
Councillor Peach presented the retiring Mayoress, Mrs Jackie Martin, with her Past 
Mayoress’s Badge, the retiring Deputy Mayor, Councillor Khan, with his Badge, the 
retiring Deputy Mayoress, Mrs Naseem Khan, with a gift and the retiring Mayor’s 
Chaplain, Reverend Gregg Roberts with a gift. 

A special award was presented by Councillor Peach to Mrs Helen Sargent for her 
support and dedication to the Mayor’s Charity.

The Mayor declared he would endeavour to use the office of Mayor for the benefit of the 
City and to be pro-active in promoting Peterborough to be the best city in which to work, 
rest and play, to support local business and growth within the city and also to promote 
development of new housing at a price the city could afford. 

The Mayor announced his chosen charities for the year ahead as The Royal Air Force 
Association, Motor Neurone Disease (MND) and the Salvation Army Good Neighbours 
Scheme. 

Following the conclusion of the ceremonial part of the proceedings, the meeting was 
adjourned for refreshments.

6.30pm – 7.00pm
Mayor

4



AB
MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING 

HELD WEDNESDAY 23 MAY 2016
COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH

THE MAYOR – COUNCILLOR DAVID SANDERS

Present:

Councillors Aitken, Allen, Ali, Ash, Ayres, Barkham, Bisby, Bond, Brown, Bull, Casey, 
Cereste, Clark, Coles, Davidson, Dowson, Ellis, Elsey, Ferris, Fitzgerald, Fower, JR Fox, 
JA Fox, Fuller, Goodwin, Harper, Hiller, Holdich, Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Azher Iqbal, 
Jamil, Johnson, Khan, King, Lamb, Lane, Lillis, Martin, Murphy, Nadeem, Nawaz, 
Okonkowski, Over, Peach, Rush, Saltmarsh, Sanders, Sandford, Seaton, Serluca, 
Shaheed, Sharp, Shearman, Sims, Smith, Stokes, Sylvester, Walsh and Whitby. 

1. Apologies for Absence

There were no apologies for absence.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.  

3. Minutes of the Meetings held on:

(a) 9 March 2016 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2016 were approved as a true and accurate 
record. 

(b) 13 April 2016 (Extraordinary Meeting)  

The minutes of the Extraordinary Meeting held on 13 April 2016 were approved as a true 
and accurate record. 

4. Mayor’s Announcements

Members noted the report outlining the Mayor’s engagements for the period 
commencing 10 March 2016 to 23 May 2016.

There were no further announcements from the Mayor.

5. Chief Executive’s Announcements 

There were no announcements from the Chief Executive. 

6. Report of the Returning Officer

Members received and noted a report which detailed the results of the Local Elections 
held on Thursday 5 May 2016. 

5



7. Political Groups and Group Officers 2016 / 2017

The membership of Political Groups and their Officers for the Municipal Year 2016 / 2017 
were noted and agreed subject to the following amendments:

 Addition of Councillor Richard Ferris as the Labour Group Secretary; 
 Addition of Councillor Jo Johnson as the Labour Whip; and
 Removal of the position of Whip from UKIP.

8. Appointment of the Executive and Leader’s Scheme of Delegations

Councillor Holdich addressed the meeting and moved the recommendations as detailed 
within the report and presented his Scheme of Delegations advising that he would be 
retaining responsibility for ‘Education, Skills, University and Communications’. 
Councillor Holdich further named his Cabinet Members and advisors, their 
responsibilities and key areas to be addressed in the city during the year ahead, these 
included:

i. Councillor Gavin Elsey, Cabinet Member for Waste and Street Scene;
ii. Councillor Wayne Fitzgerald, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Integrated 

Adult Social Care and Health;
iii. Councillor Janet Goodwin, Cabinet Member for City Centre Management, 

Culture & Tourism;
iv. Councillor Peter Hiller, Cabinet Member for Growth, Planning, Housing and 

Economic Development;
v. Councillor Diane Lamb, Cabinet Member for Public Health;
vi. Councillor David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources;
vii. Councillor Sam Smith, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services;
viii. Councillor Irene Walsh, Cabinet Member for Communities and Environment 

Capital;
ix. Councillor Graham Casey, Cabinet Advisor to the Cabinet Member for City 

Centre Management, Culture & Tourism (Culture & Recreation); and
x. Councillor June Stokes, Cabinet Advisor for Children’s Safeguarding and 

Education.

Councillor Fitzgerald seconded the recommendations and reserved his right to speak. 

The Mayor invited Group Leaders and Members to comment on Councillor Holdich’s 
proposals. In summary, key points raised included:

 Support in relation to education being a priority for the city;
 Acknowledgement that academy status would not automatically make a school 

successful; 
 The welcome news that school term times were to be examined; 
 The importance of ensuring that there was sufficient affordable and social 

housing in the city;
 The importance of obtaining university status for Peterborough City College;
 Ensuring the quality of jobs coming into the area was maintained and ensuring 

that the right types of incentives were offered to businesses coming into the city;
 Support in relation to the focus on fly tipping across the city. More prosecutions 

needed to be brought forward and exploration needed to be undertaken into the 
reinstatement of community skips;

 The welcome news that the cross party budget working group would be retained; 

6



 Disappointment that there had been no remarks about the city’s aspirations to 
become environment capital and the various issues behind that, such as falling 
rates of recycling; 

 The response to the refugee crisis in Syria not being acceptable, with the 
proposals to only take 20 people a year over a five year period; 

 The Council needed to be opened up to greater public scrutiny and to release 
more information into the public domain; 

 Issues faced in relation to finding affordable rental properties and how the right 
to buy had made this situation worse;

 The need for strong and constructive opposition going forward, and the need to 
work together in order to achieve much more balanced outcomes;

 The need for the Council to work closely with the Police Crime Commissioner in 
order to deal with low level crime, such as fly tipping, speeding and verge 
parking;  

 The number of Cabinet Members and Advisors, which was still to the maximum 
for the authority size and the costs that these positions incurred;

 The need for a bulky waste system and implementation of practical measures by 
contractors, for example to enable removal of all rubbish during a clean-up visit, 
rather than only removing the bulky waste;

 The need to tackle the issue of rogue landlords in the city; and
 The issue of verge parking across the city. 

Councillor Fitzgerald exercised his right to speak as seconder of the recommendations 
and responded to the comments raised relating to Cabinet Members allowance 
payments. He further stated that the Council was financially well managed and that 
waste issues did need addressing, particularly the issues of street cleansing and bulky 
waste. 

Councillor Holdich summed up and responded to a number of points raised, including 
the issue of schools becoming academies and the situation regarding the city taking 
Syrian refugees going forward. 

Following debate it was AGREED:

a) To note that the appointment of the current leader of the Council expires in 2018;

b) To note the appointment of the Cabinet and the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation to 
Cabinet Members and Officers; and 

c) To amend the Constitution to include the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation to Cabinet 
Members and Officers.

9. Committee Structures, Delegations and Allocations

Councillor Holdich addressed the meeting and moved alternative recommendations as 
detailed within a supplementary information pack which had been presented to Council. 
He advised that the current Scrutiny Committee arrangements would be retained with 
five Scrutiny Committees. At the current time it was not proposed to move to the new 
hybrid model of governance which had been agreed in January 2016. There had been 
a number of concerns raised in relation to the proposed decrease in the number of 
Scrutiny Committees and it was believed that three Committees would not be adequate 
to carry out the Council’s Scrutiny function.

Councillor Holdich further advised that, so as not to lose the work of the Alternative 
Governance Working Group in its entirety, it was proposed to set up a proportionate 

7



cross party working group to review the Committee structure and to consider what parts 
of the hybrid model should be retained. Members were advised that the terms of 
reference for this proposed Group were included within the supplementary pack for 
information. 

Councillor Fitzgerald seconded the recommendations and reserved his right to speak. 

Councillor Sandford moved an amendment to the recommendations requesting that the 
Council move to a Committee System, which it was believed was the most democratic 
and inclusive option of governance, involving all Councillors in the decision making 
process and removing any element of secrecy. 

The amendment was seconded by Councillor Fower who stated that the amendment 
was a common sense proposal. All Councillors represented the people of Peterborough 
and a committee system would advocate greater democracy. 

Members were invited to comment on the amendment and during debate, the following 
key points were raised:

 The Committee System was not a popular method of democracy between other 
Members and it had been discussed on a number of occasions;

 The Alternative Governance Cross Party Working Group had discussed the topic 
of a Committee System on a number of occasions, however this had not been 
considered the most appropriate system for Peterborough;

 The amendments proposed by the Leader were democratic, accountable and 
workable, a Committee system would be very onerous and would be damaging 
to the expedient decision making of the Council;

 The Alternative Governance Working Group Members had highlighted concerns 
about a three Scrutiny system and the proposals to put the hybrid model on hold 
in order to conduct further review were welcomed;

 A hybrid system was still welcomed, with further review, for implementation in 
2017;

 There was concern expressed that the Alternative Governance arrangements 
approved at Council in January 2016 were now not being taken forward. The role 
of Council in the decision making process was questioned;

 A Committee System would allow for more people to be involved in the decision 
making process and would enable the people of Peterborough to see how 
decisions were made;

 There was disillusionment at Members taking part in any working group, only to 
have their decisions quashed;  

 Preference had been expressed for a hybrid system, particularly following a 
number of visits to other local authorities and discussions around the work 
required to implement a committee system; and

 There was a need for the public to be involved to a greater degree and the 
requirement for a more accountable system of governance. 

Councillor Holdich exercised his right of reply as mover of the original recommendations 
and stated that the Cabinet Meeting was open to the public and Cabinet Member 
decisions could also be inspected by the public. There were parts of the hybrid model 
that were acceptable, however the three Scrutiny Committee element was not and 
therefore further exploration needed to be undertaken. 

A vote was taken (24 For, 35 Against) and the amendment was DEFEATED.

8



Members debated the original recommendations and comments were raised urging 
Members to vote against the proposals, which appeared confusing and made no sense. 

A vote was taken on the alternative recommendations as proposed by Councillor Holdich 
(35 For, 23 Against, 2 Abstentions) and it was AGREED:

a) To retain the following five Scrutiny Committees:

(i)   Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities
(ii)  Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues
(iii) Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
(vi) Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee
(v)  Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee

b) To appoint to the Committees as listed in the Constitution prior to the amendments 
made by Council on 27 January 2016 for the Municipal Year 2016 /17.

c) That in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Localism Act 2011, to retain the Leader 
Cabinet model of constitutional arrangements without a hybrid element to take 
immediate effect.

d)  That in accordance with paragraph 9KC Schedule 2 of the Localism Act 2011 the  
Council’s resolution be published in one or more newspapers circulating in the area.

e)  That the Council set up a proportionally balanced cross-party working group to 
conduct a review of the Council’s scrutiny committee arrangements and report the 
results to a future meeting. 

f)   That the amendments made by Council to the following section of the Constitution 
on 27 January 2016 be suspended, and should be subject to the review in 
recommendation (e) above:

(i) Overview and Scrutiny Article 7 (Part 2: Section 7)
(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Functions (Part 3: Section 4) 
(iii) Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rules (Part 4: Section 8)

g)   That the Council accepts the terms of reference of Committees as set out in the 2015/16 
Constitution, prior to the amendments made by Council on 27 January 2016.

10. Political Balance, Allocation of Committee Seats and Committee Appointments

Councillor Holdich addressed the meeting and moved alternative recommendations as 
detailed within a supplementary information pack which had been presented to Council. 
He advised that it was proposed to increase the larger Committees to 11 seats, which it 
was felt, would better reflect the political balance of the Council. It was further moved 
that the Audit Committee and the Planning Review Committee not be exempted from 
the political balance rules. 

Councillor Fitzgerald seconded the recommendations and reserved his right to speak. 

A vote was taken (unanimous) and it was AGREED:

a) That the Council increase the number of seats on Committees of 10 to 11 seats;

b) That the Council does not exempt the Audit Committee and the Planning Review 
Committee from the political balance seat arrangements;

9



c) That the allocation of seats on Committees of the Council, subject to political balance 
seat arrangements be agreed as follows: 

Committee Seats
Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities
Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues
Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee
Employment Committee 
Audit Committee
Licensing Committee (Regulatory)
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee
Planning Review Committee
Appeals Committee (Service Issues)

7
  7
  7
  7

  11
  7

7
11
11
11
11 

TOTAL 97

d) The allocation of seats on Committees to be appointed to by the Council, not 
subject to political balance seat arrangements be agreed.

11. Appointments of Committee and Other Bodies

Councillor Holdich addressed the meeting and moved the recommendations as detailed 
within the report along with the Committee Membership list, which highlighted the 
proposed Chairs and Vice Chairs, and was contained within the supplementary 
document pack as presented to Council. 

Councillor Fitzgerald seconded the recommendations and reserved his right to speak.

Councillor Fower moved an amendment to the recommendations which requested that 
all Scrutiny Committee Chairman should be appointed from amongst the minority group 
members. This had been the case in the previous year and it was felt that this would 
make for a fairer scrutiny system and would ensure that Scrutiny was not used as a 
political tool. 

Councillor Davidson seconded the amendment and reserved her right to speak. 

Members were invited to comment on the amendment and during debate, the following 
key points were raised:

 Opposition members chairing scrutiny committees sent a positive message to 
the people of Peterborough; and

 It should be the best person sitting on the committee who was appointed as Chair 
regardless of being an opposition member or not.

Councillor Davidson exercised her right to speak as seconder of the amendment and 
stated that an audit of the Council had been undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ten years ago which had recommended that some of the Committees should be chaired 
by opposition members, this would give greater opportunity for Members to ask 
questions and challenge the controlling party group. The previous year had seen 
opposition Chairmen and this had proven to be a great success. 

10



Councillor Holdich exercised his right of reply as mover of the original recommendations 
and stated that giving the chairmanships to opposition members the previous year had 
not been completely successful for a number of reasons.

A vote was taken (26 For, 31 Against, 2 Abstentions) and the amendment was 
DEFEATED.

A vote was taken on the recommendations as proposed by Councillor Holdich (31 For, 
25 Against, 3 Abstentions) and it was AGREED:

a) That where the allocation of the seats on committees and other bodies has been 
determined under Agenda Item 10, the Council agrees the appointments to those 
Committees;

b) That the Chair and Vice-Chair of each of the Council’s Committees is appointed; 

c) That the non-elected membership of committees, as described at paragraphs 4.1 to 
4.6 of the report is confirmed; 

d) That the Council confirm the non-executive appointments to outside organisations; 
and

e) That in respect of any other appointments to be made, Council authorises the 
Monitoring Officer as Proper Officer to carry out the wishes of the Leaders of the 
Political Groups in allocating members to committees or outside bodies, and 
appoints those Members with effect from the date at which the Proper Officer is 
advised of the names of such Members.

12. Calendar of Meetings 2016 / 2017

The Mayor advised that, in light of earlier decisions taken, Council was requested to 
approve the revised calendar of meetings for 2016/17 as outlined within the 
supplementary document pack.

A vote was taken (unanimous) and it was RESOLVED that Council note the programme 
of meetings for 2016/17.

13. Members’ Allowances Scheme

Councillor Seaton addressed the meeting and moved the recommendations as detailed 
within the report, which requested that the Members’ Allowances Scheme be approved 
subject to the Independent Members’ Allowances Panel meeting to consider the scheme 
and a report being presented to Council later in the year. This was seconded by 
Councillor Holdich.

Members commented that a system of allowances should be devised to reflect the turn 
out rate at election for Members. 

A vote was taken (unanimous) and it was RESOLVED that Council note the programme 
of meetings for 2016/17.

The Mayor
7.45pm – 9.35pm

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



AB
MINUTES OF THE EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 

HELD MONDAY 27 JUNE 2016
COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH

THE MAYOR – COUNCILLOR DAVID SANDERS

Present:

Councillors Aitken, Allen, Ali, Ash, Ayres, Barkham, Bisby, Bond, Brown, Bull, Casey, 
Cereste, Clark, Coles, Davidson, Dowson, Ellis, Elsey, Ferris, Fitzgerald, Fower, JR Fox, 
JA Fox, Fuller, Goodwin, Harper, Hiller, Holdich, Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Azher Iqbal, 
Jamil, Johnson, Khan, King, Lamb, Lane, Murphy, Nadeem, Nawaz, Okonkowski, Over, 
Peach, Rush, Saltmarsh, Sanders, Seaton, Serluca, Shaheed, Sharp, Shearman, Sims, 
Smith, Stokes, Walsh and Whitby. 

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lillis, Martin, Sandford and 
Sylvester.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

3. Executive and Committee Recommendations to Council

The Chief Executive left the Chamber for the following item.

(a) Employment Committee Recommendation – Shared Chief Executive 
Arrangements Between Peterborough City Council and Cambridgeshire County 
Council

Employment Committee, at its meeting of 24 June 2016, received a report which 
requested it to note the review undertaken in conjunction with Cambridgeshire County 
Council as to the position of the shared Chief Executive, to agree that the shared Chief 
Executive arrangements be made permanent and to agree to a contractual variation for 
the Chief Executive. This had been agreed by the Committee and recommended to 
Council.

Councillor Nadeem introduced the report as Chairman of the Employment Committee 
and moved the recommendations contained within, highlighting that the temporary 
arrangement in place had been reviewed and considered successful and therefore the 
permanent arrangement was sought.  

Councillor Holdich seconded the recommendations and responded to queries raised by 
Members regarding whether pension payments to the Chief Executive would be split 
50/50 with Cambridgeshire County Council upon her retirement. Councillor Holdich 
confirmed this to be the case. 

13



A vote was taken (unanimous) and it was AGREED:

a)  That the shared Chief Executive arrangements be made permanent; and

b)   To a contractual variation for the Chief Executive.

The Chief Executive re-joined the meeting.

4. The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Devolution Proposal, Governance Review 
and Scheme

Council received a report which contained a number of recommendations relating to the 
Peterborough Devolution Proposal, Governance Review and Scheme. A copy of the 
Community Impact Assessment, along with associated guidance had also been 
circulated to Members prior to the meeting within a supplementary information pack. 

Councillor Seaton introduced the report and moved the recommendations contained 
within. He outlined the development of the proposals following Council’s vote against 
the original deal, which had been presented and debated in April 2016. The benefits of 
the revised deal were outlined and the opportunities that would be afforded by 
devolution. The proposals would involve the setting up of a combined authority, having 
an elected Mayor and it would mean more decisions for Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough being taken at a local level. 

Councillor Holdich seconded the recommendations and reserved his right to speak. 

Members debated the recommendations and in summary points raised in support of the 
proposals included:

 It was appropriate that devolution should be for smaller areas and not just for 
larger areas, such as Manchester and Leeds;

 The proposals would bring many benefits for the residents of the city and along 
with businesses too;

 The proposals would bring investment and would mean a greater control of 
decisions made by the Council and greater control over the services provided to 
residents;

 This was a cross party opportunity to do right for the city and its residents; 
 Peterborough with Cambridgeshire was a significant contributor to the national 

economy;
 Devolution would give access to funds that would not have previously been 

available;
 There had been almost 1400 new homes built in the city in 2014/15 and this 

momentum needed to pushed forward. Delivery on major sites was required; 
 The transport capacity of roads needed to be improved, this would be imperative 

for larger business  growth in Peterborough and improved accessibility;
 Improved transport links would bring increased levels of tourism to the city;
 Devolution would offer the chance to increase income and spend on the needs 

of the Peterborough citizens;
 It was important that the proposals went out to consultation, this would allow the 

public to have their say;
 The consultation would be robust and the outcome would be revisited in October; 
 There were reservations about Devolution, however this was the first stage of the 

journey;

14



 There would be a number of different forms of consultation happening and if 
Members did have any concerns, these could be fed into the Devolution Working 
Group for discussion; and

 A Constitution would be developed and this would identify the powers of the 
Elected Mayor and the voting rights for each authority.

Points of concern raised against the proposals included:

 Many Members did support the principle of Devolution, but with some 
reservations;

 The devolution of Peterborough City Council to Unitary status had been a 
success, however here had been some issues along the way and therefore 
caution should be taken;

 There were concerns expressed that the decision was being rushed through 
ahead of proper consultation;

 There had been no definite commitment to a university in the city;
 The elected Mayor would have a veto on any votes and Peterborough would only 

have one out of the nine votes, whilst Cambridgeshire would have two;
 The directly elected Mayor concept simply added another layer of bureaucracy 

and additional costs;
 There was concern that the turn out for the mayor elections were likely to be low 

and that the concept would be difficult to sell to the public;
 There were concerns expressed that the consultation was being rushed through 

and confirmation was sought as to whether it was going to solely be online. If it 
was this would exclude a large proportion of residents;

 Consultation roadshows would be beneficial in order to get out into the heart of 
the public. People needed to have the ability to ask questions;

 The proposals would have such a major impact in terms of the future of the city, 
consultation needed to be undertaken as widely as possible within the limited 
time available; 

 It would have been beneficial for the consultation document to have been 
presented to Council for review prior to its publication;

 Reassurance needed to be given that genuine investment would be provided in 
a number of areas across the city; 

 An email had been circulated from the Director of Governance which stated that 
“Councillors would have the opportunity to vote against the proposals in October, 
there would be opportunity to provide amendments to the final recommendations 
and the purpose of the consultation would be to invite comments and views on 
the proposals and it was anticipated that these proposals would be shaped over 
the summer as the responses to the consultation came in”;

 There were concerns at the lack of EU funding which would now come into the 
area. Ring fenced money would be needed for projects in the city previously in 
receipt of EU money;

 The administration should not be situated in Cambridgeshire, it should be located 
somewhere more central;

 It was hoped that the administration would take on board any issues raised 
during consultation;

 Devolution would be an extra tier of Government that was not needed and it was 
unlikely that the Elected Mayor would work for the interests of Peterborough;

 Was an elected Mayor really a necessity, or could there be a combined authority 
where there was not as much power in one person’s hands. 

 The work which had gone into the revised offer was appreciated, however it was 
felt that it hadn’t gone far enough; 

15



 Many of the transport links outlined within the proposals seemed to be southern 
based, how would any of them improve Peterborough?

 The elected Mayor role would give too much power to one individual and would 
mean that focus on the diverse needs of the people of Peterborough would be 
lost;

 There were a number of areas in Peterborough which had been left neglected 
e.g. Millfield. What priority would be given to address the needs of people in this 
area?

 There were concerns that any significant change in the proposals following public 
consultation would require a new Scheme to be prepared. Would this mean that 
any public consultation responses would be ignored?; and

 The document outlined a wish list of issues, but there was no commitment for 
funds. This needed to be confirmed by October.

Councillor Holdich exercised his right to speak and stated that a better deal had been 
negotiated than the one presented in April 2016. He addressed a number of issues 
raised and specifically spoke about the skills offer and proposals for local businesses in 
the city, along with the confirmed proposals towards Peterborough having its own 
university. 

Councillor Seaton summed up as mover of the recommendations and in so doing, 
acknowledged a number of concerns raised by Members during debate. He stated that 
voting against the proposal to go out to consultation would take away the right of the 
residents of Peterborough to have their say. Concerns around the nature of the 
consultation were understood and Members were encouraged to feed any concerns into 
the Devolution Working Group. There were a number of things at stake and residents 
needed to be given the opportunity to take part in order to obtain their views.  

A vote was taken (48 for, 7 against, 1 abstention) and it was AGREED:

1. To consider the outcome of the Governance Review and the draft Scheme;

2. To endorse the conclusion of the Review that the making of an Order to create the 
CPCA would be likely to improve the exercise of statutory functions in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough; 

3. To approve the devolution proposal that would offer significant financial and other 
benefits to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area;

4. To endorse the draft Scheme for publication under section 109 of the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, and to recommend 
that Cabinet authorises the scheme for publication;

5. To authorise the Chief Executive to make any appropriate revisions to the draft 
Scheme before publication as she may consider appropriate in consultation with the 
Leader and in liaison with the other Chief Executives of constituent authorities and 
to take all necessary actions to progress any non-executive functions arising from 
the recommendations;

6. To endorse the arrangements for public consultation on the proposals in the Scheme 
and to note that the Chief Executive will provide the Secretary of State with a 
summary of the consultation responses; and

16



7. That the Council meet in October to consider the results of the consultation and 
consider giving consent to an Order establishing a Mayoral combined authority for 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.

The Mayor
 7.00pm – 8.10pm

17



This page is intentionally left blank

18



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 4

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS

1.    PURPOSE OF REPORT  

1.1 This report is a brief summary of the Mayor’s activities on the Council’s behalf during the last 
meetings cycle, together with relevant matters for information.
(Events marked with * denotes events attended by the Deputy Mayor on the Mayor’s behalf). 

2. ACTIVITIES AND INFORMATION – From 23 May 2016 to 10 July 2016

Attending Event Venue
Mayor, Mayoress and 
Deputy Mayor

Mayor Making Rehearsal Council Chamber

Mayor, Mayoress, Deputy 
Mayor, Deputy Mayoress

Mayor Making Council Chamber

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Annual Council Council Chamber

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Peterborough Lions Showtime The Parkway Club

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Official Mayoral Photo Council Chamber

Mayor Peterborough Lido 80th anniversary opening Peterborough Lido
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Citizenship Ceremony Reception Room

Mayor Boots Opticians Queensgate Grand Opening Boots Opticians 
Queensgate

Mayor Annual Volunteer Awards Evening – PRVS Reception Room
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

JHH Dance presents Celebration 2016 The Cresset

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Mayor of Bourne Civic Service Abbey & Parish Church 
of St Peter and St Paul

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Diary meeting with Justina Jangan and Joanne Klein Mayor’s Parlour

Mayor Water Wheels Challenge 2016 Ferry Meadows
Mayor Civic Leaders Day RAF Alconbury
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Newark Hill Academy Showcase of Learning Newark Hill Academy

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

The Queens 90th Birthday Celebration City College

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Peterborough Primary Schools Country Dancing 
Festival

The Peterborough 
School

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

The Living History and listening Project St Botolph's C of E 
Primary School

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Peterborough Dragon Boat Festival Peterborough Rowing 
Lake

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Step Out for Stroke Walk Ferry Meadows

Mayor Northborough Fete Northborough

19



Attending Event Venue
Mayor Service in the Cathedral to mark the Queens 90th 

Birthday
Peterborough Cathedral

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Festa Della Republica ICA Centre, The Fleet

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Meeting with Justina Jangan Mayor’s Parlour

Mayor Peterborough Lions Club Business Meeting Ebeneezers
Mayor Lithuanian Embassy visit to Peterborough Mayor’s Parlour
Mayor The King's School Art and Design Exhibition The King’s School

Mayor Victoria Park Residents Association Family Fun Day Victoria Gardens, Alma 
Road

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

City of Peterborough Symphony Orchestra Summer 
Concert

The Voyager Academy

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Stamford Civic Service Stamford Town Hall

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Fly the Flag for Armed Forces Day Town Hall

Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Meeting with Joanne Klein and Justina Jangan Mayor’s Parlour

Mayor Meeting with Canon Bruce Ruddock Mayor’s Parlour
Mayor Weston Homes Development Launch The Gables, Thorpe 

Road
Mayor Armed Forces Day Town Hall
Mayor Volunteer Awards Thorpe Hall
Mayor National Service Day Parade and Service All Saint’s Church
Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Annual Service of Remembrance Crematorium 

Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Merrie England Key Theatre

Mayor Visit and tour of Jack Hunt School Jack Hunt School
Mayor Meeting with Justina Jangan Mayor’s Parlour
Mayor Mayor’s Open Day Reception Room

Town Hall
Mayor Extra Ordinary Council Meeting Chamber

Town Hall
Mayor First Sub Meeting with Annette Joyce to Discuss 

Charity Event in May 2017
Mayor’s Parlour

Mayor Rehearsal of Installation Cathedral
Deputy Mayor Citizenship Ceremony Chamber

Town Hall
Deputy Mayor Children’s Film Awards 2016 Kingsgate Conference 

Centre

Deputy Mayor Peterborough Eco Education Awards 2016 Voyager Academy
PE4 6HX

Mayor D of E Presentation Evening Reception Room
Town Hall

Mayor Anniversary of the Battle of the Somme Cathedral
Mayor Jimmy the Donkey Central Park
Deputy Mayor Taste of Africa VIP Reception Gate 15, East of 

England Showground, 
PE2 6XE

20



Attending Event Venue
Mayor Cameronians & 1st Scottish Rifles Dinner Bull Hotel

Westgate Pe1 1RB
Mayor Peterborough Anglo French Association Welcome Town Hall
Mayor Independence Day Celebrations RAF Alconbury

Huntingdon
PE28 4DA

Mayor Peterborough Heritage Festival Opening Cathedral Square

Mayor Thorney Fun Day Bedford Hall
Thorney
PE6 0QE

Deputy Mayor Farewell Meeting at the Salvation Army Citadel
1203 Bourges 
Boulevard
PE1 2AU

Mayor Mayor’s Installation Cathedral
Mayor, Deputy Mayor and 
Deputy Mayoress

Meeting with Justina Jangan Mayor’s Parlour

Mayor Meeting with Derek Bristow Mayor’s Parlour 
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Shine Heritage Exhibition Shine, Park Road

Mayor The Peterborough School Year 6 Graduation 
Ceremony

The Peterborough 
School

Mayor Battle of the Somme Commemoration Queensgate
Mayor Strawberry Tea in aid of Breast Cancer Research 8 Lyvelly Gardens
Mayor Excellence in Skills Awards Ceremony Peterborough Cathedral
Mayor Hempsted Co-operative food store opening 4 Columbus Road, 

Hempsted
Mayor Golden Table for lunch at Eye Primary School Eye Primary School
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Netherton Friendship Club Summer Sale St Andrews United 
Reformed Church

Deputy Mayor and Mayoress Sue Ryder Thorpe Hall Hospice Summer Fete Thorpe Hall
Mayor Eye Open Space Groups 7th Summer Fun Day Eye
Deputy Mayor and Deputy 
Mayoress

Multicultural food festival Millennium centre

21



This page is intentionally left blank

22



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 10(a)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL

(a) CABINET RECOMMENDATION – FUTURE DELIVERY OF PROPERTY 
SERVICES

Cabinet, at is meeting of 21 March 2016, received  a report which requested it to 
formally establish a joint venture property services company with NPS Property 
Consultants Ltd (NPS) following approval of the Phase One Budget Proposals by 
Council on 17 December 2015. It also asked that Cabinet approve a number of 
delegations (as set out in agenda item 11 – Executive Decisions made since the 
last meeting) and further requested that Cabinet recommend to Council amendments 
to the Constitution ‘Appointments to external organisations’ to include the joint venture 
company within the key partnerships category to enable to the Leader to make 
appointments to the governing body.

IT IS RECOMMENDED that Council:

i. Agree amendments to the Constitution ‘Appointments to external organisations’ to 
include the joint venture company within the key partnerships category to enable to 
the Leader to make appointment to the governing body.

       The original Cabinet report follows this report on page 25. 

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



                                                                                 ITEM 10(A) – FOR INFORMATION

Cabinet Member(s) 
responsible:

Councillor David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact 
Officer(s):

Simon Machen, Corporate Director of Growth and 
Regeneration

Tel. 01733 453475

FUTURE DELIVERY OF PROPERTY SERVICES

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Corporate Director of Growth and 
Regeneration

Deadline date : 9 March 2016

Cabinet is requested to:

1. Approve the proposal to formally establish a joint venture company with NPS Property 
Consultants Ltd;

2. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth & Regeneration and Corporate 
Director Resources to conclude negotiations and set up a performance framework for 
managing the joint venture;

3. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth and Regeneration and Director of 
Governance the ability to finalise any individual matters within their remit; and

4. Cabinet is requested to recommend to Council amendments to the Constitution 
‘Appointments to external organisations’ to include the joint venture company within the 
key partnerships category to enable to the Leader to make appointment to the governing 
body.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The Phase One Budget Proposals approved by Council on 17 December 2015 included 
a proposal to transfer property services into a joint venture with NPS Property Consultants 
Ltd (NPS), including estate management, asset acquisition, disposals and rent collection.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of the report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to formally establish a joint venture 
property services company with NPS Property Consultants Ltd (NPS), following approval 
of the Phase One Budget Proposals by Council on 17 December 2015.

2.2 This report is for Cabinet to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, Section 3.2 
paragraph 3.2.6 To lead the delivery of Business Transformation within the Council.

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

CABINET AGENDA ITEM No. 

21 MARCH 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

25



4.     THE PROPOSED JOINT VENTURE 

4.1 In 2013 East of England LGA undertook a health check of asset management practice 
in Peterborough and subsequently in January 2015 issued a follow up report. In 
summary the report stated that although asset management services were functioning 
within the Council, there were problems with the service being fragmented leaving the 
authority operating sub-optimally in terms of its property and asset management 
service.

4.2 Taking the East of England LGA report and building upon its proposals, a review of 
property services was undertaken and responsibility for asset management services 
has been transferred to the Corporate Director of Growth & Regeneration. This 
includes client responsibility for property services provided by Serco and Amey.

4.3 The Council now plans to start a joint venture with NPS Property Consultants Ltd 
(NPS) which is part of the Norse Group. This is a substantial property services 
company owned by Norfolk County Council that has been operating for over 10 years 
in both the public and private sectors. The NPS joint venture model with local 
authorities is tried and tested across the market with 23 joint venture companies under 
the group at present. The benefits of a joint venture include the ability to better access 
robust and quality property specialisms at short notice, as well as generating additional 
income by the joint venture trading its services to other organisations within the limit 
of the procurement regulations. Any trading profits would be split 50:50. Services 
proposed to be transferred into the joint venture include estate management, asset 
acquisition, design, disposals and rent collection. We expect that this proposal will 
make savings of up to £100,000 in 2016/17 and 2017/18, rising to £150,000 in 
subsequent years.

4.4 NPS Property Consultants Ltd is one of three companies in the Norse Group, which is 
fully owned by Norfolk County Council.  NPS provides a full range of property services 
and operates 23 public sector joint ventures across the country, including Norwich, 
Humber, Leeds, Wigan, Devon, Herefordshire and Waltham Forest.

4.5 The joint venture will initially undertake those services currently provided by Serco 
under the Strategic Property contract [estates management, commissioning, facilities 
management and energy billing] together with internal technical expertise and agency 
staff supporting property services & strategic projects. The agreement/service 
arrangement is that the joint venture will manage all of the Council’s property services 
with the exception of education project/advice and will either:-

a. Undertake services directly, or
b. Commission and manage services and works undertaken by third parties

4.6 The proposal recognises that the joint venture will need to address the service 
deficiencies and the recommendations identified in the EELGA report. The 
management arrangements will therefore include a full service review and 
improvement plan for implementation, in advance of ‘going live’, anticipated to be by 1 
July 2016.

5.      CONSULTATION

5.1 These proposals have been developed from the approved Phase One Budget for 
2016/17, which included the future delivery of Property Services. 

5.2 As referred to above, NPS Property Consultants Ltd already have similar 
arrangements in place with a number of local authorities across the country. Officers 

26



have consulted with public sector colleagues in relation to the services provided by 
NPS Property Consultants Ltd elsewhere.

6.      ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 Should Cabinet agree to the recommendations, it is anticipated that the joint venture 
company will be operational by no later than 1 July 2016. This will necessitate changes 
to the contract with Serco under additional services, Strategic Property, and will require 
agreement in relation to the transfer of staff [including pension arrangements] and 
resources from Serco to the new entity, the provision of Council office space, together 
with ICT and support services by Norse Group.

7.      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 This report seeks to implement the approved Phase One Budget proposals to enter 
into a joint venture with NPS Property Consultants Ltd, including access to robust and 
quality property specialisms at short notice and the ability to generate income, thereby 
contributing toward closing the budget gap.

8.      ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The following options were considered:-

1. Do nothing – this option was ruled out for the reasons set out in the EELGA report, 
relating to the sub-optimal way that property services are currently provided.

2. Bring the service in house to address the issues set out in the EELGA report. This 
has a number of disadvantages related to cost and the management resource 
required to establish the significant team required to specify, procure and manage 
appointments of a wide range of property service providers. It would also run 
counter to the commissioning council model and would not provide significant 
income generation opportunities.

9.       IMPLICATIONS

9.1 HR & staffing implications.

9.1.1 A number of staff within the Corporate Property Team and Serco’s Estates 
Management Team may be affected by these proposals and this will be dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s (and Serco’s) normal employment policies and 
procedures, in consultation with those staff and the trade unions. 

9.2 Financial implications 

9.2.1 Further to the initial financial information included in the Cabinet and Council reports, 
further work has been undertaken to refine the high level business case. The main 
income streams for the JV include:

 Direct funding from the Council
 Charges to Peterborough City Council projects e.g. capital projects, on a fee basis for 

works undertaken
 Income for works undertaken for customers other than Peterborough City Council.

The costs include the staff employed, running costs and any other services or support 
brought in.

9.2.2 At this stage the indicative level of surplus for the Council is approaching the level 
outlined above, but further work will be needed in the next three months to ensure the 

27



full target is achieved. The increase in later years is predicated on further income 
being generated from the JV.

9.2.3 It should also be noted that whilst the expectation is for the JV to make a surplus, and 
the high level business case indicates that it will, it is possible for the JV to make a 
loss. If this were to happen, then the Council would take a share of this. However as 
the Council plays a key role in the management of the JV, action would be taken well 
in advance of such an event.

9.3 Legal implications

9.3.1   This section contains the legal implications in the following 4 main areas: 

 power of Cabinet to approve the proposal 
 procurement and other statutory considerations
 heads of Terms
 property implications

9.4 Power

9.4.1 The Council has a statutory power, normally known as a General Power of 
Competence (GPC) under Section 1 Localism Act 2011 to enter into the proposed joint 
venture (JV) arrangement. In simple terms, the GPC gives local authorities a broad 
power to do anything that an individual can do, provided it is not prohibited by 
legislation.

9.4.2 The Council may use the GPC to decide to create a JV company with Norse Property 
Consultants Limited (NPS), and seek to rely on an exemption under Regulation 12 of 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR). The exemption is more commonly known 
as the ‘Teckal exemption’, which is now codified under Regulation 12 of the PCR.

9.5 Procurement 

9.5.1 Under Regulation 12, the PCR will not apply to an arrangement between two or more 
contracting authorities to form a separate legal entity such as a JV company, provided 
the conditions of the ‘Teckal exemption’ are met.

9.5.2 Briefly, the 3 key conditions of the ‘Teckal exemption’ are: 

 the majority (more than 80%) of the JV’s company essential work goes back to 
the contracting authorities; 

 the contracting authorities control the JV company similar to that which they 
exercise over their own departments; and 

 there is no private ownership of the JV company. Any private ownership will 
negate the Teckal exemption. 

9.5.3 The proposal is for the JV company to provide property services back to the Council 
which will form the main work of the JV company. It is not the intention of the Council 
to use the JV company to trade on a commercial basis with its owners or third parties 
in excess of the permitted 19% limit.

9.5.4 The Teckal exemption also requires the owners of the JV company to be public 
authorities or entities which are wholly public owned so that the public authorities can 
jointly control the JV company. 

9.5.5 The proposal for the JV company is to be a company limited by shares whereby NPS 
is to hold 80% of the shares with the Council holding 20% of the shares. NPS Property 

28



Consultants Ltd is wholly owned by Norse Group Limited and Norse Group Limited is 
wholly owned by Norfolk County Council (NCC). There is no private sector ownership 
of NPS Property Consultants Ltd. 

9.5.6 Therefore the controlling authorities for the JV company will be two public authorities 
- NCC and the Council.

9.5.7 The board of the JV company will comprise of 5 directors, 2 of which will be appointed 
by NCC and 2 appointed by the Council, and an operations director to be jointly 
appointed by NCC and the Council. The chairman of the board will rotate.

9.5.8 In effect, the JV company will be wholly owned and jointly controlled by NCC and the 
Council collectively. This arrangement would satisfy the condition of control of JV 
company by the contracting authorities under the Teckal exemption.

9.5.9 For the above reasons, there are no procurement implications because the proposed 
arrangement for the Council to create a JV company with NPS  Property Consultants 
Ltd satisfies the Teckal exemption. As such, the Council will be able to pass work to 
the JV company without having to put the work out to competitive tender. The Council 
will monitor the ongoing control and work of the JV company to ensure that the JV 
company operates within the limits of the Teckal exemption.

9.6 State Aid 

9.6.1 There is no unlawful state aid implications on the basis that the PCR do not apply to 
the proposed JV arrangement so no EU competition required, provided the JV 
Company remains Teckal compliant. 

9.7 Other statutory considerations 

9.7.1 The Council has a general duty to have regard to the Equality Act 2010. The Council 
has in accordance with its statutory obligations considered the impact on equalities 
arising from its proposal. From its initial assessment, the Council considers that there 
is no equalities impact which requires action or any adverse qualities impact on any 
protected group. The Equality impact Assessment is listed in the section ‘Background 
Documents’.

9.7.2 There are a number of other statutory considerations (Human Rights Act 1998, Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 - as modified) which are considered not to have any 
implications for this proposal. 

9.8 Heads of Terms 

9.8.1 The Council and NPS have been in discussions regarding a draft Heads of Terms 
(HOTS) to outline the key terms of the JV arrangement and the legal agreements to 
be entered into by NPS and the Council to create and govern the operation of the JV 
company. The HOT is agreed in principle subject to Cabinet approval. The HOTS, if 
entered into are not legally binding, and the legal agreements referred to the in the 
HoTs are subject to written agreements to be formally executed.

9.9 Property Implications 

9.9.1 It is proposed that staff employed by the JV and based in Peterborough will be based 
in Council accommodation. The JV will be a separate legal entity and as such the 
Council will need to enter into lease or licence arrangements with the JV for occupation 

29



of Council buildings. The exact details of the arrangements will be agreed between 
the JV and the Council if the proposal receives approval from Cabinet.

9.10 ICT implications 

9.10.1 Based on the information available at this time the impact on ICT from this proposal 
are considered minimal.

10.       BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

            None.

30



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 11

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

RECORD OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS MADE SINCE THE LAST MEETING

1. DECISIONS FROM THE EXTRAORDINARY CABINET MEETING HELD ON 7 MARCH 
2016

i. COUNCIL OFFICE CONSOLIDATION

Cabinet received a report which followed the ‘Funding Peterborough’s Future Growth’ 
report which was approved in February 2014.  

The purpose of the report was to seek Cabinet’s approval to:

1) Proceed with consolidating the Council’s back-office functions to Fletton Quays, 
authorising signing an appropriate agreement for lease and lease accordingly;

2) Agree the principles of subsequently letting Bayard Place and the non-civic parts of 
the Town Hall (which would remain in Council ownership) for commercial use; and

3) Associated decisions to deliver the project.

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED:

1. To approve the Office Consolidation outline business case, confirming the move to 
Fletton Quays and retention of the civic core to ensure that the Town Hall continues as 
the heart of democracy in Peterborough;

2. To delegate to the Corporate Director Resources authority to conclude and sign an 
agreement for lease for the new office development and associated car parking on 
Fletton Quays in conjunction with the Director of Governance;

3. To agree the principle of letting Bayard Place for commercial use as part of the Council's 
office consolidation plans, and delegate authority to the Corporate Director Resources in 
conjunction with Director of Governance to progress legal agreements pertaining to 
these at the appropriate time in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources 
under paragraph 3.4.3 of Part 3 of the Constitution in accordance with the terms of his 
portfolio at paragraphs (j) in consultation with the Leader if appropriate and (m);

4. To agree the principle of letting the non-civic core areas of the town hall for suitable 
alternative commercial uses, and to delegate authority to the Corporate Director 
Resources and Director of Governance to progress legal agreements pertaining to these 
at the appropriate time in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources under 
paragraph 3.4.3 of Part 3 of the Constitution in accordance with the terms of his portfolio 
at paragraphs (j) in consultation with the Leader if appropriate and (m);

5. To delegate to the Corporate Director Resources authority to agree short term 
extensions to the lease for Manor Drive to support the timing of office moves, and the 
subsequent termination following those moves in conjunction with the Director of 
Governance.

6. To delegate authority to the Corporate Director Resources, in consultation with the 
Director of Governance, to take forward contracts and arrangements as necessary to 
deliver the office consolidation as outlined in the report, including project delivery and 
capital works to buildings.

31



7. To delegate authority to the Corporate Director Resources, in consultation with the 
Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration to further develop the business case, 
including reviewing options for commercial lettings of Council buildings, developing 
energy efficiency business cases and maximising income.

2. DECISIONS FROM THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 21 MARCH 2016

i. ARMED FORCES COMMUNITY COVENANT GRANT SCHEME

Cabinet received a report which sought endorsement for ongoing support for work involving 
the Armed Forces Community Covenant and associated grant scheme.

The purpose of the report was for Cabinet to understand the success that the Armed 
Forces Community Covenant Grant had had in integrating Forces and Civilian communities.

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to note the close partnership working 
between the Council and RAF Wittering which had led to a number of successful projects to 
support the Armed Forces and Civilian communities.

ii. PETERBOROUGH SKILLS STRATEGY

Cabinet received a report following a request from Councillor John Holdich OBE, Leader of 
the Council and Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and University.

The purpose of the report was for Cabinet to approve the Peterborough Skills Strategy.

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to approve the Peterborough Skills Strategy 
for implementation.

iii. LEASING COUNCIL OWNED PROPERTY TO START-UP AND FLEDGLING 
BUSINESSES

Cabinet received a report following approval of the Phase 2 Budget Proposals by Council 
on 9 March 2016 which included a proposal to use empty Council owned commercial 
properties to support new businesses.

The purpose of the report was to seek approval from Cabinet to implement a scheme to 
support new and fledgling companies to lease Council owned property for an initial rent free 
period, subject to the company paying normal business costs such as rates and utility 
charges.

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to agree:

1. A scheme to let Council owned retail and industrial units to fledgling and start-up 
businesses for short periods on ‘easy in easy out’ rent free terms at the following 
locations:

a) Herlington Centre, Orton Malborne
b) Pyramid Centre, Bretton
c) Alfric Square, Woodston
d) Saville Road, Westwood 

2. That the Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration, in consultation with the 
Corporate Director Resources be given delegated authority to extend the scheme. 

32



iv. FUTURE DELIVERY OF PROPERTY SERVICES

Cabinet received a report following the Phase One Budget Proposals approved by Council 
on 17 December 2015. This included a proposal to transfer property services into a joint 
venture with NPS Property Consultants Ltd (NPS), including estate management, asset 
acquisition, disposals and rent collection.

The purpose of the report was to seek approval from Cabinet to formally establish a joint 
venture property services company with NPS Property Consultants Ltd (NPS).

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to agree:

1. To approve the proposal to formally establish a joint venture company with NPS 
Property Consultants Ltd;

2. To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth & Regeneration and 
Corporate Director Resources to conclude negotiations and set up a performance 
framework for managing the joint venture;

3. To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth and Regeneration and 
Director of Governance the ability to finalise any individual matters within their remit; 
and 

4. To recommend to Council amendments to the Constitution ‘Appointments to external 
organisations’ to include the joint venture company within the key partnerships 
category to enable the Leader to make appointments to the governing body.

v. ALTERNATIVE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS – EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES

Cabinet received a report which followed the Council’s decision on 27 January to adopt an 
alternative form of governance to take effect from the Annual Council meeting in May 2016 
and to approve amendments to those sections of the Constitution relating to overview and 
scrutiny.

The purpose of the report was to obtain Cabinet’s approval to the amended executive 
procedure rules for ratification by Council. These amendments reflected the changes in the 
Council’s governance model from Annual Council 2016.

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to agree:

1. To approve the proposed changes to the Executive Procedure Rules (Part 4 - Section 
7); and

2. To request that Council ratify the Rules at the Annual meeting of Council on 23 May to 
take effect upon introduction of the new governance model.

3. DECISIONS FROM THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 13 JUNE 2016

i. PETERBOROUGH JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2016-19

Cabinet received a report which followed consultation on the Peterborough Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 between 1 February 2016 and 30 April 2016. 

The purpose of the report was to seek Cabinet’s approval of those elements of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which were the executive responsibility of Peterborough 
City Council, before it was submitted to the Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board in 
July for final approval.

33



Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to agree:

1. To note the feedback from the public and stakeholder consultation on the draft 
Peterborough Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy;

2. To approve the final version of the Peterborough Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy which had been amended to reflect the key themes of the consultation 
feedback; and 

3. To recommend the Strategy to the Health and Wellbeing Board for approval.

ii. BUDGET MONITORING REPORT FINAL OUTTURN 2015/16

Cabinet received a report as a monitoring item. The report was also to be submitted to 
Audit Committee on 29 June 2016 as part of the closure of accounts process. 

The purpose of the report was to provide Cabinet with the outturn position for both the 
revenue budget and capital programme for 2015/16, subject to any changes required in the 
finalisation of the Statement of Accounts. The report also contained performance 
information on treasury management activities, payment of creditors and collection 
performance for debtors, local taxation, and benefit overpayments.  

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to agree:

1. To note the final outturn position for 2015/16 (subject to finalisation of the statutory 
statement of accounts) of a £1.0m underspend on the Council’s revenue budget;

2. To note the outturn spending of £81.8m in the Council’s capital programme in 
2015/16;

3. To note the reserves position, including the position on the Grant Equalisation 
reserve;

4. To note the performance against the prudential indicators; and

5. To note the performance on treasury management activities, payment of creditors, 
collection performance for debtors, local taxation and benefit overpayments.    

4. DECISIONS FROM THE EXTRAORDINARY CABINET MEETING HELD ON 27 JUNE 
2016

Cabinet received a report which requested it to consider the outcomes of discussions held 
at the meeting of Full Council, prior to determining a number of recommendations relating to 
a combined authority for the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area, with a directly elected 
Mayor.

Subject to the recommendations of Council, Cabinet were requested to endorse the 
Review, approve the content of the Devolution Deal and the draft Governance Scheme and 
to approve the arrangements for public consultation on the Governance Scheme and to 
authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to provide the 
Secretary of State with a summary of consultation responses in due course and to progress 
any further matters as required in connection with the proposed Deal.

It was a legal requirement that Cabinet met to approve the consultation process and the 
meeting was to take place immediately following the Council meeting which allowed Cabinet 
members to have regard to the discussions of and the will of Council when considering 
whether to approve the recommendations within the report.

34



Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED:

1.  To consider and endorse the conclusions of the outcome of the Governance Review, 
that the establishment of a Combined Authority with a Mayor for the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough area would be likely to improve the exercise of statutory functions in 
that area.

2.  To approve the content of the Devolution Deal proposal, and confirm that this replaced 
in its entirety the East Anglia Devolution Agreement signed in March 2016.

3.  To approve the draft Governance Scheme, and authorise the Chief Executive to make 
any appropriate revisions to the draft Scheme before publication as she may consider 
appropriate in consultation with the Leader and in liaison with the other Chief Executives 
of constituent authorities and to take all necessary actions to progress any matters 
arising from the report.

4.  To approve the arrangements for public consultation on the Governance Scheme and 
authorise the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of Council to provide the 
Secretary of State with a summary of the consultation responses in due course and to 
circulate that summary to all members of the Council.

5. To convene a further meeting of the Executive to take place in October 2016 to consider 
whether to give consent for the Secretary of State to bring forward an Order to establish 
a Mayoral Combined Authority covering the area of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.

5. CALL-IN BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE OR COMMISSION

Since the publication of the previous report to Council, the call-in mechanism has been 
invoked once. 

i. This was in respect of the decision taken by Cabinet on 7 March 2016 relating to 
‘Council Office Consolidation’. The call-in request was considered by the 
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee on 23 March 
2016. Following consideration of the reasons stated on the request for call-in and 
the response to the call-in, the Committee did not agree to the call-in of this decision 
on any of the reasons stated.

Under the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in the Council's Constitution (Part 
4, Section 8, and paragraph 13), implementation of the decision would take 
immediate effect.

6. SPECIAL URGENCY AND WAIVER OF CALL-IN PROVISIONS

Since the publication of the previous report to Council, the waiver of call-in provisions has 
been invoked once.

i. This was in respect of the decision taken by Cabinet on 27 June 2016 relating to 
‘The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Devolution Proposal Governance Review 
and Scheme’, as the matter had been publically debated at the Full Council meeting 
on 27 June 2016, and owing to the tight timescales prescribed.

This was approved by the Chairman of the Sustainable Growth and Environment 
Capital Scrutiny Committee, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, as per Part 
4, Section 8 – Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Commission Rules of Procedure 
paragraph 14.1.

35



7. CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 

CABINET 
MEMBER AND 
DATE OF 
DECISION

REFERENCE DECISION TAKEN 

Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning Housing 
and Economic 
Development

Councillor Peter 
Hiller

18 March 2016

MAR16/CMDN/17 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015

The Cabinet Member authorised the level of penalty 
charge imposed under implementation of The Smoke 
and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 
2015. 

Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and Environment 
Capital

Councillor Nigel 
North

22 March 2016

MAR16/CMDN/22 Regulatory Services: Shared Services Rutland 
County Council

The Cabinet Member authorised the Council to enter into 
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Rutland 
County Council as the lead authority for a period of 5 
years from 1 April 2016, with an option to extend for a 
further two years, for the provision of a shared regulatory 
service function consisting of Trading Standards, 
Environmental Health, Biodiversity and Licensing across 
Peterborough and Rutland.

Cabinet Member 
for Public Health

Councillor Diane 
Lamb

29 March 2016

MAR16/CMDN/23 Section 75 Agreement Provision of School Nursing 
Services

The Cabinet Member:
 

1.   Authorised the entering into Section 75 
agreement with the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Foundation Trust relating to the 
lead provision of a School Nursing Services, 
whereby the partners will enter into 
arrangements where the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Trust will exercise the health-
related function to the local authority. This will be 
for the value of £759,000 per annum for the 
duration of 2 years between 1 April 2016 and 31 
March 2018.
 

2.   Authorised the Corporate Director People and 
Communities, in consultation with the Director of 
Governance, to agree further changes to the 
S75 Agreement as required.

36



Cabinet Member 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

Councillor Peter 
Hiller

5 April 2016

MAR16/CMDN/24 Peterborough Highways Services Contract

The Cabinet Member:
 

1) Authorised the issue of the following work 
packages to Skanska Construction UK Limited 
under the Council’s existing Peterborough 
Highway Services Contract;

 
i. Junction 20 (Paston Parkway/A47) 

capacity improvements, work package 
value to be within £5m scheme budget;

ii. Bourges Boulevard Phase 2,work 
package value to be within scheme 
budget of £10.5m;

iii. Wheel Yard public realm improvements, 
work package value to be within scheme 
budget of £690k;

iv. LED streetlighting upgrades, work 
package value to be within scheme 
budget of £16.681m;

v. A1260 Nene Parkway, work package 
value to be within scheme budget of 
£1.5m;

vi. A1179 Longthorpe Parkway, work 
package value to be within scheme 
budget of £1.5m

2) Authorised the Director of Growth and 
Regeneration to vary the work order value when 
required subject to;(i) available budget being in 
place; (ii) the total sum of each variation not 
exceeding £100,000, and (iii) the combined 
value of any authorised variation(s) do not 
exceed the total sum of£500,000. Any variations 
are to be made in prior consultation with internal 
audit, finance and legal services.

Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

Councillor Peter 
Hiller

15 April 2016

APR16/CMDN/25 Local Transport Plan Programme of Capital Works 
2016/17

The Cabinet Member approved the 2016/17 Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) Programme of Works, as follows:
 

 The 2016/17 Integrated Transport Programme;
 The 2016/17 Highway Maintenance Programme; 

and
 The 2016/17 Bridge Maintenance Programme.

 

37



Cabinet Member 
for Resources

Councillor David 
Seaton

18 April 2016

APR16/CMDN/26 The Award of Grants to Fund the Peterborough 
Community Assistance Scheme

The Cabinet Member approved the award of specific 
grants to Voluntary and Community Sector organisations 
for the continued funding of the Peterborough 
Community Assistance Scheme up to 31st December 
2016.

Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and Environment 
Capital

Councillor Nigel 
North

21 April 2016

APR16/CMDN/27 Bus Operator Concessionary Fare Reimbursement

The Cabinet Member approved that relevant officers can 
agree concessionary fares reimbursements rates to 
individual Bus Operators for the 2016/17, 2017/18 and 
2018/19 budgets, to the total value of £3,438,000 per 
annum.

Cabinet Member 
for Resources

Councillor David 
Seaton

4 May 2016

MAY16/CMDN/28 Award of Housing Related Support Grants

The Cabinet Member:
 

1) Awarded  specific grants for the funding of 
Housing Related Support to be funded through 
the Housing Related Support (formerly 
Supporting People) Programme to the following 
organisations for the period of 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017:

i. Axiom Housing Association – Hostel 
Accommodation and Drop-in Service - 
£530,000.00;

ii. Cross Keys Homes – Hostel 
Accommodation - £99,109.00;

iii. Genesis Housing Association – Hostel 
Accommodation - £58,066.46;

iv. YMCA – Hostel Accommodation - 
£250,059.39;

v. Peterborough & Fenland MIND Floating 
Support Service  - £21,333.60;

vi. Peterborough Woman’s Aid – Refuge 
Service - £60,205.69;

vii. NACRO STORM Project – Floating 
Support - £35,200.32; and

 
2) Awarded a specific grant for the provision of 

Housing Related Support to the following 
organisation for a six month period of 1 April 
2016 to 30 September 2016, with an option to 
extend for a further six months to 31 March 
2017:

i. Home Group (Stonham) – Hostel 
Accommodation - £36,687.58 (per six 
month period).

38



Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Education, 
Skills and 
University

Councillor John 
Holdich

6 May 2016

MAY16/CMDN/29 Expansion by One Form of Entry to Jack Hunt 
Secondary School

The Cabinet Member, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Resources:

1. Authorised the Corporate Director People and 
Communities to approve the construction of new 
school accommodation up to the value of the 
budget sum of £7.7m.  This sum shall include 
the anticipated design and build contract costs, 
funding for Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT), all site surveys, project 
management, technical advisers fees and all 
costs relating to the PFI consents.

2. Authorised the Corporate Director People and 
Communities to award the design and build 
contract relating to the construction works to 
Carillion Construction Ltd.

3. Authorised the Assistant Director for Legal and 
Governance or delegated officers to enter into 
any legal documentation on behalf of the 
Council in relation to this matter, including the 
design and build contract and early works 
agreements.

4. Authorised the Corporate Director People and 
Communities to approve the variation to the PFI 
contract to reflect the scope of work and the 
requirement for lifecycle and facilities 
management services for the additional 
accommodation.

Cabinet Member 
for Resources

Councillor David 
Seaton

13 May 2016

MAY16/CMDN/30 ND22 Discretionary Rate Relief From Business 
Rates for Charities, Similar Organisations Not 
Established or Conducted for Profit, and Rural 
Businesses

The Cabinet Member:
 

1. Approved the award of Discretionary Rate Relief 
for charities and similar organisations shown on 
the attached schedule at Appendix A to 31 
March 2017; and

2. Rejected the applications for the award of 
Discretionary Rate Relief for charities and similar 
organisations shown on the attached schedule at 
Appendix B.

39



Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Education, 
Skills and 
University

Councillor John 
Holdich

16 May 2016

MAY16/CMDN/31 Authorisation to Make a Compensation Payment 
Following Resolution of Stage 3 Complaint

The Cabinet Member approved the payment of £5,000 
to settle 2 historical complaints regarding an Education 
Health Care Plan and errors in decision making by 
Education Services.

Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services

Councillor Andy 
Coles

23 May 2016

MAY16/CMDN/32 Authorisation to Make a Compensation Payment 
Following Resolution of Stage 1 Complaint

The Cabinet Member approved the payment of £750 to 
a complainant following a conciliation meeting.

Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Education, 
Skills and 
University

Councillor John 
Holdich

3 June 2016

JUNE16/CMDN/33 Post-16 Transport Policy 2016-2017

The Cabinet Member approved the Council’s ‘Post -16 
Transport Partnership Policy’ to operate from 
September 2016 to August 2017. 

Cabinet Member 
for Resources

Councillor David 
Seaton

27 June 2016

JUNE16/CMDN/35 Increased Number of Connectivity / Access Points 
(CityFibre) within the Managed ICT Contract

The Cabinet Member:
 

1. Approved a Change Control Notice for the 
Council’s existing ICT Managed Service Contract 
with Serco to enable the provision of an 
additional 220 connectivity access points across 
the Council’s CityFibre network; and

2. Authorised the Corporate Director: Resources to 
vary this Change Control Notice if, during the 
implementation stage, the Council has to amend 
its detailed business requirements. 

40



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 12

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

MOTIONS ON NOTICE

The following notices of motion have been received in accordance with the Council’s Standing Order 
13.1:

1. Motion from Councillor John Fox

i. Requests that Council look into the history of the doorway in Long Causeway (Appendix 1), 
which I believe is still the same doorway that originally lead into the Army recruiting office for 
WW1. 

Many people from Peterborough and the surrounding areas would have walked through this 
doorway to enlist to fight in the Great War and sadly many never returned.  

ii. Requests that Council liaise with the owners and gives consideration to erecting a plaque and 
placing some suitable artwork at the site in order to recognise the significance of this feature in 
the city and to promote its importance to residents and visitors.  

2. Motion from Councillor Ed Murphy

i. Council notes difficulties, obstruction, inconvenience and cases of damage because of vehicles 
parked on pavements and verges.

ii. Council believes that inconvenience caused to residents and pedestrians and damage being 
caused to verges can be mitigated by introducing regulations to prohibit parking on pavements 
and by protecting verges.

iii. Council instructs the administration, or the Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration, to 
prohibit vehicles parking on pavements, to introduce some designated parking sections and to 
protect verges throughout the authority’s area.

3. Motion from Councillor Richard Ferris

This Council notes with concern, the recent increase in incidents of racial harassment and abuse, 
both during the campaign and following the EU Referendum decision, both here in Peterborough 
and across the country.

We condemn this behaviour as completely unacceptable and contrary to the principles upon which 
the Council is founded.

We pledge to recommit our efforts to combat prejudice in all its forms, including racism and 
xenophobia, and call upon this Council to:

i. Issue a cross party, clear, unequivocal and public statement of support for all communities 
who call Peterborough their home and for this message to appear prominently on the 
Council’s website;

41



ii. Revise, implement and monitor the effectiveness of the current Safer Peterborough 
Partnership action plan for tackling hate crime in order to improve support; and 

iii. Establish a room at Bayard Place, a place of safety, where individuals can report hate crime 
in confidence and receive any advice and guidance they may need.

42



43

aag644
Text Box
   APPENDIX 1



This page is intentionally left blank

44



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM. 13(a)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE REVIEW GROUP

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : CHAIR OF COMMITTEE REVIEW GROUP

That Council

1. Note the stage 1 report of the Committee Review Group at Appendix 1.

2. Establish the Appeals and Planning Review Committee and agree the terms of reference in 
Annex 3 of Appendix 1

3. Establish the Corporate Parenting Committee and agree the terms of reference in Annex 4 
of Appendix 1. 

4. For the Corporate Parenting Committee and Appeals and Planning Review Committee:

(a) agree that both committees should each have a membership of 11 and should be subject 
to the political balance arrangements

(b) agree the appointments to those committees (document to be tabled)
(c) elect a Chair and Vice-Chair for each committee (document to be tabled)

5. Authorise the Monitoring Officer as Proper Officer to carry out the wishes of the Leaders of 
the Political Groups in allocating members to these committees, and appoints those 
Members with effect from the date at which the Proper Officer is advised of the names of 
such Members. 

6. The Employee Appeals Sub-Committee should no longer hear appeals against dismissal by 
staff below Deputy Chief Officer level, that this function be delegated to Officers and the 
Employment Committee should be asked to review the employment policy.

7. That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make the necessary changes to the Constitution 
and request the Employment Committee to review the employment policy to effect the 
Council’s decision.

8. The Independent Remunerations Panel should be requested to take account of these 
changes as part of its review of the Member Allowances Scheme. 

9. Agree that the Committee Review Group report back again to the October on the outcome of 
the scrutiny committee review. 

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 Council at its annual meeting on 23 May 2016 agreed to set up a Committee Review Group to 
review the committee structure. As requested by Council, the Committee Review Group has 

45



concluded the first stage of the review and has recommended changes to the Regulatory 
Committees. Council is asked to consider these.

2. BACKGROUND (& CONSULTATION)

2.1 Council at its annual meeting on 23 May 2016 agreed to set up a Committee Review Group to 
review the committee structure. The terms of reference agreed by Council requested that the 
Group report in two stages:

(a) Stage 1: To review of the structure of regulatory and non-executive committees and repot 
to this meeting ; and

(b) Stage 2: in October with proposals for implementation of a new scrutiny structure.

2.2 The objective of the working group was to provide an effective and efficient committee structure 
to ensure delivery of the Council’s functions. 

2.3 The Committee Review Group met on 21 June and has recommended changes in respect of the 
Committees listed below.  The reasons for the proposed changes are set out in the Group’s 
report on stage 1 of their review. 

(c) Planning Review Committee
(d) Appeals committee (Service Issues)
(e) Employment Appeals Sub Committee
(f) Corporate Parenting Panel. 

2.4 The recommended changes are summarised below:

PLANNING REVIEW COMMITTEE AND APPEALS COMMITTEE (SERVICE ISSUES) 

2.5 The Planning Review Committee and the Appeals Committee (Service Issues) are currently 
separate committees.  For the reasons set out in its report, the Group recommends that the 
Planning Review Committee and the Appeals Committee (Service Issues) should be 
amalgamated into a new Committee called the Appeals and Planning Review Committee. The 
proposed terms of reference is attached (Annex 3 of Appendix 1). This Committee would have a 
wider remit and consider matters related to the outcome and effectiveness of any council appeals 
processes. For example, any Ombudsman reports that relate to appeals processes where a 
review of the process might be required.

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

2.6 Members have an important role as corporate parents to looked-after children. Currently, 
Peterborough City Council has a corporate parenting panel.  For the reasons set out in its report, 
the Committee Review Group recommends that the status of the panel be raised to a committee. 
The proposed terms of reference is attached (Annex 4 of Appendix 1).

MEMBERSHIP AND POLITICAL BALANCE

2.7 It is proposed that both the Appeals and Planning Review Committee and the Corporate 
Parenting Committee has 11 Members each and that both are subject to the political balance 
rules. The new structure is set out in the table below. The overall number of seats on the Council 
remain the same and therefore do not change the political balance calculations, subject to the 
completion of the second stage review of the scrutiny committee structure, to be reported to the 
next meeting of Council in October.

46



Committee Seats
Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities
Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues
Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee
Employment Committee 
Audit Committee
Licensing Committee (Regulatory)
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee
Appeals and Planning Review Committee
Appeals Committee (Service Issues)
Corporate Parenting Committee

7
  7
  7
  7

  11
  7

7
11
11
11
11
11 

TOTAL 97

2.8 Member appointments have been made to both the Appeals and the Planning Review 
Committees and to the Corporate Parenting Panel.  Whilst there are 11 members on both 
committees, there are 16 members on the panel.

2.9 If established, Group Leaders will be asked to allocate members to the new committees. 
Members of the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee will be excluded from 
membership of the Appeals and Planning Review Committee as the Committee would review that 
Committee’s decisions if called in. 

2.10 The current allocation between political groups on these committees is: 

Committee Seats Conservative Labour Liberal 
Democrats

Liberal 
Party

Werrington 
First UKIP Total

Planning 
Review 
Committee

11 6 2 1 0 1 1 11

Appeals 
(Service 
Issues) 
Committee

11 6 2 1 1 1 0 11

2.11 Under the revised structure (see below), whilst the overall numbers and distribution between 
parties are the same, UKIP and The Liberal Party would need to decide between the two 
committees; the overall total cannot exceed 11. 

Committee Seats Conservative Labour Liberal 
Democrats

Liberal 
Party

Werrington 
First UKIP Total

Appeals 
and 
Planning 
Review 
Committee

11 6 2 1 0 or 1 1 0 or 1 11

Corporate 
Parenting 
Committee

11 6 2 1 0 or 1 1 0 or 1 11

47



2.12 The Independent Members Remuneration Panel will be asked to take account of the Council’s 
decision when reviewing the Members’ Allowance scheme. 

EMPLOYMENT APPEALS

2.13 Appeals against dismissal by staff below Deputy Chief Officer level are currently heard by a sub-
committee of the Employment Committee. For the reasons set out in the Committee Review 
Group’s report, it is proposed that the hearing of these appeals is delegated to Officers.  

2.14 This will require an amendment to the Constitution. The Employment Committee will also be 
asked to review its policy to take account of the Council’s decision. 

3. IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Finance Implications – There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

3.2 Legal Implications - Appeals is a local choice function under schedule 2 of the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. The Council has agreed that this 
function is a non-executive function. 

3.3       Equalities Implications – There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

4. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

4.1 All background documents used in the drafting of this report have been public documents and are 
largely referred to within the report.

5. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Report of the Committee Review Group.

48



APPENDIX 1
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE REVIEW GROUP – STAGE 1 REVIEW

1. PURPOSE 

1.1 This report sets out the recommendations of the Committee Review Group on proposed 
changes to the structure of regulatory and no-executive committees.

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 At the annual meeting on 23 May, the Council agreed to establish the Committee 
Review Group.  The terms of reference at Annex 1 stated that the working group will 
report to Council in two stages:

(a) It will report to Council in July regarding the structure of regulatory and non-
executive committees;

(b) It will report to Council in October with proposals for implementation of a new 
scrutiny structure.   

2.2 The objective of the working group was to provide an effective and efficient committee 
structure to ensure delivery of the Council’s functions. 

2.3 The membership of the working group was as follows:

Cllr Hiller (Conservative) - Chair
Cllr Ayres (Conservative)
Cllr Fitzgerald (Conservative)
Cllr Holdich (Conservative)
Cllr Peach (Conservative)
Cllr Seaton (Conservative)
Cllr Sandford (Liberal Democrats) 
Cllr Ellis (Labour)
Cllr Khan (Labour)
Cllr Lane (Werrington First)
Cllr Okonkowski (UKIP)

2.4 The current committee structure including sub-committees and informal committees is 
attached, together with the number of members and the frequency of meetings (Annex 
2). 

STAGE ONE OF THE REVIEW

2.5 This report deals with regulatory and other non-executive committees excluding scrutiny 
committees. The Committee Review Group proposed amendments to the following:

(a) Planning Review Committee
(b) Appeals Committee (Service Issues)
(c) Employment Appeals Sub Committee
(d) Corporate Parenting Panel. 

49



2.6 Details of their proposals are set out below. 

3    PLANNING REVIEW COMMITTEE AND APPEALS COMMITTEE (SERVICE ISSUES) 

3.1 Appeals Committees offered an independent review of decisions made by officers or 
Members on committees; they were independent of those who made the original 
decisions.  There were currently two appeals/review committees.

3.2 The Appeals Committee (Service Issues) reviewed appeals procedures, and 
considered and determined appeals about all Council Services except employee 
appeals. The Committee Review Group noted that the Committee met once a year in 
April to scrutinise or review the outcomes of school transport appeals held during the 
previous year and had 11 Members.

3.3 A sub-committee/panel was set up to hear any appeals.  There were three appeals 
heard by the sub-committee last year and these all related to home to school transport 
appeals. The sub-committee consisted of three Councillors drawn by the Clerk to the 
panel from a pool of trained members. Panel members should not be a representative 
of the Ward of the appellant. 

3.4 The Planning Review Committee heard planning applications that had been called in 
under the planning call-in procedure.

3.5 The Committee Review Group noted that the Planning Review Committee had not met 
in the last financial year (2015/16) as there were no requests to call in planning 
decisions. In 2014/15, the Committee had met once to consider a single “call in”. There 
were currently 11 members of the Committee.

3.6 In view of the infrequency of appeals hearings by both the Planning Review Committee 
and the Appeals Committee (Service Issues), it was proposed to amalgamate these two 
committees and to widen its remit to consider other appeals processes.  

CRM RECOMMENDATION 1

(a) the Planning Review Committee and the Appeals Committee (Service Issues) should 
be amalgamated and the new Committee should be called the Appeals and Planning 
Review Committee;

(b) The amended terms of reference should be agreed as set out in Annex 3; the 
committee should have 11 members and the quorum should be the same as for all 
committees, ie half of the members present.

4 CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

4.1 Members had an important role as corporate parents to looked-after children. Currently, 
Peterborough City Council had a corporate parenting panel which met 6 times a year. 
The panel had an important role in overseeing the duties of the Council and its partners 
for looked after children and care leavers. The panel had a membership of up to 16 

50



councillors including the Chair and Vice-Chair, and up to four members from the foster 
carers’ forum (non-voting) and representatives from the Children in Care Council (non-
voting). 

4.2 The Ofsted report published on 18 September 2015 stated “Political leaders and senior 
managers provide a clear vision and there is good evidence of cross-party commitment 
to children’s services. However, the corporate parenting role of elected members is not 
fully developed and they need to be more challenging and ambitious for children and 
young people.” It went on to recommend the Council to: 

“Ensure that there is a more robust approach to corporate parenting and that elected 
members and senior managers listen to, and act on, the experiences of children and 
young people in order to improve their lives.”

4.3 As stated by the National Children’s Bureau, ‘a major challenge for local authorities is 
to get their governance arrangements for corporate parenting ‘right’’.   It highlights the 
features of a good authority in relation to its governance arrangements as follows:

Ofsted identified where looked after services were considered to be good. In these 
authorities the corporate parenting board:

• demonstrated a strong cross-party commitment to looked after children, by 
championing their rights, having high aspirations for their achievement, monitoring 
children’s progress and challenging outcomes

• clearly understood its role and the responsibilities of the local authority towards 
looked after children, and planned for and prioritised their needs, resulting in a greater 
focus on improving outcomes

• actively engaged with their young people, for example through children in care 
councils that are well-established and have effective and regular links with senior 
management and elected members.1

4.4 In a number of Councils (Cheshire East, North and South Tyneside, Brent Councils) the 
Corporate Parenting group was a formal committee.  The Committee Review Group 
saw a number of advantages to this approach:

(a) It raised the group’s status;
(b) Its formal status would ensure that meetings were open and transparent; agendas, 

reports and minutes would be published on the Council’s website, and the public 
would be able to attend meetings unless exempt information was being discussed. 

(c) It would have the ability to make formal recommendations to the Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Services, and to Cabinet collectively;

(d) It may formally report any issues to the relevant scrutiny committee, to full Council, 
or other bodies, such as the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board;

(e) It would be both independent of Cabinet and Scrutiny, reporting directly into Council.

4.5 It recognised that a formal committee might not be conducive to engaging with children 
and young people or their representative. To overcome this, the Committee could 

1 http://www.jkp.com/putting-corporate-parenting-into-practice-second-edition.html, Hart, D, Williams, A 
Putting Corporate Parenting into Practice: A handbook for councillors , National Children’s Bureau 2013

51

http://www.jkp.com/putting-corporate-parenting-into-practice-second-edition.html
http://www.jkp.com/putting-corporate-parenting-into-practice-second-edition.html
http://www.jkp.com/putting-corporate-parenting-into-practice-second-edition.html


alternate its meetings between informal and formal meetings.  At its informal meetings 
it could invite young people and their representatives, and other members of the Council 
to ensure there was proper engagement with children and young people. At its formal 
meetings it would consider formal business.  It could also have informal gatherings 
before the start of the committee to provide a space for discussion with children and 
young people.

4.6 In view of its importance, it was recommended that the corporate parenting panel 
became a main committee.  

4.7 Membership: The Committee would be subject to political proportionality and in line 
with other committees, it should have a membership of 11 members. The Chair and 
Vice Chair of the Committee would be elected by Council. 

4.8 Co-opted Members: As with scrutiny committees, provision could be made within the 
terms of reference for non-voting co-opted members to be co-opted on the committee 
where this was relevant to its work. 

4.9 Councillors: In accordance with standing order 7.4, a committee or sub-committee 
could invite any member who were not a member of the Committee to attend and speak 
at any one of its meetings. The Member would not have voting rights.

4.10 Members Allowance:  There was no provision in the member allowance scheme for 
an allowance for the Chair of the panel.  However, the scheme was under review. If 
members agreed to raising the status of the panel to a committee, the Independent 
Remunerations Panel would be asked to consider this position for an allowance.

CRM RECOMMENDATION 2

(a) The corporate parenting panel should become a main committee.  
(b) The amended terms of reference should be agreed a set out in Annex 4; 
(c) The Committee should have 11 members and the quorum should be the same as for 

all committees, ie half of the members present;
(d) The Independent Remunerations Panel should be asked to take account of these 

changes when reviewing the Members Allowance Scheme.

5 POLITICAL BALANCE

5.1 At its annual meeting on 23 May, the Council agreed the structure below, together with 
the allocation of seats on each Committee of the Council, subject to political balance  
seat arrangements:

52



Committee Seats
Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities
Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues
Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee
Employment Committee 
Audit Committee
Licensing Committee (Regulatory)
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee
Planning Review Committee
Appeals Committee (Service Issues)

7
  7
  7
  7

  11
  7

7
11
11
11
11 

TOTAL 97

5.2 If Council agreed to: 
(a) amalgamate the Planning Review Committee and the Appeals Committee (Service 

Issues) with 11 seats; and
(b) raise the status of the Corporate Parenting Panel to a Committee with 11 seats
then the overall number of seats (97) on each committee would not change. The Council 
would not need to recalculate the allocations of seats across all committees at this stage 
of the review.  

CRM  RECOMMENDATION 3

The Council notes 
(a) the revised structure as set out below, subject to a further review of the scrutiny committee 

structure and 
(b) that the political balance calculations would remain the same, subject to the completion of 

the second stage review of the scrutiny committee structure to be reported to the next 
meeting of Council in October.

Committee Seats
Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities
Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues
Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital Scrutiny Committee
Employment Committee 
Audit Committee
Licensing Committee (Regulatory)
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee
Appeals and Planning Review Committee
Appeals Committee (Service Issues)
Corporate Parenting Committee

7
  7
  7
  7

  11
  7

7
11
11
11
11
11 

TOTAL 97

53



6 EMPLOYMENT APPEALS

6.1 Appeals against dismissals by staff below Deputy Chief Officer level were currently 
heard by a sub-committee of the Employment Committee. This was an additional right 
of appeal given to employees which sat outside of the legal process.

6.2 The Member Officer Working Group had been consulted and favoured delegating this 
function to officers. The Employment Committee wanted to retain the appeals.

6.3 The Committee Review Group discussed the advantages and disadvantages of having 
a Member level appeals panel. It recommended that appeals against dismissal by staff 
below Deputy Chief Officer level should be delegated to Officers for the following 
reasons:

(a) Although Members hearing appeals against dismissal was once common practice 
in Councils, many had stopped the practice; 

(b) Members of the sub-committee might be required to attend tribunals to explain the 
reasons for their decision (similar to member attendance at planning inquiries);

(c) It questioned whether members on the sub-committee had the right level of 
experience to deal with appeals and Councillors who had sat on appeals in the past 
found it difficult to come to a decision;

(d) Members of the appeals sub-committee were not trained in employment law and 
this had resulted on occasion in a lack of understanding of the reasons for the officer 
decision and was a disadvantage in any tribunal case (for this reason planning law 
training was compulsory for committee members);

(e) Legislation related to employment was constantly changing so any training 
members received quickly became out of date;

(f) Non senior officers would still have the right of appeal internally before the 
opportunity of direct appeal to a tribunal from the senior officer’s decision.  There 
was, therefore, sufficient opportunity to have any issues heard internally.

(g) An appeal to the sub-committee added further delay and significant costs to a 
process which could already take a considerable amount of time to resolve which 
benefited neither the Council nor the employee. Independent HR legal advice had 
to be sought from outside of the Council.

6.4 The Group recommended that if an appeal was to be heard by Senior Officers it needs 
to be made up of Senior Officers from departments other than where the employee was 
employed.

CRM  RECOMMENDATION 4

That appeals against dismissal by staff below Deputy Chief Officer level should be 
delegated to Officers.

Senior Officers from departments other than where the employee was employed should 
hear the appeal, and the Employment Committee should review its HR procedures to take 
this into account.

54



7 STAGE TWO OF THE REVIEW

7.1 It was proposed to set up two meetings of the group in mid-July and in the first week of 
September.  The purpose of these meetings would be to review the scrutiny structure 
to ensure an appropriate level of governance for the review of executive functions.

7.2 This would include a review of the number and size of scrutiny committees, and their 
alignment to cabinet portfolios/officer structure. It would also include a review of the 
scrutiny procedure rules and call in arrangements. The group would review the political 
balance on committees and the civic calendar in the light of any changes. It would also 
consider any further amendments required to the constitution. It was proposed to report 
on these matters to Council on 12 October.

55



Annex 1
          

COMMITTEE REVIEW GROUP
TERMS OF REFERENCE

Objective

A politically balanced cross party working group of members to 
(a) Review the existing committee structure to provide an effective body of committees 

for regulatory and non-executive functions
(b) Review the structure of scrutiny committees to ensure an appropriate level of 

governance for the review of executive functions

The working group will report to Council in two stages: 
(a) It will report to Council in July regarding the structure of regulatory and non-executive 

committees
(b) It will report to Council in October with proposals for implementation of a new scrutiny 

structure.   

The objective of the working group is to provide an effective and efficient committee 
structure to ensure delivery of the Council’s functions. The re-design of Committees will lead 
to a revision at each stage of the process to the political balance rules.  It will also impact 
upon the review of member’s allowances by the Independent Remuneration Panel and 
therefore it is intended to report back on the second stage of this review concurrently with 
the report of the IRP.

Purpose

To review the committee structure to include:
 The role and work programme of each committee to ensure that meetings are 

efficient
 The frequency of meetings within the civic calendar
 The specific role of any informal committees e.g the Corporate Parenting Panel, and 

whether such meetings should be committees
 The role of scrutiny committees
 The call-in process
 Changes to the constitution
 Alteration of the civic calendar

Consultation and communication

To undertake consultations with members and senior officers

To report into Group Leaders meetings and Council

Constitution & powers

The working group shall comprise up to 11 members with proportional representation as 
follows:
Conservative (6)
Labour (2)

56



Liberal Democrats (1)
Werrington First, Liberals & UKIP (2 seats to be decided across 3 groups)    

Group Leaders will nominate to the Working Group.  Substitution arrangements will apply.

The Working Group is an informal meeting of members to which the Access to Information 
rules shall not apply

The Working Group shall appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair at its first meeting

The quorum of the Working Group shall be 3 members

Meetings of the Working Group will be supported and administered by a senior officer within 
the Governance team.  Group Leaders who are not on the working group will be invited to 
make written representations regarding the committee structure.  

57



Annex 2

MEETINGS FREQUENCY

MEETING TIME

NUMBER 
OF 
MEMBERS

NUMBER OF 
SCHEDULED 
MEETINGS IN 
2014/15

FREQUENCY 
OF MEETINGS 
IN 2014/15

NUMBER OF 
SCHEDULED 
MEETINGS IN 
2015/16

FREQUENCY OF 
MEETINGS IN 
2015/16

COUNCIL (Wednesday) 7pm 60 6

8 - 2 
Extraordinary 
meetings for 

Freedom of the 
City              6

7 - 1 meeting 
cancelled and 2 
Extraordinary 

meetings
Annual Council (Monday) 6.30pm 60 2 2 1 1
       

Cabinet (Monday) 10am 10 10 10 10

11 - 1 meeting 
cancelled and 2 
Extraordinary 

meetings

Cabinet Budget Meeting (Monday) 10am 10 -
(included in 

figure above) -
(included in figure 

above)
       
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES/COMMISSIONS       
Scrutiny Commission for Rural Communities 7pm 7 6 6 6 6
Scrutiny Commission for Health Issues 7pm 7 6 6 6 6
Creating Opportunities & Tackling Inequalities 
Scrutiny Committee 7pm 7 6 6 6 6
Sustainable Growth and Environment Capital 
Scrutiny Committee 7pm 11 6

9 (3 Call-in 
meetings) 6

7 - 1 Extraordinary 
meeting

Strong & Supportive Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 7pm 7 6 6 6 6
Scrutiny of the Budget 6pm 60 2 2 2 2
       
COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL       
Appeals Committee (Monday) 7pm 11 1 1 1 1

58



MEETING TIME

NUMBER 
OF 
MEMBERS

NUMBER OF 
SCHEDULED 
MEETINGS IN 
2014/15

FREQUENCY 
OF MEETINGS 
IN 2014/15

NUMBER OF 
SCHEDULED 
MEETINGS IN 
2015/16

FREQUENCY OF 
MEETINGS IN 
2015/16

Appeals Sub-Committee (Ad-hoc Hearings) Daytime 3 - 2 - 2
Audit Committee (Monday) 7pm 7 5 5 5 5
Audit Sub-Committee (Ad-hoc Hearings) Evening 3 - 0 - 0
Planning & Env. Protection Committee (PEP) 
(Tuesday) 1.30pm 11

19 (10 
provisional) 15

20 (10 
provisional) 16

Planning Review Committee (Ad-hoc 
meetings) Both - - - - -
Licensing  & Licensing Act 2003 Committee 
(Thurs) 7pm 11 9 2 9 3
Licensing Act 2003 Sub-Committee (Ad-hoc 
Hearings) Daytime 3 - 11 - 4

Employment Committee (Thursday) 7pm 7 5

9 - 1 meeting 
cancelled and 5 
Extraordinary 

meetings 5

5 - 1 meeting 
cancelled and 1 
Extraordinary 

meeting
Employment Sub-Committee (Ad-hoc 
Hearings) Daytime 3 - 2 - 0
Health and Wellbeing Board (Thursday) 1pm 4 3 5 4 4
       
PARTNERSHIP AND LIAISON MEETINGS       
Parish Council Liaison (Wednesday) (T.B.C.) 6.30pm 1 4 4 4 5

       
Corporate Parenting Panel 6.30pm 14 5 5 6 7

       
WORKING GROUPS       
All Party Policy 6pm 60 9 TBC 10 TBC
Member Officer Working Group 5.30pm 9 8 5 6 4
       

59



Annex 3

Part 3, Delegations Section 2 – Regulatory Committee Functions 

2.1 APPEALS AND PLANNING REVIEW COMMITTEE 

2.1.1 TERMS OF REFERENCE 

2.1.2 To review appeals procedures for the Council’s various services (excluding appeals 
procedures which are determined by statute) and, where change is recommended, 
formulate proposals to the Executive or Council. 

2.1.3 To hear and determine appeals about all the Council’s services, other than employee 
appeals and those for which there are separate, statutory appeals procedures, and 
to set up panels for this purpose.  

PLANNING REVIEWS
2.1.4 To determine any planning matter that has been referred to the Committee following 

the implementation of the planning call-in procedure.

2.1.5 The Committee shall adopt the Planning Speaking Scheme at its meetings.

2.1.6 All Members of the Committee (and substitutes) shall have received appropriate 
training before being involved in the determination of a planning matter. 

APPEALS PANEL – TERMS OF REFERENCE
2.1.7 The Committee has set up a panel to hear appeals about Council Services. The panel 

will consist of three members drawn from the Committee. For this purpose, officers 
may draw upon members with training relevant to the subject matter of the appeal in 
order to ensure sufficient members are available to conduct the hearing, and to avoid 
involving any member who was involved in the original decision which is the subject 
of the appeal.  Panel members should not be a representative of the Ward of the 
appellant.  The quorum shall be three members. Political balance applies to the panel. 

60



Annex 4

Part 3, Delegations Section 2 – Regulatory Committee Functions 

PETERBOROUGH CORPORATE PARENTING COMMITTEE 

1 TERMS OF REFERENCE

OUR COMMITMENT TO CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE:

Peterborough City Council is committed to raising the quality of life of everyone living 
within the city.  For children in particular, the city council aims to provide high quality 
opportunities for learning and ensure children are healthy and safe.  It is important that 
the Corporate Parenting Committee members ensure that the Council provides such 
care, education and opportunities that the Committee would be afforded to their own 
children. 

2 PURPOSE:

2.1 To ensure that the Council effectively discharges its role as Corporate Parent for all 
children and young people in care and care leavers and holds partners to account for 
the discharge of their responsibilities.

2.2 On behalf of the Council and partners of the Local Authority to ensure that all services 
directly provided for children and young people in care and care leavers are scrutinised 
to deliver to a high standard and to all statutory requirements.

2.3 To raise the aspiration, ambitions and life chances of children and young people in care, 
narrowing the gap of achievement between children in care and their peers.

2.4 To ensure that children in care are protected and supported to develop as healthy 
citizens, able to participate in their community.

2.5 To ensure that all elected members are aware of their corporate parenting 
responsibilities and that all Council services are mindful of the needs of children in care 
and respond accordingly within their particular remit.

3 FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE:

3.1 To act as advocates for looked after children and care leavers.

3.2 To receive statutory reports in relation to the adoption, fostering, commissioning, looked 
after children services and children’s homes with a view to recommending any changes.

3.3 Ensure that the needs of looked after children and care leavers are addressed though  
key plans, policies and strategies throughout the Council overseeing interagency 
working arrangements. 

3.4 Review complaints from looked after children to ensure officers have dealt with these 
appropriately and made any recommendations for change.

61



3.5 Raise awareness in Peterborough City Council and the wider community by promoting 
the role of members as corporate parents and the Council as a large corporate family 
with key responsibilities. 

3.6 To monitor the quality of care delivered by the City Council and review the performance 
of outcomes for children and young people in care.

(a) Raise the profile of the needs of looked after children and care leavers through a 
range of actions including through the organising of celebratory events for the 
recognition of achievement.

(b) Ensure that leisure, cultural, further education and employment opportunities are 
offered and taken up by our looked after children and care leavers.

(c) Promote the development of participation and ensure that the view of children and 
young people are regularly heard through the Corporate Parenting Committee to 
improve educational, health and social outcomes to raise aspiration and 
attainments. 

(d) Hold meetings with children and young people in care, frontline staff and foster 
carers to inform the committee of the standards of care and improvement 
outcomes for looked after children.

(e) Monitor the ongoing commitment to providing support, training and clarity of 
expectations to foster carers to achieve excellent and high quality care.

(f) To appoint elected members as Champions for Children in Care in respect of the 
following strands: 

i) Housing
ii) Employment and training opportunities within council departments and with 

partner agencies
iii) Health 
iv) Educational Attainment and access to Higher Education
v) Recreation and Leisure activities
vi) Finance and benefits

4 WORK PROGRAMME  

The Corporate Parenting Committee will formally agree a skeleton work programme 
annually which will be reviewed at each formal meeting.  In reviewing the work 
programme, the Committee may agree to request reports on particular matters of their 
own preference or as advised by the lead officer. 

5 PERFORMANCE MONITORING

The Corporate Parenting Committee will scrutinise and monitor outcomes for children 
in care and care leavers.  To this end, the Committee will develop and agree a core 
data set which it wishes to receive at each Committee meeting.  Additional detailed 
monitoring reports will be presented in accordance with the agreed work programme 
on the following key aspects of care:

(a) Placement stability
(b) Independent child care reviews
(c) The performance of all care standards regulated services
(d) Adoption and adoption support
(e) Fostering

62



(f) Children’s homes
(g) Service to care leavers, including accommodation, education, employment and 

training
(h) The health needs of children in care
(i) Educational attainment of children in care

6 MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

6.1 There will be a standing membership of the Corporate Parenting Committee to provide 
continuity and consistency.  Councillors outside the standing membership will be invited 
to discuss issues and raise questions within a standing agenda item.

6.2 The Councillor standing membership will consist of 11 members. All Councillors are 
invited to attend the informal meetings.

6.3 The Committee may also co-opt non-voting members. Membership will include four 
foster carers and representatives from the Children in Care Council. The Committee 
may invite participation from non-members where this is relevant to their work.

7 CHILDREN IN CARE COUNCIL
  

7.1 Representatives from the Children in Care Council may attend the Corporate Parenting 
Committee up until and no later than 8pm. 

8 OFFICER SUPPORT

8.1 The Corporate Director People and Communities is responsible for ensuring that the 
Committee has sufficient officer support to lead the Council’s corporate parenting 
strategy.

8.2 The Assistant Director, for Children’s Social Care, will be the lead officer for the 
Committee together with the Service Managers for Looked after Children, Leaving 
Care, Adoption and Fostering, the Head of the Virtual School and the Children’s 
Services Participation Officer.

8.3 Democratic Services will provide the administrative arrangements and constitutional 
guidance to the Committee.

9 FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS:

9.1 Meetings will be six times a year bi-monthly preceded by an agenda setting meeting.

9.2 At least three meetings will be formal committee meetings and three informal meetings. 
The purpose of the informal meetings will be to engage with children, young people and 
their representatives.

10. REPORTING MECHANISMS:

10.1 The Corporate Parenting Committee will report to the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services and to the Scrutiny Committee on a six monthly basis or more frequently if 
required.   

63



This page is intentionally left blank

64



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM. 13(b)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

CONSTITUTION – MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

That the Council, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee agree to amend its Member Code 
of Conduct to one based on the DCLG model as set out in Appendix 1 (Option 3) of Addendum A. 

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 The Audit Committee on 21 March 2016, considered a report on proposals to revise the Code of 
Conduct.  The Audit Committee’s recommendations are reported to Council for adoption. 

2. BACKGROUND (& CONSULTATION)

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 abolished the previous Local Government Act 2000 code of conduct 
regime. The post 2000 Act regime consisted of a mandatory code of conduct and register of 
interests, prescribed investigation procedures, sanctions provisions that allowed for up to 
suspension locally and disbarment from being a councillor by a national Tribunal, and oversight 
by a government agency called Standards for England.

2.2 Instead, Councils must now have a code of conduct but are free to draft it in whatever form it 
wished provided that, when viewed as a whole, it is consistent with the seven principles of public 
life (sometimes known as the Nolan Principles).

2.3 Post 2011, the Council adopted a code made up of general provisions, largely the same as the 
previous code and was drafted in partnership with the Councils of Cambridgeshire. 

2.4 The Audit Committee in March of this year reviewed the code, and considered amendments to 
part 1 of the code.  A copy of its report is attached (Addendum A). It considered the following 
three options:

a) Option 1 – retain the existing Code as set out in Appendix 1 of the attached Audit Committee 
report;

b) Option 2 – amend the existing Code to replace part 1 of the code with the LGA template as 
set out in Appendix 2;

c) Option 3 – amend the existing Code to replace part 1 with the DCLG indicative code as set 
out in Appendix 3.

The Committee agreed to recommend that Council amends its Member Code of Conduct based 
on the DCLG model as set out in Addendum A (Appendix 3). 
 

3. IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Financial implications - there are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

65



3.2 Legal implications - the relevant legal or risk implications arising from the proposals are contained 
within the body of this report.

3.3 Equalities implications – there are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

4. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

4.1 All background documents used in the drafting of this report have been public documents and are 
largely referred to within the report.

5. APPENDICES

Addendum A – Audit Committee report and relevant appendices contained within.

66



ADDENDUM A

AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM NO. 

21 MARCH 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

Contact Officer(s): Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance Tel. 452361

THE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS AND CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance

1. It is recommended that the Audit Committee review three options as its preferred Code of 
Conduct for Members and select the appropriate Code to recommend for adoption at the 
Annual Council meeting: 

a) Option 1 - the existing Code of Conduct with a minor amendment on other interests at 
para. 9.2 as set out in Appendix A 

b) Option 2 – the amended Code of Conduct based on the Local Government Association 
model  as set out in Appendix B

c) Option 3 – the amended Code of Conduct based on the DCLG model as set out in 
Appendix C.

2. That the Audit Committee consider any comments from members to be tabled at the meeting 
prior to making their decision

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The Audit Committee on 22 September 2014, considered a report and recommendations 
from the Member working group on the Code of Conduct Review on proposals to revise the 
Code of Conduct. The Committee did not agree with the recommendations, and asked the 
Working Group to reconsider its recommendations.

1.2 The Code of Conduct for Members and Conduct Arrangements report is to be considered 
by the Audit Committee in line with its terms of reference 2.2.1.21 - Assisting the Council on 
the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The Council operates under the revised standards regime established under the Localism 
Act 2011. Like most authorities, the adoption of a revised code of conduct was introduced 
in a relatively short time-frame in collaboration with other authorities across 
Cambridgeshire. 

2.2 In 2014 the Code of Conduct Working Group was tasked with reviewing the effectiveness of 
this Code and recommended to the Audit Committee a revised Code based on the Local 
Government Association model.  The Audit Committee did not agree the recommendations 
and asked the Working Group to reconsider its recommendations.  This report puts further 
options to the Committee. 

67



3. ISSUES AND BACKGROUND 

BACKGROUND TO ADOPTION OF EXISTING CODE

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 did away with the previous Local Government Act 2000 regime, 
itself a radical departure from what went before. The post 2000 Act regime consisted of a 
mandatory code of conduct and register of interests, prescribed investigation procedures, 
sanctions provisions that allowed for up to suspension locally and disbarment from being a 
councillor by a national Tribunal, and oversight by a government agency called Standards 
for England.

3.2 Instead, councils must now have a code of conduct but are free to draft it in whatever form 
it wishes provided that, when viewed as a whole, it is consistent with the seven principles of 
public life (sometimes known as the Nolan Principles).

3.3 Similarly, councils are free to define what interests must be registered and how Members 
are to act when a conflict of interest arises, provided that there is a minimum standard set 
by the introduction of ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’ (known as DPI’s), differentiated from 
‘other interests’. Failure to abide by the registration of other interests or acting on a conflict 
of interests is a matter for the local code, but failure to comply with the DPI provisions was 
made a criminal offence.

3.4 Peterborough City Council adopted a code made up of general provisions, largely the same 
as the previous code and drafted in partnership with the councils of Cambridgeshire. The 
introduction sets out the principles of public life, part 1 sets out the general provisions and 
part 2 describes the types of interests that must be declared. 

CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW WORKING GROUP AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE’S 
DECISION

3.5 In 2014, a Code of Conduct Review Group was set up to look at the Council’s Members’ 
Code of Conduct to explore whether any changes were required.  It considered the 
following three options:

a) Option 1 – retain the existing Code as set out in Appendix 1

b) Option 2 – amend the existing Code to replace part 1 of the code with the LGA template 
as set out in Appendix 2

c) Option 3 – amend the existing Code to replace part 1 with the DCLG indicative code as 
set out in Appendix 3

3.6 The Audit Committee on 22 September 2014 received a report from the Review Group 
recommending its preferred option (Option 2). The Committee rejected its 
recommendations for the following reasons:

a) The LGA template was not best suited for PCC Members

b) The DCLG template should be given further consideration

c) The LGA template was too prescriptive in telling Members how to undertake their role 
such as in relation to their representation of the electorate

d) The LGA model was too repetitive in respect of the use of Nolan Principles and required 
a more meaningful approach.

68



3.7 Members of the Audit Committee requested the Code of Conduct Review Group to: 

a) revisit their recommendations over which Code of Conduct template to adopt

b) consider the comments above made by some Members of the Audit Committee in 
particular to the preferred DCLG Code of Conduct template; and 

c) share the outcome of the Code of Conduct review with each political party for comment 
prior to any formal adoption.

3.8 A meeting of the Review Group was due to be held on 3 March 2016, but due to 
unforeseen circumstances, the Group were unable to meet to consider the options. 
However, the Chair of Audit Committee was keen that a report on the preferred template 
should be agreed, that the three options should be circulated to Members for comment and 
a report including the options should be presented to Audit Committee on 21 March 2016.  
Members’ views will be reported to the Committee as a supplementary document.

INTEREST PROVISIONS OF THE CODE (PART 2)

3.9 The second part of the Code concerns Member interests and is split into “Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests” and “Other Interests” to register and declare.  Following a change in 
the descriptions of the Principles by the Committee of Standards in Public Life (CSPL) to 
clarify relationships with family and friends, it is recommended that whichever option is 
chosen, part 2 should be amended to include the following: “You should not act or take 
decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your 
family, or your friends. You must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships.” (para 9.2 in the current code)

3.10 This amendment will better reflect the discussion about bias. This change both guides 
Members more directly in being aware of their need to deal with any conflict between their 
role as Member and any personal interest and, crucially for this discussion, means that 
acting other than in accordance with this principle would not just be an issue for the Council 
as a body but would be treated as a breach of the Code by the individual concerned. 

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 There has been consultation with Members of the Council as described above.

4.2 Each of the Members of the Review Group were appointed on behalf of their political 
groups, acting as a conduit for further discussion within those groups to whatever extent 
each Member felt appropriate.

5. IMPLICATIONS

5.1. There are no significant financial implications arising from this paper.
 
5.2. The relevant legal or risk implications arising from the proposals are contained within the 

body of this report 

6. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.1. All background documents used in the drafting of this report have been public documents 
and are largely referred to within the report.

7. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Option 1 – the existing Code with amendments to Part 2 

69



Appendix 2 -- Option 2 – Code based on LGA template

Appendix 3 -- Option 3 –Code based on DCLG indicative code 

70



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

Appendix 1 – Existing code with amendments to Part 2

Members’ Code of Conduct 

Peterborough City Council

71



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/1
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

The Members’ Code of Conduct is intended to promote high standards of behaviour 
amongst the elected and co-opted members of the council.

The Code is underpinned by the following principles of public life, which should be borne in 
mind, when interpreting the meaning of the Code:

i. Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

ii. Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.  They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships.

iii. Objectivity 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

iv. Accountability 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

v. Openness 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

vi. Honesty 
Holders of public office should be truthful.

vii. Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.   They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

72



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/2
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 1
GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Introduction and Interpretation

1.1. This Code applies to you as a member of Peterborough City Council (“PCC”).  It is 
your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

1.2. In this code –

“Member" 
means any person being an elected or co-opted member of the PCC and any 
independent person appointed by PCC to assist with the discharge of the ethical 
standards functions. 

“Meeting” 
means any meeting of

a)  PCC;

b) The executive of PCC (including the making of decisions by cabinet members);

c) Any of PCC’s committees, executive committees, sub-committees, joint 
committees, joint sub-committees, or area committees;

d) Any of PCC’s advisory groups and executive boards

“Pending Notification” 
means the interest has been notified to the Council’s Borough Solicitor, but has not 
been entered in the Register; 

“Register” 
means the register of Member’s and co-opted Member’s interests, maintained by the 
Monitoring Officer
 
“Relevant Authority” 
includes any county council in England, a district council, a London borough council, 
a parish council and the Greater London Authority.

73



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/3
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

2. Scope

2.1. You must comply with this Code whenever you act, claim to act or give the 
impression you are acting as a Member of PCC. 

2.2. Where you act as a representative of PCC:

(a) on another Relevant Authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, 
comply with that other authority's code of conduct or; 

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with  
this code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful 
obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

3. General Obligations 

3.1. You must treat others with respect. 

3.2. You must not:

(a) do anything which may cause PCC to breach the Equality Act 2010

(b) bully any person 

(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be:

(i) a complainant;
(ii) a witness; or
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, 

in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) has failed 
to comply with this code of conduct

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of 
those who work for, or on behalf of, PCC

4. You must not:

4.1. disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired 
by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential 
nature, except where:

(a) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

(b) you are required by law to do so;

(c) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 
professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the 
information to any other person; or 

(d) the disclosure is:

74



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/4
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

(i) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
(ii) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements 

of PCC; or 

4.2. prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is 
entitled by law. 

5. You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or PCC into disrepute. 

6. You must:

6.1. not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to confer on, or 
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; and 

6.2. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of PCC:

(a) act in accordance with PCC's reasonable requirements;

(b) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes); and 

6.3. have regard to any Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 
Government Act 1986. 

7. You must:

7.1 when reaching decisions on any matter, have regard to any relevant advice provided  
by:

(a) PCC's chief finance officer; or 

(b) PCC's monitoring officer, 

where that officer is acting pursuant to their statutory duties. 

7.2 give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and any 
reasonable additional requirements imposed by PCC. 

75



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/5
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 2 
INTERESTS 

8. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

8.1. Disclosable pecuniary interests are specified in the table below:

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from PCC) for any expenses incurred by you in 
carrying out your duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract with PCC:

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and

(b)  which has not been fully discharged.

This includes a contract between PCC and any body in 
which you, or a person specified in paragraph 8.2(b) below, 
has a beneficial interest

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within PCC’s area 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the PCC’s area for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge):

(a)  the landlord is PCC; and

(b) the tenant is a body in which you, or a person listed in 
paragraph 8.2(b) below, has a beneficial interest

76



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/6
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:

(a)  that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business 
or land in PCC’s area; and

(b)  either:

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that body; or 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
in which the person in paragraph 8.2 (below) has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

8.2 You must declare an interest if: 

(a) it is your interest, or 

(b) it is an interest of: 

(i) your spouse or civil partner; 
(ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 
(iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 

and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

9. Other Disclosable Interests

9.1. You must declare the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £100.

9.2. “You should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for yourself, your family, or your friends. You must declare 
and resolve any interests and relationships.”

10. Registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Interests 

10.1. Subject to paragraph 12 below (sensitive interests), you must, within 28 days of: 

(a) this Code being adopted or applied by PCC; or 

(b) your election or appointment (where that is later)

77



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/7
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any disclosable pecuniary interests and 
other interests you have at that time.

10.2. Subject to paragraph 12 below (sensitive interests) you must, within 28 days of 
becoming aware of any new disclosable pecuniary or other interest or any change to 
any such interest, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of that new pecuniary 
interest or change. 

11. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in Matters Considered at Meetings or by a 
Single Member 

11.1. If you attend a meeting and are aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
in any matter to be considered at that meeting:

(a) if the interest is not entered in the register of members’ interests you must 
disclose to the meeting the fact that you have a disclosable pecuniary or other 
interest in that matter

(b) if you have not already done so, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest before the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure, 
and

(c) whether the interest is registered or not you must not unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer to participate, or 
participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 

(d) whether the interest is registered or not you must not, unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Audit Committee participate in any vote, or 
further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting. 

11.2 Single Member Action 

If you are empowered to discharge functions acting alone, and are aware that you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest in any matter being dealt with, 
you must not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except for 
the purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you). 

If the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is not entered in the Register and is not subject 
to a Pending Notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest before the end of 28 days, beginning with the date of when you 
became aware of the matter

12. Sensitive Interests

12.1. Where you consider (and the Monitoring Officer agrees) that the nature of a 
disclosable pecuniary or other interest is such that disclosure of the details of the 
interest could lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to 
intimidation or violence, it is a “sensitive interest” for the purposes of the Code and 

78



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/8
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

the details of the sensitive interest do not need to be disclosed to a meeting, 
although the fact that you have a sensitive interest must be disclosed.

PART 3
RELATED DOCUMENTS

The following documents also provide guidance on the Standards of Conduct expected of 
members and can assist in the interpretation of this Code of Conduct.  These documents 
can be found in the Council’s Constitution.

1. The Audit Committee Rules of Procedure set out the arrangements for dealing with 
an alleged breach of this Code

2. PCC’s Planning Code of Conduct deals specifically with the Code of Conduct within 
the remit of the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 

3. PCC’s Social Media Code for members and officers sets out appropriate behaviour 
when undertaking Council business through social media

4. PCC’s Member/Officer Protocol sets out how members and officers should work 
together 

5. The procedures under which registration and declaration of interests, gifts and 
hospitality are to be made are set out in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy.

79



This page is intentionally left blank

80



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

Appendix 2 final version based on LGA model  

Members’ Code of Conduct 

Peterborough City Council

81



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/1
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

The Members’ Code of Conduct is intended to promote high standards of behaviour 
amongst the elected and co-opted members of the council.

The Code is underpinned by the following principles of public life, which should be borne in 
mind, when interpreting the meaning of the Code:

i. Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

ii. Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.  They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships.

iii. Objectivity 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

iv. Accountability 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

v. Openness 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

vi. Honesty 
Holders of public office should be truthful.

vii. Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.   They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

82



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/2
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 1
GENERAL PROVISIONS

As a Member of Peterborough City Council, my conduct will in particular address the 
statutory principles of the Code of Conduct by: 
 
 Championing the needs of residents – the whole community and in a special way my 

constituents, including those who did not vote for me - and putting their interests first. 

 Dealing with representations or enquiries from residents, members of our communities 
and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 

 Not allowing other pressures, including the financial interests of myself or others 
connected to me, to deter me from pursuing constituents' casework, the interests of the 
[county][borough][Authority's area] or the good governance of the authority in a proper 
manner. 

 Exercising independent judgement and not compromising my position by placing myself 
under obligations to outside individuals or organisations who might seek to influence the 
way I perform my duties as a member/co-opted member of this authority. 

 Listening to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from statutory and 
other professional officers, taking all relevant information into consideration, remaining 
objective and making decisions on merit. 

 Being accountable for my decisions and co-operating when scrutinised internally and 
externally, including by local residents.

 Contributing to making this authority’s decision-making processes as open and 
transparent as possible to enable residents to understand the reasoning behind those 
decisions and to be informed when holding me and other members to account but 
restricting access to information when the wider public interest or the law requires it 

 Behaving in accordance with all our legal obligations, alongside any requirements 
contained within this authority’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on the use 
of the Authority’s resources. 

 Valuing my colleagues and staff and engaging with them in an appropriate manner and 
one that underpins the mutual respect between us that is essential to good local 
government. 

 Always treating people with respect, including the organisations and public I engage 
with and those I work alongside. 

 Providing leadership through behaving in accordance with these principles when 
championing the interests of the community with other organisations as well as within 
this authority.

83



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/3
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 2 
INTERESTS 

1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

1.1. Disclosable pecuniary interests are specified in the table below:

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from PCC) for any expenses incurred by you in 
carrying out your duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract with PCC:

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and

(b)  which has not been fully discharged.

This includes a contract between PCC and any body in 
which you, or a person specified in paragraph 8.2(b) below, 
has a beneficial interest

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within PCC’s area 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the PCC’s area for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge):

(a)  the landlord is PCC; and

(b) the tenant is a body in which you, or a person listed in 
paragraph 8.2(b) below, has a beneficial interest

84



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/4
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:

(a)  that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business 
or land in PCC’s area; and

(b)  either:

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that body; or 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
in which the person in paragraph 8.2 (below) has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

1.2. You must declare an interest if: 

(a) it is your interest, or 

(b) it is an interest of: 

(i) your spouse or civil partner; 
(ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 
(iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 

and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

2. Other Disclosable Interests

2.1. You must declare the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £100.

2.2. You should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and 
resolve any interests and relationships

3. Registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Interests 

3.1. Subject to paragraph 5 below (sensitive interests), you must, within 28 days of: 

(a) this Code being adopted or applied by PCC; or 

(b) your election or appointment (where that is later)

85



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/5
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any disclosable pecuniary interests and 
other interests you have at that time.

3.2. Subject to paragraph 5 below (sensitive interests) you must, within 28 days of 
becoming aware of any new disclosable pecuniary or other interest or any change to 
any such interest, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of that new pecuniary 
interest or change. 

4. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in Matters Considered at Meetings or by a 
Single Member 

4.1. If you attend a meeting and are aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
in any matter to be considered at that meeting:

(a) if the interest is not entered in the register of members’ interests you must 
disclose to the meeting the fact that you have a disclosable pecuniary or other 
interest in that matter

(b) if you have not already done so, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest before the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure, 
and

(c) whether the interest is registered or not you must not unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer to participate, or 
participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 

(d) whether the interest is registered or not you must not, unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Audit Committee participate in any vote, or 
further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting. 

4.2. Single Member Action 

If you are empowered to discharge functions acting alone, and are aware that you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest in any matter being dealt with, 
you must not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except for 
the purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you). 

If the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is not entered in the Register and is not subject 
to a Pending Notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest before the end of 28 days, beginning with the date of when you 
became aware of the matter

5. Sensitive Interests

5.1. Where you consider (and the Monitoring Officer agrees) that the nature of a 
disclosable pecuniary or other interest is such that disclosure of the details of the 
interest could lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to 
intimidation or violence, it is a “sensitive interest” for the purposes of the Code and 

86



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/6
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

the details of the sensitive interest do not need to be disclosed to a meeting, 
although the fact that you have a sensitive interest must be disclosed.

PART 3
RELATED DOCUMENTS

The following documents also provide guidance on the Standards of Conduct expected of 
members and can assist in the interpretation of this Code of Conduct.  These documents 
can be found in the Council’s Constitution.

1. The Audit Committee Rules of Procedure set out the arrangements for dealing with 
an alleged breach of this Code

2. PCC’s Planning Code of Conduct deals specifically with the Code of Conduct within 
the remit of the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 

3. PCC’s Social Media Code for members and officers sets out appropriate behaviour 
when undertaking Council business through social media

4. PCC’s Member/Officer Protocol sets out how members and officers should work 
together 

5. The procedures under which registration and declaration of interests, gifts and 
hospitality are to be made are set out in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy.

87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

Appendix 3 –final version based on the DCLG model 

Members’ Code of Conduct 

Peterborough City Council

89



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/1
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

The Members’ Code of Conduct is intended to promote high standards of behaviour 
amongst the elected and co-opted members of the council.

The Code is underpinned by the following principles of public life, which should be borne in 
mind, when interpreting the meaning of the Code:

i. Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

ii. Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.  They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships.

iii. Objectivity 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

iv. Accountability 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

v. Openness 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

vi. Honesty 
Holders of public office should be truthful.

vii. Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.   They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

90



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/2
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 1
GENERAL PROVISIONS

You are a member or co-opted member of Peterborough City Council and hence you shall 
have regard to the following principles – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership.

Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a member or co-opted member - 

You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an advantage 
or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, 
your family, a friend or close associate.

You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties.

When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making public 
appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits, on 
merit.

You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate fully with 
whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.

You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the decisions and 
actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons for those decisions and 
actions.

You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that relate to 
your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects 
the public interest, including registering and declaring interests in a manner conforming with 
the procedures set out in the box below.

You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority, 
ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including party 
political purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of 
Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.

You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your public post, 
in particular as characterised by the above requirements, by leadership and example.

Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests

You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, notify your 
authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as defined by regulations 
made by the Secretary of State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil 
partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are living with as a 
husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners.

91



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/3
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 
notify your authority’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest which your authority has decided should be included in the register.

If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the member must 
disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they are present, where they 
have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the matter is not a 
‘sensitive interest’.1

Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or the subject of 
pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 28 days 
beginning with the date of disclosure.

Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, vote 
on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a pecuniary interest 
as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State.  Additionally, your must observe 
the restrictions your authority places on your involvement in matters where you have a 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by your authority.

1 A ‘sensitive interest’ is described in the Localism Act 2011 as a member or co-opted member of an authority having an interest, and the nature of the 
interest being such that the member or co-opted member, and the authority’s monitoring officer, consider that disclosure of the details of the 
interest could lead to the member or co-opted member, or a person connected with the member or co-opted member, being subject to violence or 
intimidation.

92



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/4
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

PART 2 
INTERESTS 

1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

1.1. Disclosable pecuniary interests are specified in the table below:

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from PCC) for any expenses incurred by you in 
carrying out your duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract with PCC:

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and

(b)  which has not been fully discharged.

This includes a contract between PCC and any body in 
which you, or a person specified in paragraph 8.2(b) below, 
has a beneficial interest

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within PCC’s area 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the PCC’s area for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge):

(a)  the landlord is PCC; and

(b) the tenant is a body in which you, or a person listed in 
paragraph 8.2(b) below, has a beneficial interest

93



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/5
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:

(a)  that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business 
or land in PCC’s area; and

(b)  either:

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that body; or 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
in which the person in paragraph 8.2 (below) has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

1.2. You must declare an interest if: 

(a) it is your interest, or 

(b) it is an interest of: 

(i) your spouse or civil partner; 
(ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 
(iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 

and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

2. Other Disclosable Interests

2.1. You must declare the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £100.

2.2. You should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and 
resolve any interests and relationships

3. Registration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Interests 

3.1. Subject to paragraph 5 below (sensitive interests), you must, within 28 days of: 

(a) this Code being adopted or applied by PCC; or 

94



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/6
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

(b) your election or appointment (where that is later)

notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any disclosable pecuniary interests and 
other interests you have at that time.

3.2. Subject to paragraph 5 below (sensitive interests) you must, within 28 days of 
becoming aware of any new disclosable pecuniary or other interest or any change to 
any such interest, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of that new pecuniary 
interest or change. 

4. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in Matters Considered at Meetings or by a 
Single Member 

4.1. If you attend a meeting and are aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
in any matter to be considered at that meeting:

(a) if the interest is not entered in the register of members’ interests you must 
disclose to the meeting the fact that you have a disclosable pecuniary or other 
interest in that matter

(b) if you have not already done so, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest before the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure, 
and

(c) whether the interest is registered or not you must not unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer to participate, or 
participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 

(d) whether the interest is registered or not you must not, unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from the Audit Committee participate in any vote, or 
further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting. 

4.2. Single Member Action 

If you are empowered to discharge functions acting alone, and are aware that you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest in any matter being dealt with, 
you must not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except for 
the purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you). 

If the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is not entered in the Register and is not subject 
to a Pending Notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest before the end of 28 days, beginning with the date of when you 
became aware of the matter

5. Sensitive Interests

5.1. Where you consider (and the Monitoring Officer agrees) that the nature of a 
disclosable pecuniary or other interest is such that disclosure of the details of the 
interest could lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to 

95



Part 5, Section 1 – Members’ Code of Conduct

5/7
Issue date April 2013

Version 004

intimidation or violence, it is a “sensitive interest” for the purposes of the Code and 
the details of the sensitive interest do not need to be disclosed to a meeting, 
although the fact that you have a sensitive interest must be disclosed.

PART 3
RELATED DOCUMENTS

The following documents also provide guidance on the Standards of Conduct expected of 
members and can assist in the interpretation of this Code of Conduct.  These documents 
can be found in the Council’s Constitution.

1. The Audit Committee Rules of Procedure set out the arrangements for dealing with 
an alleged breach of this Code

2. PCC’s Planning Code of Conduct deals specifically with the Code of Conduct within 
the remit of the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 

3. PCC’s Social Media Code for members and officers sets out appropriate behaviour 
when undertaking Council business through social media

4. PCC’s Member/Officer Protocol sets out how members and officers should work 
together 

5. The procedures under which registration and declaration of interests, gifts and 
hospitality are to be made are set out in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy.

96



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 13(c)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

CONSTITUTION: MAJOR POLICY FRAMEWORK 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM :  Director of Governance 

The Council is asked to approve amendments to the Major Policy Framework (Part 3 Delegations – 
Section 1 – Functions Reserved to Council) in Appendix 1.

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to Council from the Monitoring Officer who has a duty to keep the 
Constitution up-to-date.

1.2 The Major Policy Framework under Part 3 Section 1 of the Constitution should be reviewed 
periodically to take account of changes in legislation and in current policies produced by the 
Council. The framework has been reviewed and the Council is asked to agree the updated 
Budget and Policy Framework (Appendix 1).

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Major Policy Framework lists those policies and strategies that are reserved for 
approval by full Council.  The framework is split into three categories: 

(1) Plans reserved to Council by Law 
(2) Plans required by Statute and included by Local Choice (ie they can either be a 

Council or Executive function) 
(3) Plans reserved to Council by Local Choice

2.2 The Framework has been reviewed. Policies need to be added due to a change in law or 
because plans have previously been agreed by Council  There are also a number of very 
old plans that are not required by law, or are no longer produced by the Council, or have 
been replaced by or amalgamated with other plans or strategies. 

2.3 Paragraph 1.2 under Part 3 Section 1 “functions referred to Council” deals with budget and 
financial functions. The medium term financial strategy and council tax subsidy are now 
approved by Council and have been added to section 1.2.1-2.

2.4 The revised Major Policy Framework under Section 1 Part 3 of the Constitution is attached 
at Appendix 1. 

3. CONSULTATION

3.1 The Member/Officer Working Group has been consulted on the proposed changes to the 
Major Policy Framework.  

4. IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Financial Implications - There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

4.2 Legal Implications - Those plans/strategies reserved to Council by law are set out in the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, Schedule 3.  

97



Council also has discretion regarding which plans and strategies it would like to include 
within its major policy framework.

4.3 The purpose of the major policy framework is to provide the parameters within which the 
executive must operate when making their decisions.

4.4 Equalities implications – There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

5.1 None.

6. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Major Policy Framework

98



3/1 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

Appendix 1

AB

Part 3 - Delegations

99



Part 3, Delegations Section 1 - Functions Reserved to the Council 

3/2 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

Introduction

This part of the Constitution sets out the Council’s terms of reference and delegation 
arrangements in accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 and relevant statutory 
regulations.  The decision-making framework consists of three elements:

 Functions reserved to the Council, and more minor functions which the will usually be 
carried out by officers under delegated authority on behalf of the Council;

 Functions carried out by Regulatory Committees and by delegation to officers, in 
accordance with the Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972;

 All other functions are known as ‘Executive functions’ and are carried out by the Cabinet, 
member of the Cabinet, a Committee of Cabinet Members, an officer or a joint arrangement 
with another authority.

Decisions taken by the Executive may not be over-ruled by the Council, provided they are within 
the Council’s approved major Policy Framework and Budgetary provision.  They may, however, 
be studied by the Scrutiny committee/commission which has a specific responsibility to 
scrutinise and, in occasional circumstances, call-in a decision for re-consideration by the 
Executive.

In the case of the Regulatory Committees, most of the issues dealt with are applications for 
licences, planning permissions, and registration matters, and their decisions are not subjected 
to a call-in procedure except in relation to planning where a matter can be referred to the 
Planning Review Committee to determine.  In relation to any decision taken by a Committee 
(other than in relation to the determination of planning matters) the Council can refer the 
decision back to the Committee.

All decisions made are subject to the rights of third parties acquired as a result of those 
decisions.  For example, the Council would be bound by the acceptance of a tender under 
delegated powers or a planning permission where the decision notice has been issued.

An officer's decision shall, where matters of substantial importance are involved, be reported to 
the Executive or to the next ordinary meeting of the appropriate committee. Should Members 
wish to question any specific delegation exercised by any officer, then they should contact the 
Leader who may refer the matter to the Chief Executive or the Director of Governance.  If they 
are unable to resolve the matter it will be referred to the Cabinet or a Committee, depending 
upon the nature of the issue, where the Member questioning the exercise of the delegation will 
state their case.

Where any delegation under this part of the Constitution refers to specific legislation or 
regulations, it includes a reference to that legislation or those regulations as re-enacted, 
consolidated, modified or amended. 

100



Part 3, Delegations Section 1 - Functions Reserved to the Council 

3/3 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

Section 1 – Functions Reserved to the Council
1.1  Policy Functions

1.1.1 To make, amend, revoke or re-enact bye-laws, and to promote or oppose local or 
personal Bills.

1.1.2 To make an order identifying a place as a designated public place for the purposes of 
police powers in relation to alcohol consumption.  

1.1.3 To determine matters that are the responsibility of the Executive, which are outside the 
agreed policy framework or budget and are not covered by one of the exemptions listed 
in the Executive Procedure Rules, set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

1.1.4 To adopt, approve and revoke the following plans and strategies, which comprise the 
Council’s Major Policy Framework:

Plans reserved to Council by Law 

(a) Safer Peterborough Partnership Plan (to include Youth Justice Plan and 
Reduced Reoffending Strategy1) 

(b) Local Transport Plan (to include Long Term Transport Plan2)
(c) Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Development Framework 
(d) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
(e) Statement of Licensing Policy under s5 of the Licensing Act 2003
(f) Licensing Authority Policy Statement under s349 of the Gambling Act 2005
(g) Pay Policy Statement

Plans required by statute and included by local choice

(a) Neighbourhood development plans and neighbourhood development orders
(b) Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
(c) Flood Risk Management Strategy
(d) Housing Strategy (to include the Housing Strategic Tenancy Policy3)
(e) Homelessness Strategy 
(f) The Housing Register Allocations Policy

Plans included by local choice

(a) Corporate Priorities
(b) Trees and Woodlands Strategy
(c) Culture Strategy 
(d) Biodiversity Strategy
(e) Home of Environment Capital Major Policy 2010 and Environment Capital Action 

Plan

1 Reduced Reoffending Strategy is required by law and is included in framework by local choice
2 Long Term Transport Plan is included by local choice
3 Housing Strategic Tenancy Policy is required by law and Housing Strategy is included by local choice

101



Part 3, Delegations Section 1 - Functions Reserved to the Council 

3/4 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

(f) Any other plan or strategy that must be approved by the authority and submitted 
to the Secretary of State or a Minister of the Crown for approval

1.1.5 To instigate major reviews of policy and co-ordinate the work of the Executive and 
Committees.

1.1.6 To manage and review the performance of the Council within stated policy.

1.2 Budget and Financial Functions

1.2.1 To approve the Annual Budget, including:

(a) the budget strategy for both revenue and capital spending;
(b) capital and revenue estimates in accordance with the budget strategy;
(c) the annual review of fees and charges;
(d) the annual council tax and related matters in respect of the tax base, Collection 

Fund and Council tax subsidy.

1.2.2 To approve the Medium Term Financial Strategy, including
(a) the treasury management strategy;
(b) the capital strategy;
(c) the Asset Management Plan.

1.2.3 To determine statutory borrowing limits and the Council’s Investment strategy.

1.2.4 To determine the choice of the Council’s main bank.

1.2.5 To determine matters relating to local government pensions, where these are not 
delegated to officers, in accordance with regulations made under the Superannuation 
Act 1972.

1.2.6 To make proper arrangements for the administration of the Council’s financial affairs, 
where these are not delegated to officers, in accordance with section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

1.2.7 To approve the Statement of Accounts, in accordance with Regulation 8 of the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996.

1.3 Constitutional, Operational and Ceremonial Functions

1.3.1 To adopt and review this Constitution and determine any changes to it (other than 
consequential changes which may be made by the Monitoring Officer).

1.3.2 To determine the scheme of payment of allowances to Members.

1.3.3 To make any appointments to other bodies not approved through delegated authority.

1.3.4 To make appointments to Committees, other than those covered by other delegations.

1.3.5 To appoint the Leader.

1.3.6 To appoint the Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

102



Part 3, Delegations Section 1 - Functions Reserved to the Council 

3/5 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

1.3.7 To appoint, discipline or dismiss the Chief Executive. 

1.3.8 To appoint ‘proper officers’ for particular purposes including the Head of Paid Service, 
the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 

1.3.9 To confer the title of Honorary Alderman, or award the Freedom of the City.

1.3.10 To adopt the Petitions Scheme and determine any changes to it.

1.4 Election and Parish Functions

1.4.1 To appoint an electoral registration officer.

1.4.2 To appoint a returning officer for local government elections.

1.4.3 To determine functions in relation to parishes and Parish Councils.

1.4.4 To conduct reviews of parishing arrangements, including dissolving small Parish 
Councils, making orders for (or dissolving or separating) groups of parishes or creating 
parishes, or changing the name of a parish.

1.4.5 To divide constituencies and electoral divisions into polling districts.

1.4.6 To pay expenses properly incurred by electoral registration officers.

1.4.7 To fill electoral vacancies in the event of there being insufficient nominations.

1.4.8 To determine whether to submit an application to the Secretary of State for a pilot 
electoral scheme for local elections.

1.4.9 To determine any proposals to change the name of the Council.

1.5 Delegations to Officers

1.5.1 The Chief Executive is authorised to undertake functions in respect of holding 
elections, to assign officers in relation to requisitions of the electoral registration officer 
and to appoint deputy electoral registration officers.

1.5.2 The Chief Executive is required to provide assistance at European Parliamentary 
elections.

1.5.3 The Chief Executive is authorised to:

(a) declare a vacancy in office in certain cases;
(b) give public notice of a casual vacancy;
(c) make temporary appointments to Parish Councils.

1.5.4 The Chief Executive is authorised to make payments or provide other benefits, in 
consultation with the Cabinet, and either the Scrutiny Committees or Council (as 
appropriate), in cases of maladministration.

103



Part 3, Delegations Section 1 - Functions Reserved to the Council 

3/6 
Issue date April 2015

Version 009

1.5.5 The Director of Governance is authorised to determine fees and conditions for the 
supply of copies of, or extracts from, electoral documents.

1.5.6 The Director of Governance is authorised to make appointments to partnerships and 
outside organisations where they have been agreed in accordance with the Council’s 
approved procedure set out at Part 4 of this Constitution.

104



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 13(d)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Chair of the Audit Committee

That Council notes the work carried out by the Audit Committee in improving the governance 
arrangements across the Council.

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 This report refers to and contains, at Appendix 1, an Annual Audit Committee Report for 
2015 / 2016. The Annual Report shows the Audit Committee has successfully met fulfilled 
its terms of reference and has helped to improve the Council’s governance and control 
environments. 

2. BACKGROUND AND CONSULTATION

2.1 The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference and best practice as contained in the CIPFA 
document “A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees” require the Audit Committee to 
complete an annual report. A copy the Annual Report is attached at Appendix 1. It shows 
key information relating to the Committee, its achievements during the year and key targets 
going forward.

2.2 The report was discussed in draft at the latest Audit Committee (21 March 2016) to reflect 
on its business for the Municipal Year. Following its agreement, the report is presented to 
Council to raise the awareness of the works of the Committee in scrutinising and 
challenging the processes in place to govern the organisation.

3. IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Financial implications - There are no financial implications and the preparation of the report 
is in line with best practice.

3.2 Legal implications - Good governance is wholly related to the achievement of the objectives 
in the Councils Plan.

3.3 Equalities implications – There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

4. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

 “A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees”, CIPFA, IPF, 2006
 Audit Committee agendas and minutes

5. APPENDICES
 

Appendix 1: Audit Committee Annual Report 2015/16

105



This page is intentionally left blank

106



APPENDIX 1

ANNUAL REPORT FROM
THE CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

2015 / 2016

Assurance

Governance

Accountability

Risk Management

Independence

107



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ANNUAL REPORT 2015 / 2016

INTRODUCTION

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

KEY ACTIVITIES AND TRAINING DURING THE MUNICIPAL YEAR

PLANS FOR 2016 / 2017

108



FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

I am pleased to provide the Audit Committee's Annual Report for the municipal year 2015 / 2016.  The 
Council is requested to note the work carried out by the Audit Committee in improving the governance 
arrangements across the Council. 

The report shows how the Audit Committee has continued to make a positive contribution to the Council's 
governance and control environments. These cover all aspects, such as internal control; risk management; 
internal audit; anti-fraud; external audit; and financial reporting. In addition, it also covers the remit of 
Member standards.

I would like to take this opportunity to give thanks to Committee Members and Officers for their 
contribution in supporting the Audit Committee’s work during the year and my role as Chairman. Audit 
Committee Members have supported and challenged officers to ensure our risk, control and governance 
processes are effective and transparent. Officers have presented well-prepared reports and taken on 
suggestions to make sure the benefits of this Committee are passed onto our citizens. 

Going forward, 2016 / 2017 will be a testing time for all Councils with the resources available becoming 
more important. How we risk manage our priorities, resources and partnerships will be vital, 
notwithstanding the risk of fraud. The Audit Committee holds a unique position to challenge and scrutinise 
the activities of the Council, with the support of Officers and my fellow Councillors, long may this continue. 

INTRODUCTION

This is the 7th annual report produced by Peterborough City Council's Audit Committee. It is produced in 
accordance with latest best practice1 and shows that the Council is committed to working as an exemplary 
organisation, operating the highest standards of governance. This report demonstrates how the Audit 
Committee has successfully fulfilled its terms of reference and has endeavoured to improve the Council's 
governance and control environments.

The Audit Committee was established by the City Council at its meeting in May 2006. Following its first year 
of operation, the membership was reduced from 10 to 7 members. This has subsequently been increased 
to 8 in 2015/16.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the authority's 
financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the Authority's exposure to risks and 
weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process.

The key benefits of an Audit Committee can be seen as:

 Raising greater awareness of the need for internal control and the implementation of both 
internal and external audit recommendations;

 Increasing public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of financial and other reporting;
 Reinforcing the importance and independence of internal and external audit and similar review 

processes; and
 Providing additional assurance through a process of independent and objective review.

The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee can be found at Annex A of this report.

1 Best practice as contained in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document "A Toolkit 
for Local Authority Audit Committees"

109



This report sets out the work undertaken by the Audit Committee for 2015 / 2016 and specifically highlights 
those areas where its scrutiny and review process has made a difference to performance. The Audit 
Committee has overseen good progress in all areas under its supervision.

Audit Committee members have received training on key issues throughout the year, and further details of 
this can be found later in this report.

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

During 2015 / 2016, the Audit Committee met on the following dates:

 29 June 2015
 21 September 2015 
 9 November 2015
 8 February 2016
 21 March 2016

There is a cross representation of all parties in accordance with the make-up of the Council. The members 
for 2015 / 2016 were (excluding substitutes):
Table 1: Audit Committee Membership 2015 / 2016:

Conservative Peterborough 
Independent 
Forum

UKIP Liberal Democrats Labour Werrington 
First

Aitken (Chair)
Over (Vice 
Chair)
Scott

Sharp F Fox Shaheed Sylvester Lane

In July 2015, there was a changed to the Audit Committee membership as Councillor Coles stood down due 
to his appointment to Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.  The subsequent vacant position was taken 
up by Councillor Scott and at its meeting on 14 October 2015, Council appointed Councillor Aitken as 
Chairman and Councillor Over as Vice Chairman of Audit Committee.

Senior officers from the Council are also present, including the Director of Governance, Corporate Director 
Resources, Service Director Financial Services, Chief Internal Auditor and the Head of Resilience. Dependent 
on the subject matter on the agendas, other officers will attend in addition to external representation from 
the Councils' External Auditor and Relationship Manager. 

KEY ACTIVITIES AND TRAINING DURING THE MUNICIPAL YEAR

Background

The Audit Committee's original terms of reference covers 6 main areas:

- Internal Audit
- Internal Control and Corporate Governance
- Annual Accounts
- Risk management
- External Audit
- Counter Fraud and Irregularities

110



Following abolition of the national Standards regime, Members Code of Conduct was then incorporated 
into the Terms of Reference for this Committee.

Internal Audit

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a summary of internal 
audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the council's corporate 
governance arrangements. 

2.2.1.2 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

2.2.1.3 To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal audit 
services. 

2.2.1.4 To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within a 
reasonable timescale 

2.2.1.9 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

29 June 2015
 Effectiveness of Internal Audit. Each year, as part of the production of the Annual Governance 

Statement which accompanies the Accounts, the Audit Committee also reviewed the effectiveness 
of the system of internal audit noting planned actions to address any areas of partial compliance. In 
addition, comparisons were made with the new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

 Annual Audit Opinion. Internal Audit produces an Annual Audit Plan which forms the basis of their 
audit activity. Progress is noted throughout the year and an independent annual report is produced 
highlighting assurances obtained across the organisation as well as any misgivings into the 
effectiveness of controls. The report also sets out the teams’ performance. Where standards have 
not been maintained across the Council, Audit Committee are provided with Executive Summaries 
of Audit reports for further scrutiny. Internal Audit concluded that they were able to provide 
reasonable assurance based on the work reviewed in the year.

9 November 2015
 Internal Audit Mid-Year Opinion. The Audit Committee received a half year progress report 

highlighting internal audit performance against targets and quality assurance results to enable it to 
review and comment on the work and performance of internal audit. Any areas reviewed which are 
considered to be weak or requiring attention following Internal Audit activity can result in officers 
from across the Council being held to account. Similarly, this has been used for officers to explain 
the non-implementation of recommendations.

21 March 2016
 Annual Audit Plan. Audit Committee received the 2016/17 Internal Audit Plans.
 Effectiveness of the Audit Committee. An internal assessment of the workings of the committee 

was undertaken. A number of minor changes were proposed to improve.

Internal Control and Corporate Governance

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a summary of 
internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the council's 
corporate governance arrangements. 

2.2.1.5 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those charged with 
governance. 

111



2.2.1.10 Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.11 To maintain an overview of the Council's constitution in respect of contract procedure rules, and 
Financial Regulations. 

2.2.1.12 To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council body. 

2.2.1.15 To oversee the production of the authority's Annual Governance Statement and to recommend its 
adoption. 

2.2.1.16 To consider the council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary actions to 
ensure compliance with best practice. 

  
29 June 2015

 Draft Annual Governance Statement. A key role of the Audit Committee is to oversee the 
Authority’s control environment and its associated system of internal controls and assurance 
processes. The Audit Committee must satisfy itself that the Authority’s assurance statements, in 
particular the Annual Governance Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions 
needed to improve it. This is done through receiving and scrutinising reports on the relevant areas 
and calling officers to account where necessary.

 Audit Committee reviewed the draft Annual Governance Statement on 29 June 2015, noting areas 
for improvement following a review of internal controls, risk management arrangements and 
significant governance issues. The Committee agreed to final changes to the Statement prior to its 
inclusion in the Statement of Accounts.

9 November 2015
 Use of Consultants. Following the review of consultants used by the Council in 2010 it was 

recommended and agreed that Audit Committee would monitor progress. The Committee received 
an update in November 2015. Following the update, Audit Committee requested further 
information in relation to the associated costs and the relationships of each project that had been 
supported by a consultant.  

Annual Accounts

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.17 Accounts 

2.2.1.18 To review the annual statement of accounts, specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting 
policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from 
the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the council. 

2.2.1.19 To consider the external auditors report to those charged with governance on issues arising from the 
audit of the accounts. 

29 June 2015
 Budget Monitoring: Final Outturn 2014 / 2015 and Statement of Accounts. Audit Committee 

reviewed and scrutinised the outturn and Statement of Account on 29 June 2015 prior to its 
submission to the external auditors for audit. The Committee reviewed and commented on the 
Statement of Accounts prior to the Chief Finance Officer’s (Sec 151 Officer) certification by the 30 
June 2015 the Statement of Accounts for 2014 / 2015 and authorised its signing by the Chairman. 

21 September 2015
 Following scrutiny by External Audit, the Audit of Statement of Accounts and Report to those 

charged with Governance was submitted to the Audit Committee.  The Committee received and 
approved the “Report to those charged with governance (ISA260) 2014/15 Audit” from 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), the Council’s external auditors; and received and approved the 
audited Statement of Accounts 2014/15

112



9 November 2015
 Treasury Management Update. A separate report was submitted which outlined the council’s 

approach to Treasury Management, in line with agreed practices identified in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. Further details are also set out in the outturn reports submitted in June each 
year.

At its meeting on 16 March 2015 the Committee agreed to include a standing item on the future agendas of 
Audit Committee to receive information on the number of write-offs over the value of £10,000 (in line with 
the threshold in financial regulations), which would also include the procedure and approval process 
followed.  To date there have been no write-offs made over the value of £10,000, reported to the 
Committee in the Municipal Year 2015/16.

Risk Management

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.10 Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.13 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in 
the council. 

21 September 2015

 Risk Management Strategic Risk.  Audit Committee received a report of the strategic risks impact 
on the Council and the mitigating actions to address these.  At its meeting, the Committee noted 
the report and thanked the Head of Resilience for a good report.

21 March 2016

 Risk Management: Strategic Risk. The Committee received a report which outlined the Strategic 
Risks for the Council including the latest review of the Risk Register by Corporate Management 
Team. 

 External Audit 

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.5 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those charged with 
governance. 

2.2.1.6 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

2.2.1.7 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money. 

2.2.1.8 To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the council's external auditor. 

2.2.1.9 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

21 September 2015
 Following scrutiny by External Audit, the Audit of Statement of Accounts and Report to those 

charged with Governance was submitted to Audit Committee. Following review the Committee 
approved and agreed the:

 Received and approved the “Report to those charged with governance (ISA260) 2014/15 

Audit” from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), the Council’s external auditors; and

 Received and approved the audited Statement of Accounts 2014/15

113



8 February 2016
 Audit Committee scrutinised and endorsed the Annual Audit and Inspection Letter in respect of 

2014 / 2015 and Annual Grant Claims Certification. 

21 March 2016
 Annual Audit Plan. 

Counter Fraud & Irregularities

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.10 Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.13 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in 
the council. 

29 June 2015
 Audit Committee received an annual report highlighting counter fraud and irregularity work over 

the previous year. The Committee’s review of the work and performance of the counter fraud team 
showed strong support and interest. 

29 June 2015 / 21 September 2015 / 9 November 2015 / 8 February 2016 / 21 March 2016

 Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). At its meeting held on 24 March 2014, 
Audit Committee considered and agreed an alternative reporting mechanism which introduced a 
standing information item on each Audit Committee agenda in respect of the Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).  This meant that only when the RIPA power was utilised by 
PCC would there be a report presented to Audit Committee.  To date there has been no RIPA use to 
report to Audit Committee. Ultimately, this change in reporting mechanism has permitted the 
Committee to work more efficiently and has avoided the presentation of repetitive reports.

9 November 2015

The Committee was requested to consider a report which outlined an action plan put in place by the Office 
of Surveillance Commissioner (OSC) following a recent inspection of the Council’s use of RIPA

Member Code of Conduct

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.20 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted members

2.2.1.21 Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Code of Conduct

2.2.1.22 Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct

2.2.1.23 Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct

2.2.1.24 Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to the 
Code of Conduct

2.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Hearing Panel (sub-committee to the Audit Committee).

The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit Committee. The Panel has the following functions:

1 When matters are referred by the Monitoring Officer granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted 
members allowing them to (A) participate in the debate and / or (b) vote on any matter in which they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest;

114



2 On matters being referred by the Monitoring Officer deciding whether complaints concerning members 
should be investigated

3 Hearing complaints that have been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to the 
Complaints procedure

4 The agreement of relevant procedures for the undertaking of its functions, when appropriate to be 
included within the Constitution

In 2014 the Audit Committee considered a report on the future code of conduct. The work of the review 
group remains ongoing and is expected to report to Audit Committee in the near future. 

Code of Conduct Complaints

During the Civic year 2015/16 there were six complaints received under the code of conduct.

Five of these complaints were concluded informally and one complaint has been referred for investigation. 
This will come to the Committee for a decision.

Whistleblowing

During the Civic year 2015/16 there was one whistleblowing case received which went on to be 
investigated. The investigation finding was that the allegation was unfounded and there was no case to 
answer. The case was therefore closed.

There were three other matters referred as potential whistleblowing cases, two are currently being 
investigated and one is being considered if any further investigation is warranted. 

Training

Throughout the year, the provision of ongoing training to Members has been the cornerstone of developing 
Members (new and existing). During the year, officers provided presentations on:

 The preparation and scrutiny of the Statement of Accounts and the impact of International 
Financial Reporting Standards on these;

 General overview of the committee covering Information Governance; Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPA); Risk Management; Code of Conduct; and Whistleblowing.

 
In addition, members have access to a committee handbook which provides additional support / 
information.
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS AND PLANS FOR 2016 / 2017

Overall, the Audit Committee want to continue to develop and build on our current achievements. For 2016 
/ 2017 and this will involve:

 Continuing to drive up standards of corporate governance;
 Continuing to equip existing and any new Members to fulfil the Audit Committee’s responsibilities 

by providing or facilitating training on all aspects of the Audit Committee's remit;
 Assisting and supporting officers to promote the work of the Audit Committee and the roles of 

internal audit, external audit and risk management;
 Supporting the continued production of high quality and compliant statutory accounts;
 Helping to further increase awareness within the Council of its governance arrangements, with 

particular emphasis on information and tackling fraud and corruption; and

115



 Providing effective challenge to officers, raising awareness for sound internal control arrangements 
and giving assurance to the Authority that its control arrangements are sound.

 There is a proposed Code of Corporate Governance which the Committee will have to review
 It would be useful to undertake a review of the Terms of Reference following the introduction of 

the alternative governance procedures.

116



Annex A
2.2 AUDIT COMMITTEE: TERMS OF REFERENCE2

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a summary of internal audit 
activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the council's corporate governance 
arrangements. 

2.2.1.2 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

2.2.1.3 To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal audit services. 

2.2.1.4 To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within a reasonable 
timescale. 

2.2.1.5 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those charged with governance. 

2.2.1.6 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

2.2.1.7 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money. 

2.2.1.8 To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the council's external auditor. 

2.2.1.9 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

2.2.1.10 Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.11 To maintain an overview of the council's constitution in respect of contract procedure rules, and Financial 
Regulations. 

2.2.1.12 To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any council body. 

2.2.1.13 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in the council. 

2.2.1.14 To monitor council policies on "raising concerns at work" and the anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategy and the 
council's complaints process. 

2.2.1.15 To oversee the production of the authority's Annual Governance Statement and to recommend its adoption. 

2.2.1.16 To consider the council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary actions to ensure 
compliance with best practice. 

2.2.1.17 Accounts 

2.2.1.18 To review the annual statement of accounts, specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have 
been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to 
be brought to the attention of the council. 

2.2.1.19 To consider the external auditors report to those charged with governance on issues arising from the audit of the 
accounts. 

2.2.1.20 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted members.

2.2.1.21 Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Code of Conduct.

2.2.1.22 Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct.

2.2.1.23 Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct.

2.2.1.24 Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to the Code of 
Conduct.

2 (Source: Constitution: Part 3, Delegations Section 2 - Regulatory Committee functions. Approved Annual Council) 

117



2.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Hearing Panel (sub-committee to the Audit Committee).

 The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit Committee. The Panel has the following functions:

1 When matters are referred by the Monitoring Officer granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members 
allowing them to (A) participate in the debate and / or (b) vote on any matter in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest;

2 On matters being referred by the Monitoring Officer deciding whether complaints concerning members should be 
investigated;

3 Hearing complaints that have been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to the Complaints 
procedure;

4 The agreement of relevant procedures for the undertaking of its functions, when appropriate to be included within 
the Constitution.

118



             

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM No. 13(e)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

Contact Officer(s): Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance Tel: 01733 452361

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN TO THE STRONG AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITIES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

That Council appoints Councillor Steve Allen as Chairman of the Strong and Supportive Communities 
Scrutiny Committee for the remainder of the municipal year 2016/17.

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is for Council to appoint a Chairman of the Strong and Supportive 
Communities Scrutiny Committee for the remainder of the municipal year 2016/17.

2. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN

2.1 At the Annual Meeting of Council on 23 May 2016, Councillor Andy Coles was appointed as the 
Chairman of the Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee.

2.2 Councillor Coles resigned his seat from the Committee, following his nomination for the position 
of the Cambridgeshire Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner. Therefore the position of 
Chairman is currently vacant.

2.3 The Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee is to be drawn from among the Members sitting on the 
Committee and it is recommended that Councillor Allen, who was appointed to the Committee 
following Councillor Coles’ resignation, is appointed as the Chairman for the remainder of the 
municipal year. 

3. IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Financial implications – There are no financial implications to the appointment. The remuneration 
for the Chairman post is accounted for within the 2016/17 Member’s Allowances. 

3.2 Legal implications - There are no legal implications for the recommendation contained in the 
report.

3.3 Equalities implications – There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

4. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

4.1 Peterborough City Council’s Constitution.

119



This page is intentionally left blank

120



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM. 13(f)

13 JULY 2016 PUBLIC REPORT

INCREASE IN THE INVEST TO SAVE BUDGET

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Corporate Director: Resources

That Council: 

1. Approves the increase in the Invest to Save budget

2. Subject to approval of item 1, approves the amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy 
to:

a) take account of the increase to the Invest to Save Budget 
b) to add the proposed Housing Joint Venture company to the list of external bodies that the 
Council is able to lend to.

1. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request an increase of the Council’s Invest to Save budget initially 
by £75m plus an additional £50m when the Empower loan is refinanced and the loan is repaid to 
the Council.  This will enable the Corporate Director, Resources to approve additional capital 
financing to qualifying Invest to Save projects.    

2. BACKGROUND (& CONSULTATION)

2.1 Within the 2012/13 MTFS a budget of £100m was included within the capital programme to 
support Invest to Save schemes.  This budget was included on the basis that any projects would 
deliver savings to the Council.  The principles outlining how the budget should be spent are:

 Each project needs to complete the Councils standard full business case.
 Schemes should deliver savings that improve the financial position of the Council 

presented in the MTFS.
 Schemes are also considered that maintain the MTFS positon, but contribute towards 

delivering service improvements or towards achievement of Council priorities.
 The assumption is that payback from schemes starts in the same year that the project 

starts.  If this is not the case, proposals will need the following additional analysis in the 
business case:
o A full net present value analysis
o An outline of how the finances will be covered across financial years if schemes are not 

cost neutral within each financial year
 Proposals are subject to the Council’s decision making requirements e.g. any schemes 

above £500k will be subject to a Cabinet Member Decision Notice approved by the 
Cabinet Member for Resources and the relevant portfolio holder

 An update on schemes is included in future financial reports to Cabinet during the year.
Schemes are not approved and budget is not allocated until all of the above are in place.

2.2 As schemes are agreed a budget is allocated to the project.  The allocation of budget does not 
mean that the amounts have necessarily been drawn down and spent, it simply reserves an 
amount of the overall Invest to Save budget for that scheme.  For example whilst the Axiom loan 

121



has not been fully drawn down we must reserve the full budget allocation of £30m for this project. 
The current allocation of the £100m Invest to Save scheme is as follows:

Axiom Housing Association Loan             £30.0m
Empower ECS Peterborough 1 LLP loan   £47.0m
Other projects  £18.4m
Unallocated amount                                  £ 4.6m

The other projects are mainly energy schemes, including the Northminster Car Park lighting 
project, but also include projects such as the expansion of capacity at Vivacity Premier Fitness.

2.3 Unless the Invest to Save budget is extended the Council is unable to advance further funds to 
qualifying Projects and is denied the opportunity of making a return on such investments. 

2.4 Partnership with Empower 

2.4.1 In December 2014 by DEC14/CAB/112 Cabinet resolved to approve that Council entered into a 
strategic partnership agreement with Empower Community Management LLP to enable a first 
project to deliver solar PV on private residential properties in Peterborough.  Cabinet also 
resolved that the Council entered into a shareholder agreement to become an equal partner in a 
Community Interest Company with Empower Community Management LLP and that Council 
entered into a finance agreement with the Community Interest Company.  The company into 
which the Council lends is ECS Peterborough 1 LLP.  The value of this decision was £4.45m

2.4.2 By subsequent Cabinet Member Decision Notice OCT15/CMDN/ 83, 84 and 85 approval was 
given to:

1. Approve Extension of Qualifying Property Ownership for Private Residential in 
Peterborough – no additional funding.

2. Extension of Scheme to Axiom Housing Association – value up to £2.5m.
3. Approve investment for Social Housing Schemes outside Peterborough – value up to 

£40m
The total amount currently allocated from the Invest to Save budget to the Empower scheme is 
£47m

2.4.3 Subject to the extension of the Invest to Save Budget, Council will be able to consider potential 
future investment opportunities in renewable energy schemes with ECS Peterborough 1 LLP and 
enable it to expand its portfolio outside of residential property installations. To facilitate this 
potential investment opportunity an additional £30m needs to be allocated to the Empower 
project from the proposed increased Invest to Save budget. To be clear, this decision simply 
creates the investment budget itself. Each allocation from the budget will be subject to the 
Council’s decision making process, including executive decisions as necessary.

2.4.4 If the extension to the Invest to Save Budget is agreed, the total amount available to ECS 
Peterborough 1 LLP will be £77m.  This company will continue to be funded in the short term at a 
commercial rate of interest until the scheme is refinanced by long term funding by a private 
funder and there is an objective to refinance in the first quarter of 2017.  Once this has been 
repaid it is suggested that an extra £50m will be allocated to the Invest to Save budget to enable 
the funding of future schemes.  This additional £50m will only be triggered once ECS 
Peterborough 1 LLP has been refinanced and the loan repaid to the Council. 

2.5 Other qualifying Invest to Save projects

2.5.1 Within the 2016/17 Budget and MTFS Council approved the proposal for setting up a Housing 
Joint Venture. This project is currently being developed and will be subject to a future Cabinet 
decision on the specific nature of this. The Council is planning to use existing affordable housing 
money to support this project but it may also wish to lend to the JV as well to advance more 
schemes. As such£20m of the proposed increased Invest to Save budget is to be allocated to this 

122



project. Again this only creates the investment budget itself. Each allocation from the budget will 
be subject to the Council’s decision making process, including executive decisions as necessary.

2.5.2 To accommodate additional schemes that may arise an additional £25m is proposed to be 
allocated within the increased Invest to Save budget.

2.5.3 The above are current intended allocations, if projects do not go ahead the budget will be 
available for alternative projects. 

3. IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Financial

3.1.1 The financial implications are contained within the body of the report.

3.1.2 An amendment to the Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) is required to reflect the increase in 
the invest to save budget.  The prudential indicators will need to be revised for the increase in 
Capital Expenditure and the proposed Housing Joint Venture vehicle will be added to the list of 
authorised companies in paragraph 3.6.  The updated TMS is appended to this report.

3.2 Legal

3.2.1 The Council has the ability to lend to external organisations under the Local Government Act 
2003 "power to invest" as well as under the general power of competence.  In making any such 
investment the Council is required to give regard to the Government's commentary to the 
Guidance on Local Government Investments, as well as the statutory guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State and specific guidance published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy. Furthermore, any such investment must be consistent with the Council's 
Annual Investment Strategy.  Any request for funding from the Invest to Save budget will also be 
made in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and applicable Contract Rules.

3.2.2 Unlawful state aid occurs where a benefit is granted from a public resource for free or on 
favourable terms which distort competition. Any loans granted from the Invest to Save budget 
follows market principles and as such and there is no unlawful state aid implication. 

4. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Revised Treasury Management Strategy

123



This page is intentionally left blank

124



Appendix 1 - Treasury Strategy, Minimum Revenue Position Policy

Treasury Management Strategy
2016/17 to 2025/26

Including:
Revised Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2015/16
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2016/17

125



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 1 | P a g e

1. Introduction
1.1 Background
1.1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which 

means that cash raised through the year will meet cash 
expenditure.  The role of treasury management is to ensure 
cash flow is adequately planned so that cash is available 
when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 
counterparties commensurate with the Council’s low risk 
appetite ensuring that security and liquidity are achieved 
before considering investment return.

1.1.2 Another role of treasury management is to fund the Council’s 
capital programme.  The programme provides a guide to the 
borrowing needs of the Council and the planning of a longer 
term cash flow to ensure capital obligations are met.  The 
management of long term cash may involve arranging short 
or long term loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses.

1.1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“ The management of the local authority’s investments and 
cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

1.2 Reporting requirements
1.2.1 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a 

minimum, three reports each year.  These reports are to be 
scrutinised by the Audit Committee before being 
recommended to Council.

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Strategy report will cover:

 the capital programme (including prudential indicators)

 a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy

 the Treasury Management Strategy including treasury 
indicators; and

 an Investment Strategy

1.2.3 A mid-year Treasury Management Report will update 
members of the Audit Committee with the progress of the 
capital programme and amending prudential indicators as 
necessary.

1.2.4 Any revisions to the Treasury Strategy will need to be 
approved by Full Council.

1.2.5 An Annual Treasury Report will provide details of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury 
operations compared to the estimates within the strategy 
presented alongside the Statement of Accounts.

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17
1.3.1 The strategy for 2016/17 will cover

 Policy on use of external 
advisors

 Capital programme and the 
Prudential Indicators

 MRP strategy and policy
 Current treasury position
 Treasury indicators
 Interest rates

 Borrowing strategy
 Policy on borrowing in 

advance of need
 Debt rescheduling
 Investment strategy
 Creditworthiness policy
 Treasury Management 

Scheme of Delegation

1.3.2 These elements cover the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, the 
Communities and Local Government (CLG) MRP Guidance, 

126



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2 | P a g e

the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the CLG 
Investment Guidance.

1.4 Treasury Management Advisors
1.4.1 The Council uses Capita Asset Services, as its external 

treasury management advisors who have a contract until 
December 2017.

1.4.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury 
management decisions remain with the organisation at all 
times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
external advisors.

1.4.3 The Council also recognises that there is value in employing 
external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and 

the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented and subjected to regular 
review. 

2. Capital Prudential Indicators 2016/17 to 2025/26
2.1.1 The Council’s capital programme is the key driver of the 

treasury management activity.  The output of the capital 
programme is reflected in the prudential indicators which are 
designed to assist member’s overview and confirm the capital 
programme.

2.1.2 Indicator 1 – Capital Expenditure – this Prudential Indicator 
is a summary of the Council’s estimated capital expenditure 
for the forthcoming financial year and the following nine 
financial years.

(1a) Capital 
Expenditure

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/24
Est.
£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

Governance 0.1 0.4 - - - - - - - - - -
People & Communities 56.4 32.2 37.1 16.4 26.0 16.6 7.8 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 
Resources 21.8 39.8 25.4 4.2 4.9 4.9 4.0 4.7 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 
Growth & Regeneration 26.2 20.8 37.6 33.5 19.2 8.7 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.4 7.3 
Invest to Save 4.3 61.9 56.5 60.0 35.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Total 108.8 155.1  156.6 114.1 85.1 30.2 18.2 14.6 14.7 14.7 14.7 15.6
Financed by:
Capital receipts 2.9 - 1.0 - 1.0 - - - - - - -
Capital grants & 
contributions 35.6 25.4 33.7 20.0 10.5 8.5 7.5 5.4 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6

Net financing 
requirement 70.3 129.7 121.9 94.1 73.6 21.7 10.7 9.2 9.1 9.1 9.1 10.0 

Total 108.8 155.1 156.6 114.1 85.1 30.2 18.2 14.6 14.7 14.7 14.7 15.6

127



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 3 | P a g e

2.2 The previous table summarises the capital expenditure which 
is shown in more detail in the Capital Strategy Annex One 
including how it will be funded either from grants, 
contributions, or capital receipts with the remaining ‘net 
financing need for the year’ to be sourced via borrowing.  The 
capital receipts shown in the tables for future years relate to 
the return of the LAMS capital loan.

2.3 The Invest to Save scheme, Renewable Energy projects and 
the Energy from Waste plant are included in the tables that 
detail total capital expenditure and the funding resources to be 
used. However, these schemes will either generate income, 
generate savings, or avoid additional costs e.g. landfill tax.  
Therefore the borrowing costs associated with these projects 
will have a minimal impact on the Council’s MTFS position.  

2.4 Indicator 2 – Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) – the 
CFR is the total historic capital expenditure which has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is a 
measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing requirement.  
Any capital expenditure which has not immediately been paid 
for will increase the CFR.

2.5 The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI 
schemes, finance leases) included on the Council’s balance 
sheet following the IFRS conversion in 2010/11.  Whilst this 
increases the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of schemes include a borrowing 
facility and so the Council is not required to separately borrow 
for these schemes.

2.6 The following table shows the CFR estimates for the next ten 
financial years:

(2) Capital Financing 
Requirement

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
4Est.

£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

CFR B/fwd 365.6 422.5 546.0 658.3 663.8 726.1 735.9 734.4 730.7 727.2 723.1 718.4 

Borrowing 53.3 61.6 52.3 (54.7) 27.3 9.8 (1.5) (3.7) (3.5) (4.1) (4.7) (4.4)
Invest to Save* 3.6 61.9 60.0 60.0 35.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
CFR C/fwd 422.5  546.0 658.3 663.6  726.1 735.9 734.4  730.7 727.2 723.1 718.4 714.0 
Movement in  CFR 56.7 123.5 112.3 5.4 62.3 9.8 (1.5) (3.7) (3.5) (4.1) (4.7) (4.4)

Net financing requirement 70.3 129.7 121.9 94.1 73.6 21.7 10.7 9.3 9.2 9.2 9.2 10.1 
Less MRP & other financing (13.6) (6.2) (9.6) (88.7)# (11.3) (11.9) (12.2) (13.0) (12.7) (13.3) (13.9) (14.5)
Movement in CFR 56.7 123.5 112.3    5.4 62.3 9.8 (   1.5) (   3.7) (   3.5) (   4.1) (   4.7) (   4.4)
* The cost of borrowing associated with this scheme will be offset by the income generated in accordance with the approved business case (see comment in 2.3)
# This includes the ECS Peterborough 1 LLP loan repayment of £77m which is the level that has been approved but not yet utilised

128



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 4 | P a g e

2.7 Indicator 3 – Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing 
costs to net revenue budget.  This indicator identifies the 
proportion  of  the  revenue  budget  which  is  taken  up  in 

financing capital expenditure i.e. the net interest cost and the 
provision to repay debt.

3) Ratio of financing costs to 
net revenue budget

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
4Est.

£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

Total ratio 5.9% 4.3% 6.1% 7.4% 8.1% 8.6% 8.7% 8.5% 8.4% 8.4% 8.3% 8.2%
2.8 Indicator 4 – Actual and estimates of the incremental impact 

of capital investment decisions on council tax.  The calculation 
of this indicator is based upon the estimated amount of the 
capital programme that is to be financed from borrowing.  

2.9 The calculation is based on the interest assumptions for 
borrowing and MRP charges that have been included in the 
previous and this MTFS for the capital financing budget. 

2.10 This indicator is showing the incremental impact of capital 
investment decisions along with the amendments to the MRP 
policy as contained in the following section, see point 3.

2.11 This indicator shows the incremental impact on the ‘adjusted’ 
council tax base.

(4) Incremental impact of 
capital investment 
decisions on Council 
Tax

2014/15
Actuals

£

2015/16
Est.

£

2016/17
Est.

£

2017/18
Est.

£

2018/19
Est.

£

2019/20
Est.

£

2020/21
Est.

£

2021/22
Est.

£

2022/23 
Est.

£

2023/24
Est.

£

2024/25
Est.

£

2025/26
Est.

£
Incremental change in capital 
financing budget between 
MTFS’s on Band D Council 
Tax (£) 

(82.17) (307.41) (197.70) (115.10) (73.51) (31.59) (24.63) 7.12 (5.61) (8.11) (10.36) (15.83)

129



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 5 | P a g e

3. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy
3.1. Capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets which 

have a life expectancy of more than one year e.g. buildings, 
vehicles, equipment, etc.  Such expenditure is spread over 
several years in order to try to match the years over which 
such assets benefit the local community through their useful 
life.  The manner of spreading these costs is through an 
annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

3.2. CLG Regulations require full Council to approve a MRP 
statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are 
provided to Councils to calculate this revenue charge and the 
Council must satisfy itself that the provision is prudent.

3.3. A comprehensive review of the Council’s method for 
calculating its MRP has been undertaken in order to ensure 
that the amount of revenue put aside to repayment debt 
represents a fair charge compared to the life of the asset that 
is being financed via borrowing.  Further details of the 
amendments to the Council’s MRP policy are contained in the 
table in Appendix 3. 

3.4. The Council is recommended to approve the amendments to 
the 2015/16 MRP policy and to approve MRP policy for 
2016/17 as summarised in the following table.  These policies 
ensure that the Council satisfies the requirement to set aside 
a prudent level of MRP. 

3.5. Councils are allowed by statute to use capital receipts for the 
repayment of any borrowing previously incurred.  The 
application of capital receipts to repay debt would reduce the 
level of MRP chargeable to revenue, but statutory guidance 
does not address how such a reduction should be calculated.  
The Council proposes that in years when it uses capital 
receipts to redeem borrowing, the value of the MRP which 
would otherwise have been set aside for that year will be 
reduced by the amounts which have instead been repaid from 

capital receipts.  This will still result in a prudent level of MRP, 
as there will be no reduction in the overall level of funding set 
aside to redeem debt.  

3.6. The Council intends to make secured loans to third parties. 
These loans are only made after the Council’s formal 
decision making process has been followed, which includes 
formal approval by the Service Director Financial Services.  
As part of the formal decision to grant the loan, the security 
for the loan will be assessed as to its adequacy in the event 
of the third party defaulting on repayment. The Council have 
approved the secured loans to two third parties which are 
Axiom Housing Association (Council - 8 October 2014),  ECS 
Peterborough 1 LLP (Council - 17 December 2014) and the 
Housing Joint Venture subject to Cabinet approval. The 
Council has held some preliminary discussions with 
Peterborough Regional College regarding the possibility of 
the Council lending to them to invest in new facilities. These 
discussions are at a very early stage, but it is recommended 
that PRC are added to the list of organisations the Council 
can make secured loans to. This does not commit the Council 
making such a loan, it simply means that the Council can 
consider this during the year. This could only proceed 
following an appropriate executive decision’

3.7. The Council participates in the Local Authority Mortgage 
Scheme (LAMS).  During 2011/12 the Council deposited £1m 
with Lloyds and a further £1m during 2013/14.  Such deposits 
are treated as capital expenditure, as a loan to a third party.  
The CFR increased by the total of these indemnities.  
Operation of the Scheme sees these deposits returned in full 
at maturity, a period of five years, with interest paid annually.  
Once the deposit matures, and funds are returned to the 
Council, the funds are classed as a capital receipt (as it is a 
loan) and the CFR will reduce accordingly.  As this is a 

130



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 6 | P a g e

temporary five year arrangement and the funds are 
anticipated to be returned in full, there is no MRP application.  
The Council has agreed to place a proportion of the interest 
received on the deposit into an earmarked reserve to mitigate 

the impact if the indemnity is used over that period of the 
Scheme.

3.8.  Repayments for PFI scheme and finance leases are applied 
as MRP, and the associated amounts are included in these 
Prudential Indicators.

131



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 7 | P a g e

Capital Expenditure Incurred MRP Policy 2015/16 Revised MRP Policy 2015/16 & MRP Policy for 2016/17

Pre 2007/08 debt 
(ie debt up to 31.03.2007)
Supported Borrowing post 2007/08

Charged 4% reducing balance 
(Option 1) Use the annuity method of calculation over an average weighted asset life 

Unsupported borrowing 
2007/08 & 2008/09

Charged in relation to asset life on 
equal instalment method Use the annuity method of calculation over the remaining asset life

Unsupported borrowing 
Post 2008/09

Charged in relation to asset life on 
annuity method Charged in relation to asset life on annuity method

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) - 
Finance Lease

Charged derived from using the PFI 
model Use the annuity method of calculation over the remaining asset life

Other Finance Leases Charged in relation to asset life on 
annuity method Charged in relation to asset life on annuity method

Expenditure funded by unsupported 
borrowing reflected within the debt 
liability after the 31 March 2010

Asset Life Method, annuity method 
– MRP will be based on the 
prevailing PWLB interest rate for a 
loan with a term equivalent to the 
estimated life of the project.

Asset Life Method, annuity method – MRP will be based on the prevailing 
PWLB interest rate for a loan with a term equivalent to the estimated life of the 
project.

If capital receipts have been used to repay borrowing for the year then the 
value of MRP which would have otherwise been set aside to repay borrowing 
will be reduced by the amounts which have instead been repaid from capital 
receipts.  The level of capital receipts to be applied to redeem borrowing will be 
determined annually by the Corporate Director Resources, taking into account 
forecasts for future expenditure and the generation of further receipts.

Expenditure investing in third 
parties via a loan which is fully 
secured and where repayment is in 
bullet form.

The Council considers the 
repayment of the loan negates the 
need for an amount of MRP to be 
charged each year as reliance can 
be placed on the capital receipt that 
will be generated when the loan is 
repaid or, in the event of a default, 
the realisation of the security

The Council considers the repayment of the loan negates the need for an 
amount of MRP to be charged each year as reliance can be placed on the 
capital receipt that will be generated when the loan is repaid or, in the event of 
a default, the realisation of the security

For more detailed guidance on MRP see the CLG website https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11297/2089512.pdf 

4. Treasury Management Strategy 4.1. Treasury Management Policy

132

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11297/2089512.pdf


Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 8 | P a g e

4.1.1. The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is managed in accordance with the relevant 
professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to 
meet the Council’s service requirements.  This will involve 
both the management of cash flow and, where the capital 
programme requires, the organisation of appropriate 
borrowing facilities.  This strategy covers the relevant 
treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected 
debt positions, and the Annual Investment Strategy.

4.1.2. The Council’s primary treasury management objectives are:

a) to invest available cash balances with a number of high 
quality investment counterparties (see 4.8.12) over a 

spread of maturity dates in accordance with the 
Council’s lending list;

b) to reduce the revenue cost of the Council’s debt in the 
medium term by obtaining financing at the cheapest 
rate possible; and

c) to seek to reschedule debt at the optimum time.

4.2 Current Treasury Position
4.2.1 Indicator 5 - The Council’s treasury position at 31 March 

2015, with estimates for future years, are summarised 
below.  The table below shows the actual external borrowing 
(Gross Debt) against the CFR.

(5) Gross debt & capital 
financing requirement

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
4Est.

£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

External Borrowing
Market Borrowing 306.0 311.8 431.5 545.5 515.5 579.1 590.2 595.1 599.9 604.5 609.1 613.8
Repayment of borrowing - (17.0) (22.0) (56.0) (9.0) (8.0) (15.0) (8.0) (7.1) - (8.0) -
Expected change in borrowing - 142.5 136.0 26.0 72.6 19.1 19.9 12.8 11.7 4.7 12.7 4.6
Other long-term liabilities 40.4 39.5 38.6 37.8 37.0 36.2 35.4 34.9 34.3 33.7 33.0 32.3 
Gross Debt at 31 March 346.4 470.9 584.1 553.3 616.1 626.4 630.5 634.8 638.8 642.8 646.9 650.7
CFR 422.5 546.0 658.4 663.8 726.1 735.9 734.4 730.7 727.2 723.1 718.4 714.0
% of Gross Debt to CFR 82.0% 86.2% 88.7% 83.4% 84.9% 85.1% 85.9% 86.9% 87.8% 88.9% 90.0% 91.1%

4.2.2 Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key 
indicators to ensure that the Council operates its activities 
within defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs 
to ensure that its total borrowing does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2016/17 and the 
following two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for 

limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that 
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.

4.2.3 The Corporate Director Resources reports that the Council 
complied with this prudential indicator in the current year and 

4.2.4 does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes 

133



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 9 | P a g e

into account current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in this medium term financial strategy (MTFS).

4.2.5 Indicator 6 - The Operational Boundary - this is the limit 
beyond which external borrowing is not normally expected to 

exceed. If the operational boundary was exceeded this would 
be reported immediately to the members of the Audit 
Committee with a full report taken to the next committee 
meeting.  In the current year it has not been exceeded.

(6) Operational Boundary
2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
4Est.

£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

Borrowing 306.0 588.6 690.9 686.3 693.3 646.3 640.5 639.8 638.8 642.8 646.9 646.9
Other long term liabilities 40.4 39.5 38.6 37.8 37.0 36.2 35.4 34.9 34.3 33.7 33.0 32.3 
Total 346.4 628.1 729.5 754.1 730.3 682.5 676.0 674.7 673.1 676.5 679.9 679.2

4.2.6 Indicator 7 - The Authorised Limit for external borrowing - 
this represents a limit beyond which external borrowing is 
prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by full 
Council.

4.2.7 This is a statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The Government retains an 

option to control either the total of all Council’s plans, or those 
of a specific Council, although this power has not yet been 
exercised.

4.2.8 The Council is asked to approved the following Authorised 
limit:

(7) Authorised Limit
2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
4Est.

£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

Borrowing 306.0 665.6 796.6 796.1 745.2 686.2 677.5 676.6 674.3 677.1 680.8 682.2
Other long term liabilities 40.4 39.5 38.6 37.8 37.0 36.2 35.4 34.9 34.3 33.7 33.0 32.3
Total 346.4 705.1 835.2 833.9 782.2 722.4 712.9 711.5 708.6 710.8 713.8 714.5

134



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 10 | P a g e

Prospects for interest rates

4.2.9 The Council utilises the treasury services of Capita Asset 
Services and part of their service is to assist the Council to 
formulate a view on interest rates to assist with borrowing 

and investment decisions.  The Capita Asset Services 
forecast for bank base rate (as at January 2016) and PWLB 
new borrowing (as at November 2015) is as follows (note that 
the PWLB Borrowing Rate includes the Certainty Rate 
adjustment):

Interest Rate 
(All rates shown as %) Now Mar 

16
Jun 
16

Sep 
16

Dec 
16

Mar 
17

Jun 
17

Sep 
17

Dec 
17

Mar 
18

Jun 
18

Sep 
18

Dec 
18

Mar 
19

Bank Rate View 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.75 1.75
5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.40 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.60
10yr PWLB Rate 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.10
25yr PWLB Rate 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.10 4.20 4.30 4.30 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.50
50yr PWLB Rate 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.40 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.20 4.30 4.30 4.30 4.40
Budget Assumption 3.43 3.85 4.08 4.33

4.2.10 The Council successfully applied to be one of the principal 
local authorities that would qualify for the Certainty Rate, 
during the period 1 November 2015 to 31 October 2016. This 
results in the Council being able to benefit from reduced 
interest rates on PWLB loans by 20 basis points (0.20%).  
The council is assuming that there will be a similar scheme 
in place when this scheme expires.  The Council will submit 
a new application to ensure it qualifies. 

4.2.11 The MTFS assumes borrowing is taken at the 50 year period 
with an average taken across the quarters for that year but 
then adjusted with a range of borrowing periods and 
associated interest rates.  The Chief Finance Officer believes 
this prudent as it mitigates some of the risk of PWLB rate rise.

4.2.12 Capita Asset Services interest rate forecasts, detailed above, 
are based on their views of the future economic climate, and 

below are some extracts taken from their economic 
forecasts:  

 Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighting on the UK.  Capita Asset Services Bank 
Rate forecasts, (and also MPC decisions), will be liable to 
further amendment depending on how the economic data and 
developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year.  Forecast for average earnings beyond the three year 
horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments.  Major volatility in bond yields is likely to 
endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow 
between favouring more risky assets or the safe haven of 
bonds.

 The November Inflation Report flagged up particular 
concerns for the potential impact of these factors on the UK.  

135



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 11 | P a g e

The Inflation Report was also notably subdued in respect of 
the forecasts for inflation; this was expected to barely get 
back up to the 2% target within the 2-3 year time horizon. The 
increase in the forecast for inflation at the three year horizon 
was the biggest in a decade and at the two year horizon was 
the biggest since February 2013.

 However, the first round of falls in oil, gas and food prices 
over late 2014 and also in the first half 2015, will fall out of the 
12 month calculation of CPI during late 2015 / early 2016 but 
a second, more recent round of falls in fuel and commodity 
prices will delay a significant tick up in inflation from around 
zero: this is now expected to get back to around 1% by the 
end  of 2016 and not get to near 2% until the second half of 
2017, though the forecasts in the Report itself were for an 
even slower rate of increase. 

 However, more falls in the price of oil and imports from 
emerging countries in early 2016 will further delay the pick up 
in inflation. There is therefore considerable uncertainty 
around how quickly pay and CPI inflation will rise in the next 
few years and this makes it difficult to forecast when the MPC 
will decide to make a start on increasing Bank Rate. 

 The weakening of UK GDP growth during 2015 and the 
deterioration of prospects in the international scene, 
especially for emerging market countries, have consequently 
led to forecasts for when the first increase in Bank Rate would 
occur being pushed back to quarter 4 of 2016. There is 
downside risk to this forecast i.e. it could be pushed further 
back.

 The UK are experiencing exceptional levels of volatility which 
are highly correlated to emerging market, geo-political and 
sovereign debt crisis developments. 

 The downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilts yields and 
PWLB rates currently include:

o Emerging country economies, currencies and corporates 
destabilised by falling commodity prices and or Fed. rate 
increases, causing a flight to safe havens (bonds).

o Geopolitical risks in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and 
Asia, increasing safe haven flows.

o UK economic growth and increases in inflation are 
weaker than are currently anticipated.

o Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading 
partners – the EU and US.

o A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis

o Recapitalisation of European banks requiring move 
government financial support.

o Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable 
growth and combat the threat of deflation in western 
economies, especially in the Eurozone and Japan.

 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilts 
yields and PWLB rates especially for longer term PWLB rates  
include:

o Uncertainty around the risk of a UK exit from the EU.

o The pace and timing of increases in the Fed. Funds rate 
causing a fundamental reassessment by investors of the 

136



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 12 | P a g e

relative risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities and 
leading to a major flight from bonds to equities.

o UK inflation returning to significantly higher levels than in 
the wider EU and US, causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.

4.4 Borrowing Strategy
4.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed 

position, where CFR balance is greater than gross debt, see 
table 4.2. This is in line with the agreed strategy that the 
Council’s cash balances be used to fund capital expenditure 
before additional borrowing is undertaken.

4.4.2 The MTFS is based on the following borrowing assumptions 
for the next ten years. However, the borrowing strategy is 
under constant review throughout the year as a result to 
changes in interest rates and borrowing opportunities.  The 
proposed strategy for 2016/17 financial year is:

a) To consider the rescheduling (early redemption and 
replacement) of loans to maximise interest rate savings 
and possible redemption discounts.

b) If there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short term rates e.g.  due to a marked increase of risks 
around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation, then 
long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential 
rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term 
borrowing will be considered.

c) If there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short term rates than currently forecast, perhaps 
rising from a greater than expected increase in world 
economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, 

then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the 
likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst 
interest rates were still relatively cheap.

d) Loans will primarily be arranged from the PWLB and 
other Local Authorities.

e) To maintain an appropriate balance between PWLB, 
Local Authority and other market debt in the debt portfolio 
and a balance in the maturity profile of debt.

f) To give full consideration to other debt instruments e.g. 
Local Authority Bonds as an alternative to PWLB 
borrowing. Due regard will be given to money laundering 
regulations.  The Council is monitoring the development 
of the scheme and may participate if this proves 
beneficial. 

4.4.3 There are three debt treasury indicators which ensure the 
activity of the treasury function remains within certain limits.  
This manages risk and reduces the impact of any adverse 
movement in interest rates. The indicators are:
 Indicator 8 – Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure. 

This identifies a maximum limit for fixed interest rates 
based upon the debt position net of investments. This has 
been set at 100% of the borrowing requirement.

 Indicator 9 - Upper limit on variable rate exposure. This 
identifies a maximum limit for variable interest rates 
based upon the debt position net of investments. This has 
been set at 25% of the borrowing requirement.

137



Schedule D – Treasury Strategy, Prudential Code & minimum Revenue Provision Policy 13 | P a g e

Interest Rate Exposure
(Upper Limits)

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/2
Est.
£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

(8) Limits on fixed interest 
rates based on net debt 306.0 665.6 796.6 796.1 745.2 686.2 677.5 676.6 674.3 677.1 680.8 682.2

% of fixed interest rate 
exposure 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

(9) Limits on variable 
interest rates based on net 
debt

0.0 166.4 199.2 199.0 186.3 171.5 169.4 169.1 168.6 169.3 170.2 170.5

% of variable interest rate 
exposure

25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%

 Indicator 10 - Maturity structure of borrowing. These 
gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to 
large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing.

(10) Maturity Structure of borrowing Upper Limit
Under 12 months 40%
12 months to 2 years 40%
2 years to 5 years 80%
5 years to 10 years 80%
10 years and above 100%

4.5 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need (Future Capital 
Expenditure)

4.5.1 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its 
needs, purely in order to profit from the investment of the 
extra sums borrowed. However, at any time the Council may 
obtain a loan or other financing at what are considered 
advantageous opportunities in anticipation of future capital 
expenditure, which can be invested temporarily.  The Council 

may also borrow in the day to day management of its cash 
flow operations or as an alternative to redeeming higher 
yielding investments.

4.5.2 Any decision to borrow in advance of need will be within 
forward approved CFR estimates, and will be considered 
carefully to ensure value for money.

4.5.3 The Council will ensure there is a clear link between the 
capital programme across the future years and the maturity 
profile of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need 
to take funding in advance of capital expenditure.

4.5.4 The Council will ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities 
created, and the implications for the future plans and budgets 
have been considered and factored into the MTFS.

4.5.5 Consideration will be given to the alternative interest rate 
bases available, the most appropriate periods to fund and 
repayment profiles to use.

4.6 Debt Rescheduling on Existing Debt Portfolio

138



14

4.6.1 As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper 
than longer term fixed interest rates there may be potential to 
generate savings by switching from the existing long term 
debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to 
be considered in the light of the current treasury position and 
the size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  
Debt rescheduling will only be carried out on current debt 
portfolio as future borrowing will be carried out as per this 
strategy and over shorter periods of time.  

4.6.2 The reasons for rescheduling will include:
 the generation of cash savings and/or discounted cash 

flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
 enhance the balance of the debt portfolio.

4.6.3 All rescheduling will be reported to the Audit Committee at the 
earliest opportunity.

4.7 Annual Investment Strategy – Changes to Credit Rating 
Methodology

4.7.1 The main rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & 
Poor’s) have, through much of the financial crisis, provided 
some institutions with a ratings “uplift” due to implied levels of 
sovereign support.  Commencing in 2015, in response to the 
evolving regulatory regime, all three agencies have begun 
removing these “uplifts” with the timing of the process 
determined by regulatory progress at the national level.  The 
process has been part of a wider reassessment of 
methodologies by each of the rating agencies.  In addition to 
the removal of implied support, new methodologies are now 
taking into account additional factors, such as regulatory 
capital levels.  In some cases, these factors have “netted” 
each other off, to leave underlying ratings either unchanged 

or little changed.  A consequence of these new 
methodologies is that they have also lowered the importance 
of the (Fitch) Support and Viability ratings and have seen the 
(Moody’s) Financial Strength rating withdrawn by the agency. 

4.7.2 In keeping with the agencies’ new methodologies, the rating 
element of our own credit assessment process now focuses 
solely on the Short and Long Term ratings of an institution. 
While this is the same process that has always been used for 
Standard & Poor’s, this has been a change in the use of Fitch 
and Moody’s ratings. It is important to stress that the other 
key elements of the process, namely the assessment of 
Rating Watch and Outlook information as well as the Credit 
Default Swap (CDS) overlay have not been changed.

4.7.3 The evolving regulatory environment, in tandem with the 
rating agencies’ new methodologies also means that 
sovereign ratings are now of lesser importance in the 
assessment process. The new regulatory environment is 
attempting to break the link between sovereign support and 
domestic financial institutions.  This is in relation to the fact 
that the underlying domestic and where appropriate, 
international, economic and wider political and social 
background will still have an influence on the ratings of a 
financial institution.

4.7.4 It is important to stress that these rating agency changes do 
not reflect any changes in the underlying status or credit 
quality of the institution. They are merely reflective of a 
reassessment of rating agency methodologies in light of 
enacted and future expected changes to the regulatory 
environment in which financial institutions operate. While 
some banks have received lower credit ratings as a result of 
these changes, this does not mean that they are suddenly 
less credit worthy than they were formerly.  Rather, in the 

139



15

majority of cases, this mainly reflects the fact that implied 
sovereign government support has effectively been 
withdrawn from banks. They are now expected to have 
sufficiently strong balance sheets to be able to withstand 
foreseeable adverse financial circumstances without 
government support. In fact, in many cases, the balance 
sheets of banks are now much more robust than they were 
before the 2008 financial crisis when they had higher ratings 
than now. However, this is not universally applicable, leaving 
some entities with modestly lower ratings than they had 
through much of the “support” phase of the financial crisis. 

4.8 Annual Investment Policy
4.8.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s 

Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the 
Guidance”) and the 2011 revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).

4.8.2 The Council’s investment priorities are the security of capital 
and the liquidity of investments.  The Council will aim to 
achieve the optimum return on its investments commensurate 
with proper levels of security and liquidity.

4.8.3 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year 
are listed in Appendix 1 under the ‘Specified’ and ‘Non-
Specified’ Investment categories.  Counterparty limits will be 
as set through the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

4.8.4 Investment Counterparty Selection Criteria and 
Investment Strategy

4.8.5 As the Council has run down its cash balances, surplus cash 
will be generated from cash flow movements e.g. a grant 
received in advance of spend or from borrowing in advance 
of need. Therefore investment activity will be kept to a 
minimum.

4.8.6 However, where it is necessary for investments to be 
undertaken in order to manage the Council’s cash flows, the 
Council’s primary principle is for the security of its 
investments.  After this main principle the Council will ensure 
that:

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of 
investment types it will invest in, criteria for choosing 
investment counterparties with adequate security and 
monitoring their security.  

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this 
purpose it will set out procedures for determining the 
maximum periods for which funds may prudently be 
committed.  These procedures also apply to the Council’s 
prudential indicators covering the maximum principal 
sums invested.

4.8.7 The Corporate Director Resources will maintain a 
counterparty list in compliance with the following criteria and 
will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval 
as necessary.

4.8.8 The Councils minimum criteria will apply to the lowest 
available rating for any institution.  For instance, if an 
institution is rated by the three credit agencies and two meet 
the Council’s criteria and the other one does not, the 
institution will fall outside the lending criteria.  This complies 

140



16

with a CIPFA Treasury Management Panel recommendation 
in March 2009 and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
of Practice. 

4.8.9 In order to minimise the risk to investing, the Council has 
clearly stipulated the minimum acceptable credit quality of 
counterparties for inclusion on the lending list.  The Council 
uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset 
Services which uses ratings from all three rating agencies, 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s, as well as Credit 
Default Swap (CDS) spreads.  Capita Asset Services 
monitors ratings on a real time basis and notifies clients 
immediately on any rating changes or possible downgrades.

4.8.10 All credit ratings will be monitored weekly.  The Council is 
alerted to changes to ratings of all three rating agencies by 
Capita Asset Services.
 If a downgrade results in the counterparty or investment 

scheme no longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria 
it will be removed from the Council’s lending list 
immediately.

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be 
advised of information in movement in CDS’s against the 
iTraxx (brand name for the group of credit default swap 
index products) benchmark and other market data on a 
weekly basis.  Extreme market movements may result in 
the downgrade of an institution or removal from the 
Councils lending list.

4.8.11 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of Capita Asset 
Service’s advice.  The Council will also use market data, 
market information, information on government support for 
banks and the credit ratings of that government support.

4.8.12 The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment 
counterparties (both Specified and Non-Specified 

investments), and is shown in the order of use by the Council, 
follows:
 UK Government (including gilts and the Debt 

Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF)).
 Bank of Scotland call account (part of the Lloyds Banking 

Group).
 UK Local Authorities.
 All of the above would be subject to continuous credit 

rating reviews, specifically with regards to the credit 
rating methodology changes noted in 4.7.1.

4.8.13 Barclays Bank, the Council’s own banker.   If Barclays fall 
below the criterion in 4.8.12 then the following strategy will be 
followed:
 With regard to the three credit rating agencies, if one 

reduces its rating but the other two remain the same or 
improve, no action will be taken with regards to funds 
held with Barclays, ie maximum of £5m in the call account

 If two or more credit rating agencies reduce their ratings 
only, as the Council will still require to use the Barclays 
accounts for transactional purposes, a maximum balance 
of £500k will be left overnight to prevent the account 
becoming overdrawn and incurring overdraft fees

 Seek advice from Capita Asset Services
 The above action applies to Barclays only due to its 

status as the Council’s banking provider.  Use of other 
bank accounts would be subject to criteria set out in the 
point above.

The above approach has been developed following 
consideration of:

o that the Council needs banking facilities to process 

141



17

daily banking transactions, and such activity presents 
a lower risk profile compared to investment activity

o the significant impact, resource requirement, and risk 
exposure of changing bank provider

o the possible state and stability of the banking sector 
and viable alternative suppliers

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme.  Under this scheme 
the Council has placed funds of £2m with Lloyds Bank for 
a period of five years.  This is classified as being an 
indemnity arrangement and therefore accounted for as a 
capital expenditure transaction, rather than a treasury 
management investment.  Therefore LAMS is outside the 
Specified/Non specified categories but is included in this 
Strategy for completeness.  Any other counterparty used 
will fall outside the Specified/Non specified categories as 
per the reason stated above. Therefore the minimum 
credit criteria need not apply to the LAMS scheme. 

 Banks Group 1 - Part nationalised UK banks - Lloyds 
Banking Group Plc. (Bank of Scotland and Lloyds) and 
Royal Bank of Scotland Group Plc. (National Westminster 
Bank, The Royal Bank of Scotland and Ulster Bank Ltd).  
These banks can be included if they continue to be part 
nationalised and / or they meet the ratings below.

 Banks Group 2 – good credit quality - the Council will only 
use banks which are UK banks and have the minimum 
credit ratings criteria relating to the type of investment 
being undertaken. 

Agency Short Term Long Term
Fitch F1 A
Moody’s P-1 Aa
Standard & Poor’s A-1 A

 Building Societies – if they meet the ratings above
 Money Market Funds - AAA rated

 Bill Payment Service – The Council currently has a contract 
with Santander UK who collect payments of Council Tax 
through the post office via various methods of payment such 
as Paypoint. The funds that are collected are transferred to 
the Council daily thus minimising the risk of Santander UK 
holding the Council’s cash. This arrangement for the bill 
payment service falls outside the investment criteria for 
investments therefore any downgrade of Santander UK will 
not affect this service. However this arrangement will be 
closely monitored to ensure funds continue to be transferred 
daily.

4.8.14 The Council’s lending list will comprise of the institutions that 
meet the investment criteria above.  Each counterparty on the 
list is assigned a counterparty limit as per the table in 
Appendix 1. Counterparties that no longer meet the 
investment criteria due to a credit rating downgrade will be 
removed from the list and any changes will be approved by 
the Corporate Director: Resources. Approval will also be 
required if any new counterparties are added to the lending 
list. 

4.8.15 Capita Asset Services approach to assessing 
creditworthiness of institutions is by combining credit ratings, 
credit watches, credit outlooks and CDS spreads to produce 
a colour coding system which the Council uses to determine 
the duration of investments.  The Council will use 
counterparties within the following maximum maturity 
periods, in order to mitigate the risk of investing in these 
institutions:

Capita Asset 
Services Banding Description

142



18

Capita Asset 
Services Banding Description

Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised / 
semi nationalised UK banks)

Orange 1 year
Red 6 months
Green 3 months

No colour The Council will not invest with these 
institutions

4.8.16 The proposed criteria for Specified and Non-Specified 
investments are shown in Appendix 1 for approval.  During 
this time of significant economic uncertainty due regard will 
be taken of the selection criteria outlined in 4.8.12, when 
using the options outlined in Appendix 1.

4.8.17 Investment returns expectations - Bank Base Rate is forecast 
to remain unchanged at 0.50% before starting to rise from 
quarter four in 2016.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year 
ends are:

Financial 
Year

Bank 
Base 
Rate

Forecast

2015/16 0.50%
There is an upside risk to these 
forecasts (i.e. if increases in Bank 
Rate occurs sooner than forecast) if 
economic growth remains strong and 
unemployment falls faster than 

Financial 
Year

Bank 
Base 
Rate

Forecast

2016/17 0.63%

2017/18 1.13%

2018/19 1.63%

expected. 
However there is also a downside 
risk if the pace of growth falls back 
particularly if the Bank of England 
inflation forecasts for the rate of 
unemployment prove to be too 
optimistic.

4.8.18 Indicator 11 - Upper limit for total principal sums invested for 
over 364 days.  This limit is set with regard to the Council’s 
liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for an early sale 
of an investment, and is based on the availability of funds 
after each year-end and up-dates are reported to the Audit 
Committee at midyear. These upper limits are to provide 
approved flexibility for future LAMS contributions. 

(11) Interest Rate Exposure
(Upper Limits)

2014/15
Actuals

£m

2015/16
Est.
£m

2016/17
Est.
£m

2017/18
Est.
£m

2018/19
Est.
£m

2019/20
Est.
£m

2020/21
Est.
£m

2021/22
Est.
£m

2022/23 
Est.
£m

2023/24 
Est.
£m

2024/25
Est.
£m

2025/26
Est.
£m

143



19

Principal sums invested > 364 
days 0.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

4.8.19 At the end of the year, the Council will report on its investment 
activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report to the Audit 
Committee.

4.8.20 The Corporate Director Resources may appoint external fund 
managers to access markets not available to the in-house 
treasury team, diversify the investment portfolio and to 
optimise investment income returns.  Fund Managers will only 
be used if the Corporate Director Resources is satisfied the 
risk of loss is minimised and they can provide material out-
performance when compared against comparative cash 
benchmarks.  Fund Managers must comply with the Annual 
Investment Strategy.

4.9 Peterborough’s Growth Delivery Project
4.9.1 The following model has been established and agreed in the 

paper submitted to Cabinet on the 24 February 2014 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s19284/5.
%20Funding%20Peterboroughs%20Future%20Growth.Pdf 
and the Executive Decision on the 9 December 2014 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.asp
x?ID=1022

4.9.2 A Joint Venture, Limited Liability Partnership (JV LLP) 50:50 
owned and controlled by the Council and Lucent 
Peterborough Partnership SARL are working to create 
commercially viable Project Plans. Once an Project Plan is 
approved by the JV LLP board it will create a Special Purpose 
Vehicle (SPV) to oversee the plan implementation. 

4.9.3 As projects are developed the Council will sell sites previously 
earmarked for disposal at their current market value to the JV 

LLP for development. The Council will receive Loan Notes 
from the JV LLP in consideration.   The Council may also 
receive loan notes in consideration for any other costs it 
incurs on behalf the JV LLP.

4.10 Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation
4.10.1 The following is a list of the main tasks involved in treasury 

management and who in the Council is responsible for them:

Full Council / Audit Committee
 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management 

policies, practices and activities.
 Approval of Annual Strategy.

Audit Committee / S151 Officer (Corporate Director: 
Resources)

 Approval of / amendments to the Council’s adopted 
clauses, Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
Treasury Management Practices.

 Budget consideration and approval.
 Approval of the division of responsibilities.
 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and 
acting on recommendations.

Section 151 Officer (Executive Director Resources) / Service 
Director Financial Services / Head of Corporate Finance

 Reviewing the Treasury Management Policy and 

144

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s19284/5.%20Funding%20Peterboroughs%20Future%20Growth.Pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s19284/5.%20Funding%20Peterboroughs%20Future%20Growth.Pdf


20

procedures and making recommendations to the 
responsible body.

 Recommending clauses, treasury management 
policy/practices and making recommendations to the 
responsible body.

 Submitting regular treasury management reports.
 Submitting budgets and budget variations.
 Receiving and reviewing management information reports.

 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management 
function.

 Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management 
resources and skills, and the effective division of 
responsibilities within the treasury management function.

 Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with 
external audit.

 Recommending the appointment of external service 
advisors.

145



21

Specified and Non-Specified Investments APPENDIX 1
Specified Investment:

 Offer high perceived security such as placements with Central Government Agencies, Local Authorities or with organisations that have 
strong credit ratings

 They offer high liquidity i.e. short term or easy access to funds

 Are denominated in £ sterling

 Have maturity dates of no more than 1 year

 For an institution scheme to qualify as a ‘Specified Investment’ it must have a minimum rating (see 4.8.8)

APPROVED "SPECIFIED" INVESTMENTS

Investment Type Maximum Maturity period Minimum Credit Criteria
Collective 

Limit
£m

Individual 
Limit
£m

Debt Management Agency  Deposit Facility
Currently only accepts 
deposits up to 6 months 
duration.

UK Government backed N/A 75

Term deposits with UK Government & Local 
Authorities 6 months Sovereign risk / high security although not 

credit rated 100 20

Term deposits & Certificates of Deposit with 
Banks Group 1 6 months Minimum ratings - F1(Fitch - short term) 

AAA (long term) 100 15

UK Government & Local Authority Stock 
Issues 6 months Sovereign risk / high security although not 

credit rated 100 20

Term deposits & Certificates of Deposit with 
Banks Group 2 6 months Minimum ratings – F1 (Fitch-short term) A 

(long term) 50 10

Deposit accounts with regulated UK building 
societies 6 months Minimum ratings - F1 (Fitch short term) A 

(long term) 50 10

Money Market Funds Repayable on call, without 
notice. Minimum rating – AAA (Fitch) 50 10

Commercial Paper (short term obligations 6 months Minimum short term rating - F1 (Fitch) 10 10

146



22

APPROVED "SPECIFIED" INVESTMENTS

Investment Type Maximum Maturity period Minimum Credit Criteria
Collective 

Limit
£m

Individual 
Limit
£m

issued by banks, corporations & other 
issuers).

(Held by custodian)

Gilt & Bond Funds (open ended mutual funds 
investing in Gov. & corporate bonds)

Highly liquid, may be sold 
at any time. Minimum rating - AAA-(Fitch, S&P A-1 etc.) 10 10

Reverse Gilt Repos (Gilts bought with 
commitment to sell on a specified date or on 
call, at agreed price)

6 months UK Government backed (Held by 
custodian) 10 10

Treasury Bills

Maturities of up to 6 
months Issued through a 
bidding process at a 
discount to face value

UK Government backed (Held by 
custodian) 10 10

Bonds issued by a financial institution 
guaranteed by UK Government 6 months UK Government backed (Held by 

custodian) 10 10

Bonds issued by multilateral development 
banks 6 months Minimum rating – AAA (Fitch, S&P A-1etc) 10 10

147



23

Non-Specified Investment:
 With the same institutions classified as “specified” investments but have maturity dates in excess of one year, or
 Are offered by organisations that are not credit rated or the credit rating does not meet the criteria set out above
 In the current economic climate the Council has run down its cash balances as an alternative to borrowing and investments have been 

made short term and the Council would not consider using investments that fall under the ‘Non-Specified’ Investments category at this 
time. 

APPROVED "NON - SPECIFIED" INVESTMENTS

Investment Type Repayable / Maturity 
Period Minimum Credit Criteria

Collective 
Limit
£m

Individual 
Limit
£m

Term deposits with UK Government & Local 
Authorities Maturities of 1 - 5 years Sovereign risk / high security although not 

credit rated 20 20

Term deposits & Certificates of Deposit with 
Banks Group 1 

Maturities of 1 - 5 years 
Certificates of Deposit are 
tradable

Minimum ratings - F1(Fitch - short term) 
AAA (long term) 10 10

UK Government & Local Authority Stock 
Issues

Maturities of 1 - 10 years 
but tradable

Sovereign risk / high security although not  
credit rated 10 10

Term deposits & Certificates of Deposit with 
Banks Group 2

Maturities of 1 - 5 years 
Certificates of Deposit are 
tradable

Minimum ratings – F1 (Fitch-short term) A 
(long term) 20 10

Deposit accounts with regulated UK building 
societies Maturities of 1 – 5 years Minimum ratings - F1 (Fitch short term) A 

(long term) 5 5

Foreign Government Stock Issues (priced in 
£ Sterling)

Maturities of 1 - 10 years 
but tradable

Minimum rating – AAA (Fitch, S&P A-1etc)  
(Held by custodian) 5 5

Term deposits with UK building societies 
without formal credit  ratings Maturities of up to 1 year Financial position assessed by Corporate 

Director: Resources 5 5

Bonds issued by a financial institution 
guaranteed by UK Government

Maturities of 1 - 10 years 
but tradable

UK Government backed Minimum rating – 
AAA (Fitch, S&P etc.) 5 5

148



24

APPROVED "NON - SPECIFIED" INVESTMENTS

Investment Type Repayable / Maturity 
Period Minimum Credit Criteria

Collective 
Limit
£m

Individual 
Limit
£m

Bonds issued by multilateral development 
banks

Maturities of 1 - 10 years 
but tradable Minimum rating - AAA (Fitch, S&P A-1etc) 5 5

Floating Rate Notes (fixed term but interest 
rate varies quarterly)

Maturities of 1 - 5 years but 
tradable

Financial position assessed by Corporate 
Director: Resources.   Requires capital or 
revenue financing as share or loan capital.

5 5

Bonds issued by corporate issuers other than 
sovereign bonds

Maturities of 1 - 10 years 
but tradable

Minimum rating – AAA (Fitch, S&P A-1etc)  
Requires capital or revenue financing as 
share or loan capital

5 5

149



25

Explanation Of Credit Ratings APPENDIX 2

Agency Short Term Long Term

Fitch

F1-Highest short-term credit quality.  Indicates the strongest 
intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; a 
“+” may be added to denote any exceptionally strong credit 
feature.

A-High credit quality.  ‘A’ ratings denote expectations of low 
credit risk.  The capacity for payment of financial commitments is 
considered strong.  This capacity may, nevertheless, be more 
vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is 
the case for higher ratings.

Moody’s
P-1-superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations Aa-high quality and are subject to very low credit risk

Standard 
& Poor’s

A-1-The obligor’s capacity to meet its financial commitment on 
the obligation is strong.  Within this category, certain obligations 
are designated with a plus sign (+).  This indicates that the 
obligor’s capacity to meet its financial commitment on these 
obligations is extremely strong.

A-more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in 
circumstances and economic conditions.  However the obligor’s 
capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is still 
strong.

150



Page | 26 

APPENDIX 3

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) – Consideration of Four Further 
Amendments to the MRP Calculation

Context
1. A comprehensive review of the Council’s method for calculating its Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP) has been undertaken in order to ensure that the amount of revenue 
represents a fair charge, compared to the life of the asset that is being financed via 
borrowing.  

2. A paper considering an amendment to ‘historic and supported borrowing MRP calculation’ 
was considered as part of the Phase 1 budget proposals.  This option looked at changing 
the length of the repayment of this element of borrowing from the budgeted 25 years to 
42 years, on an equal instalment method.  The basis for this change is to match the 
repayment of borrowing to the economic usefulness of the asset, see point 6 to 8 below.

3. This paper presents further review of the MRP charge from those agreed in the Phase 1 
proposals, with consideration given to additional amendments to the calculation with 
regards to:

a. Historic and Supported Borrowing – using the annuity method.  The Phase 1 proposal 
is based on the equal instalment method.  The annuity method factors in the time 
value of money – ie a £ is worth more now than in the future, see point 9. 

b. Current MRP profile for the 2007/08 & 2008/09 capital expenditure – from equal 
instalments to annuity method of calculation.  Following on from a review of MRP 
undertaken in 2009/10, there are two years of capital expenditure where equal 
instalments is applied, as this amendment was applied to new capital expenditure 
only at the time, see points 16 to 19.  

c. The timing of MRP for the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) related assets – matching 
the MRP charge to the asset life using the annuity method, rather than the current 
derived calculated approach, see points 21 to 23.  

d. The use of Capital Receipts – amendment to the Council’s MRP policy so that capital 
receipts are used as part of a contribution to the MRP charge, rather than netting 
down the total amount of borrowing required, see points 26 to 29.

4. The above amendments would result in the Council having one consistent method for 
calculating its MRP for all borrowing which has been undertaken to support capital 
investment in the city.  This is the annuity method based on asset lives rather than the 
myriad of methods used presently, see Appendix Four for a summary.  The Council has 
been using the annuity method as the basis for its MRP charge since 1 April 2010. 

What is Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
5. The Council can borrow to fund its capital programme.  The cost of borrowing impacts on 

the annual revenue budget, in two ways, through:

 Interest payments on the loan

 Amounts set aside for the repayment of the loan – known as Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) i.e. the principal element of the loan

Statute allows the Council to choose the calculation methodology of its MRP as long as it 
is prudent.  It is recommended that aligning this charge to the life of assets, on an annuity 
method basis, represents the best value approach for tax payers, now and in the future.  

151



Page | 27 

Amendment to the Historic Borrowing and Supported Borrowing
6. Like many authorities the Council has continued to apply the previous regulatory 

approach, calculating MRP at 4% for the capital expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 2007 
which was funded by borrowing, and for supported borrowing undertaken from 2007/08 
to 2010/11.  However, there is increasing acceptance that the MRP charged for this 
historic and supported debt should more correctly be linked to the average useful life of 
the assets involved.  The current regulatory approach (a percentage basis) does not 
reflect this view.  Currently, 4% of the balance of historic debt at 1 April 2007 is provided 
for out of the revenue budget as MRP which the Council has budgeted to be repaid over 
25 years.

7. Linking MRP to the average useful life of an asset is in keeping with the general principle 
of achieving a prudent approach set out in the DCLG guidance that the profile of MRP 
charges should reflect the economic benefit the Council gets from using the asset to 
deliver services over its useful life.  This ensures that Council Tax payers are being 
charged each year in line with asset usage and prevents current taxpayers meeting the 
cost of future usage or future tax payers being burdened with “debt” relating to assets that 
are no longer in use.

8. A fairer way of matching the MRP charge to Council Tax payers with the use of the assets 
is to revise the repayment period to 42 years, which is the weighted average life of the 
Council’s assets.  This is based on the fact the Council’s asset base has not materially 
changed during the time since 1 April 2007.  This equates to a rate of 2.38% compared 
to the historic 4%.  Any saving on annual MRP charge however, is partially offset by an 
increased interest cost due to paying the debt off over a longer period.  

9. It would also be fairer if the MRP charge were to factor in the time value of money in the 
future.  This adjustment would ensure that Council Tax payers of the future pay an amount 
for the use of the assets, which would be comparable in real terms to that being paid by 
current Council Tax payers.  This can be achieved by adopting an annuity basis for 
calculating the annual MRP charge.  The Council has been using the annuity method as 
the basis for its MRP charge since 1 April 2010.

152



Page | 28 

10. The following charts illustrate the proposed changes discussed in points 6 to 9 above.  

11. To assess the options over the different time periods, of 25 and 42 years, the impact of 
time is factored into the analysis of the revenue impact via the ‘net present value’ (NPV) 
calculation at 3% - this is the rate recommended by the Treasury’s ‘Green Book’.  Taking 
into account interest payments, the NPV of this borrowing shown in the following table:

 MRP Interest Total 
Revenue NPV

£000 £000 £000 £000
Currently budgeted 96,683 41,083 137,766 110,200
Proposed amendment 96,683 115,057 211,740 123,159
Difference 0 73,974 73,974 12,959

12. The differences are a result of the change in the split of interest and principal elements of 
the debt payments.  Compared to the 4% method, the revised method results in the 
principal being paid over a longer time period, which results in greater interest payments 
overall.  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

20
15

/1
6

20
17

/1
8

20
19

/2
0

20
21

/2
2

20
23

/2
4

20
25

/2
6

20
27

/2
8

20
29

/3
0

20
31

/3
2

20
33

/3
4

20
35

/3
6

20
37

/3
8

20
39

/4
0

20
41

/4
2

20
43

/4
4

20
45

/4
6

20
47

/4
8

£0
00

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Financial Year

Historic - Existing methodology Equal Instalments 25 Years

Revenue Costs - Existing

MRP

Interest

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

20
15

/1
6

20
17

/1
8

20
19

/2
0

20
21

/2
2

20
23

/2
4

20
25

/2
6

20
27

/2
8

20
29

/3
0

20
31

/3
2

20
33

/3
4

20
35

/3
6

20
37

/3
8

20
39

/4
0

20
41

/4
2

20
43

/4
4

20
45

/4
6

20
47

/4
8

£0
00

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Financial Year

Historic Phase 2 - Annuity Method Over 42 Years
Revenue Cost - Annuity
MRP
Interest

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

20
15

/1
6

20
17

/1
8

20
19

/2
0

20
21

/2
2

20
23

/2
4

20
25

/2
6

20
27

/2
8

20
29

/3
0

20
31

/3
2

20
33

/3
4

20
35

/3
6

20
37

/3
8

20
39

/4
0

20
41

/4
2

20
43

/4
4

20
45

/4
6

20
47

/4
8

20
49

/5
0

£0
00

Financial Year

Historic Phase 1 - Existing methodology Equal Instalments 42 
Years Revenue Costs - Existing

MRP

Interest

153



Page | 29 

13. A comparison of the revenue impact of the current method, moving to 42 years equal 
instalment, and then the final proposed method of 42 years using the annuity rate is 

provided below.  

14. It is important to stress that the change in methodology eliminates the inequality created 
by the accelerated charging basis of the Regulatory Method.  The proposed basis is fairer 
giving a more proportionate profile charge based on asset usage over the whole asset 
lives.

15. Expected benefit from this amendment is shown the following table:

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

MRP (4,343) (4,306) (4,268) (4,228) (4,186) (4,143)
Interest 0 232 408 594 789 982 
Net Benefit (4,343) (4,074) (3,860) (3,634) (3,397) (3,161)

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

20
15

/1
6

20
17

/1
8

20
19

/2
0

20
21

/2
2

20
23

/2
4

20
25

/2
6

20
27

/2
8

20
29

/3
0

20
31

/3
2

20
33

/3
4

20
35

/3
6

20
37

/3
8

20
39

/4
0

20
41

/4
2

20
43

/4
4

20
45

/4
6

20
47

/4
8

20
49

/5
0

20
51

/5
2

20
53

/5
4

20
55

/5
6

£0
00

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Financial Year

Comparison of revenue impact of approaches
Revenue Cost - Existing

Revenue Cost - Phase 1 Proposal

Revenue Cost - Annuity

154



Page | 30 

Amendment to the Current MRP Profile for 2007/08 & 2008/09 Capital Expenditure
16. In 2009/10 the Council undertook a MRP review which led to the change in MRP 

calculation methodology, from equal instalments to the annuity method.  This was applied 
prospectively, which has meant that there are two years, 2007/08 and 2008/09, where the 
equal instalment methodology is still applied.  

17. In line with the arguments set out above work has been undertaken to review the impact 
of changing these two years of borrowing from a repayment based on equal instalments 
to the annuity method.

18. The following chart shows how the overall revenue impact changes for this second 
element.

19. Expected benefit from this amendment is shown the following table:

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

MRP (464) (435) (404) (372) (339) (304)
Interest 0 26 41 59 75 90 
Net Benefit (464) (409) (363) (313) (264) (214)

20. To assess the options over the different time periods, the impact of time is factored into 
the analysis of the revenue impact via the ‘net present value’ (NPV) calculation at 3% - 
this is the rate recommended by the Treasury’s ‘Green Book’.  Taking into account interest 
payments, the NPV of this borrowing shown in the following table:

 MRP Interest Total 
Revenue NPV

£000 £000 £000 £000
Currently budgeted 26,169 14,236 40,404 30,535
Proposed amendment 26,169 16,640 42,809 31,038
Difference 0 2,405 2,405 503

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

20
15

/1
6

20
17

/1
8

20
19

/2
0

20
21

/2
2

20
23

/2
4

20
25

/2
6

20
27

/2
8

20
29

/3
0

20
31

/3
2

20
33

/3
4

20
35

/3
6

20
37

/3
8

20
39

/4
0

20
41

/4
2

20
43

/4
4

20
45

/4
6

20
47

/4
8

20
49

/5
0

20
51

/5
2

20
53

/5
4

20
55

/5
6

20
57

/5
8

20
59

/6
0

20
61

/6
2

20
63

/6
4

20
65

/6
6

20
67

/6
8

£0
00

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Financial Year

Comparison of revenue impact of approaches
Revenue Cost - Annuity

Revenue Cost - Existing

155



Page | 31 

Amendment to the timing of MRP for the PFI related assets
21. As part of the Council’s conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 

for the 2009/10 financial year the Council was required to change its accounting policy 
with regards to the secondary school Private Finance Initiative (PFI).  As with other PFI 
schemes across the country, the Council had previously accounted for this transaction as 
an ‘off balance sheet’ item, and thus the cost of the scheme was charged against revenue 
funds only.  The change in accounting policy meant that the Council had to recognise this 
scheme in terms of fixed assets (the school buildings) along with the equivalent long term 
liability to repay the loan from the private financer, both of which are now carried on the 
balance sheet.  

22. As a result of the above change, this scheme is now accounted for as a capital transaction, 
and in order to repay the private finance liability an MRP charge has been derived from 
the initial PFI model.  In order for the changes in accounting policy to have no overall 
impact on the Council’s revenue funds, it was agreed by CIPFA, for schemes in existence 
prior to 2009/10 that the MRP charge would be the difference that remained from taking 
the interest charge and service costs from the unitary charge, see example below.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

PFI Unitary Charge 8,041 8,124 8,209 8,295 8,385 8,476
Less Interest Charge 2,731 2,544 2,390 2,211 2,071 1,994
Less Service Cost 3,902 4,347 4,714 5,096 5,390 5,508
Resultant MRP 1,408 1,233 1,105 988 924 974

This means that depending on the life cycle costs built into the PFI model, the MRP is not 
uniform through the course of the scheme.

23. Following the wider review of the Council’s MRP charge it has been found that some 
Councils are proposing to amend the timing of the MRP charge linked to PFI schemes by 
matching the charge to the life of the asset, rather than the life of the contract which is 
currently the case.  Thus de-coupling the MRP calculation from the original PFI model, 
the impact of this would be to extend the period of debt repayment by nine years.  As the 
period changes the Council would also need to apply a different mechanism for calculating 
the MRP charge, rather than the balancing amount outline in point 22 above, and to be 

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

20
06

/0
7

20
08

/0
9

20
10

/1
1

20
12

/1
3

20
14

/1
5

20
16

/1
7

20
18

/1
9

20
20

/2
1

20
22

/2
3

20
24

/2
5

20
26

/2
7

20
28

/2
9

20
30

/3
1

20
32

/3
3

20
34

/3
5

20
36

/3
7

20
38

/3
9

20
40

/4
1

20
42

/4
3

20
44

/4
5

£0
00

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Financial Year

Comparison of revenue impact of approaches for PFI 

Revenue Costs - Annuity
Revenue Costs - Existing

156



Page | 32 

consistent with all other MRP charges the annuity method is proposed.  The following 
chart illustrates this proposal:

24. Expected benefit from this amendment is shown the following table:

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

MRP (1,058) (858) (711) (556) (458) (475)
Interest 0 51 96 125 149 171 
Net Benefit (1,058) (807) (615) (431) (309) (304)

25. To assess the options over the different time periods, the impact of time is factored into 
the analysis of the revenue impact via the ‘net present value’ (NPV) calculation at 3% - 
this is the rate recommended by the Treasury’s ‘Green Book’.  Taking into account interest 
payments, the NPV of this borrowing shown in the following table:

 MRP Interest Total 
Revenue NPV

£000 £000 £000 £000
Currently budgeted 35,530 33,499 69,029 27,080
Proposed amendment 35,530 44,100 79,631 33,513
Difference 0 10,602 10,602 6,434

Amendment to the use of Capital Receipts
26. Subject to these MRP amendments being agreed at the relevant MTFS budget groups, 

the Council’s MRP policy, as contained in the MTFS, will need to be updated and achieve 
Council approval before the adjustments can take place.

27. A further amendment which is proposed to the MRP policy is in regards to the use of 
capital receipts to offset the MRP charge in year, rather than using capital receipts to 
offset the total amount of borrowing undertaken in year.  The following table illustrates 
this approach using 2014/15 data.

2014/15
Approach 

Now Proposed
£000 £000

Capital Expenditure 107,047 107,047 
Capital Grants (35,561) (35,561)
Amount funded from borrowing 70,486 70,486 
Capital receipts (2,906) - 
Borrowing on which to base MRP calculation 67,581 70,486 
MRP (10,916) (8,012)
MRP - from capital receipts - (2,906)
Overall increase in borrowing for the year 57,665 59,570 

28. As can be seen in the previous table, under the new proposed approach the total amount 
that borrowing is repaid is the same at £10,916k, but rather than it being funded wholly 
from revenue budgets, an element is funded via capital receipts income.  This amendment 
better reflects the cash transactions of repaying debt.

29. This approach also increases the amount of borrowing undertaken as the capital receipt 
offsets the MRP made from revenue funds, rather than offsetting the total amounts of 
borrowing required on which MRP is charged.

157



Page | 33 

30. The following table shows the MTFS capital receipt profile, and the associated additional 
borrowing costs of this proposed amendment.  It should be noted that timing and amount 
of receipt may vary.  

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital receipt per MTFS (less 
LAMS) 11,820 2,215 5,525 145 -

Additional Interest Costs 139 625 702 714 720 
Capital receipt used to repay debt 
per disposal paper (5,341) (3,100) (2,610) (1,100) (460) 

Net Impact on Revenue (5,202) (2,475) (1,908) (386) 260

31. As part of the recent Spending Review announcements, the Department of Communities 
& Local Government (DCLG) launched ‘Draft Guidance on the Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts’ for consultation.  This proposal would enable the Council to use capital receipts 
on the revenue costs of reform projects until 31 March 2019.

32. This option has not been included in the following summary of savings, but rather reflects 
an option to amend the MRP policy that Council approves at each MTFS so that this 
flexibility is available to the Council and its use determined on a year by year basis.

Summary and next steps
33. The following table provides a summary of the savings proposed in this paper (excludes 

capital receipts proposal).  It is based on the assumption that the amendment to the 
calculation of MRP occurs prospectively from 2015/16.  

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
MRP adjustment £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Historic (4,343) (4,306) (4,268) (4,228) (4,186) (4,143)
2007/08 & 2008/09 (464) (435) (404) (372) (339) (304)
PFI Adjustment (1,058) (858) (711) (556) (458) (475)
Phase 2 MRP Adjustment (5,865) (5,599) (5,383) (5,156) (4,983) (4,922)
Additional Interest Estimate
Historic 0 231 407 593 788 981 
2007/08 & 2008/09 0 26 41 58 75 90 
PFI Adjustment 0 50 96 125 149 170 
Phase 2 Interest Subtotal 0 307 544 776 1,012 1,241
Net Impact for Phase 2 (5,865) (5,292) (4,839) (4,380) (3,971) (3,681)
Savings already included as 
part of Phase 1 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Additional benefit (3,865) (3,292) (2,839) (2,380) (1,971) (1,681)

34. The Council has undertaken a review of the application of these MRP adjustment with 
other local authorities, and precedence exists for all the adjustments considered in this 
paper.  However, it should be noted that these MRP policy amendment proposals are 
currently being discussed with the Council’s external auditors with initial feedback 
provided on 5 January which this paper reflects.  Final review by the Council’s auditors is 
ongoing which includes examination of the time period put forward by the Council of 42 
years.  Should an alternative time period be recommended this will be agreed by the 

158



Page | 34 

Corporate Director Resources in liaison with external audit.  This will help ensure that they 
are not ‘minded to challenge’ these adjustments in the future.

35. Further items to note:

 For capital projects funded from the ‘Invest To Save’ budget, savings generated from 
these schemes should still be used to offset the MRP charge.

 The numbers used in this paper are based on best estimates on the knowledge at this 
time.  The actual final numbers will vary due to the profiling of expenditure of the capital 
programme, timing of asset disposals, and prevailing interest rates at the time of 
borrowing.

36. The following table illustrates the impact of the proposed amendments on the MRP 
budget.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
MRP adjustment £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
MTFS MRP Budget 12,094 14,630 15,144 14,678 14,945 15,121 
Historic (4,343) (4,306) (4,268) (4,228) (4,186) (4,143)
2007/08 & 2008/09 (464) (435) (404) (372) (339) (304)
PFI Adjustment (1,058) (858) (711) (556) (458) (475)
Phase 2 MRP Adjustment (5,865) (5,599) (5,383) (5,156) (4,983) (4,922)
Revised MRP Budget 6,229 9,031 9,761 9,522 9,962 10,199 
MRP Charge funded by:
Capital Receipts Substitution 5,341 3,100 2,610 1,100 460 0 
Revenue 888 5,931 7,151 8,422 9,502 10,199 
Revised MRP Budget 6,229 9,031 9,761 9,522 9,962 10,199

37. The following table summarises all of the proposed amendments over the various time 
periods involved.  As per earlier tables the impact of time has been factored into the 
analysis of the revenue impact via the ‘net present value’ (NPV) calculation at 3% - this is 
the rate recommended by the Treasury’s ‘Green Book’.  

MRP Interest Total 
Revenue NPVType of 

Debt  £000 £000 £000 £000
Currently budgeted 96,683 41,083 137,766 110,200
Proposed amendment 96,683 115,057 211,740 123,159Historic
Difference 0 73,974 73,974 12,959
Currently budgeted 26,169 14,236 40,404 30,535
Proposed amendment 26,169 16,640 42,809 31,0382007/08 & 

2008/09 Difference 0 2,405 2,405 503
Currently budgeted 35,530 33,499 69,029 27,080
Proposed amendment 35,530 44,100 79,631 33,513PFI 

Adjustment Difference 0 10,602 10,602 6,434
Currently budgeted 158,382 88,817 247,199 167,815
Proposed amendment 158,382 175,798 334,180 187,710TOTAL
Difference 0 86,980 86,980 19,895

159



35

Appendix Four – Summary of the MRP Current Calculation Methodologies, Impact of Amendments for 2015/16 & Overprovided 
Amounts

Age of Debt Current 
method Change considered

Debt 
Amount 

Outstanding 
@ 

31.03.2015

Gross Debt 
MRP Calc. 

on

Current Est. 
MRP Charge 
for 2015/16

Proposed 
MRP Charge 
for 2015/16

Change the length over which the debt is paid – from budgeted 
25 years (4%) to 42 years (2.38% - based on the actual 
weighted average of the Councils assets, so a direct link to 
asset base)

Pre 2007/08 
debt 
(ie debt up to 
31.03.2007) Using the 2.38% in an annuity calculation rather than an equal 

instalment or reducing balance method

79,669,509 110,652,095 

Supported 
Borrowing post 
2007/08

Charged at 
historic 4%

As per above points - this debt is currently calculated on the 
same 4% basis 17,013,581 25,756,256 

5,144,902 802,574 

Unsupported 
borrowing 
2007/08 & 
2008/09

Charged in 
relation to asset 
life on equal 
instalment 
method

There are two years of debt that are calculated using the old 
equal instalment method.  The Council moved from this 
methodology in 2009/10.  Proposal to amend these elements 
of the calculation so that repayment of this debt to be based on 
annuity method also.

26,407,492 33,542,041 1,114,773 651,277

Unsupported 
borrowing 
Post 2008/09

Charged in 
relation to asset 
life on annuity 
method

Continue to use existing annuity methodology based on actual 
life of asset to which borrowing has been taken for (this is net 
of Invest To Save schemes).

258,906,033 265,280,581 3,870,545 3,870,545

Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI) - 
Finance Lease

Charged derived 
from using the 
PFI model

Change the length over which the debt is paid from 30 years 
as per contract life to 39 years per asset life.  As part of this 
change in life apply on an annuity method calculation.

35,530,480 43,586,532 1,407,854 349,918

Other Finance 
Leases

Charged in 
relation to asset 
life on annuity 
method

Continue to use existing annuity methodology based on actual 
life of asset to which borrowing has been taken for. 4,885,719 11,149,818 556,240 556,240

422,412,813 489,967,324 12,094,314 6,230,554

160


	Agenda
	3 (a) 23 May 2016 - Annual Council Mayor Making
	3 (b) 23 May 2016 - Annual Council
	3 (c) 27 June 2016 - Extraordinary Meeting
	4 Mayor's Announcements
	10 (a) Future Delivery of Property Services - Constitution Amendment
	10a. Cabinet Report - Future Delivery of Property Services

	11 Questions on the Executive Decisions made since the last meeting
	12 Motions on Notice
	12. Appendix 1 - Motions to Council

	13 (a) Report of the Committee Review Group
	13a. Appendix 1 - Report of the Committee Review Group

	13 (b) Constitution - Member Code of Conduct
	13b. Addendum A - Member Code of Conduct
	13b. Addm A Appendix 1 Option 1 Existing with amends Part 5 Section 1 - Members' Code of Conduct
	13b. Addm A Appendix 2 Option 2  Part 5 Section 1 - Members' Code of Conduct - LGA
	13b. Addm A Appendix 3 Option 3 Part 5 Section 1 - Members' Code of Conduct with DCLG template

	13 (c) Constitution - Major Policy Framework
	13c. Appendix 1 - Major Policy Part 3 Section 1 - Functions Reserved to Council

	13 (d) Annual Report of the Audit Committee
	13d. Appendix 1 - Annual Report of the Audit Committee 2016

	13 (e) Appointment of the Chairman to the Strong and Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee
	13 (f) Increase in the Invest to Save Budget
	13f. Appendix 1 - Increase in the Invest to Save Budget - Treasury Management Strategy 2016-17




